Public Document Pack

QSwaIe

BOROUGH COUNCIL

AGENDA
EXTRAORDINARY PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING

Date: Tuesday, 23 July 2019
Time: 7.00pm
Venue: Council Chamber, Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT

Membership:

Councillors Cameron Beart, Monique Bonney, Roger Clark, Simon Clark, Tim Gibson
(Chairman), James Hall, Nicholas Hampshire, James Hunt, Carole Jackson, Elliott Jayes,
Peter Marchington, Benjamin Martin (Vice-Chairman), David Simmons, Paul Stephen,
Eddie Thomas, Tim Valentine and Tony Winckless.

Quorum =6

RECORDING NOTICE
Please note: this meeting may be recorded.

At the start of the meeting the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being
audio recorded. The whole of the meeting will be recorded, except where there are
confidential or exempt items.

You should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act.
Data collected during this recording will be retained in accordance with the Council’s data
retention policy.

Therefore by entering the Chamber and speaking at Committee you are consenting to being
recorded and to the possible use of those sound records for training purposes.

If you have any queries regarding this please contact Democratic Services.

Pages
1. Emergency Evacuation Procedure

The Chairman will advise the meeting of the evacuation procedures to
follow in the event of an emergency. This is particularly important for
visitors and members of the public who will be unfamiliar with the building
and procedures.

The Chairman will inform the meeting whether there is a planned
evacuation drill due to take place, what the alarm sounds like (i.e. ringing
bells), where the closest emergency exit route is, and where the second
closest emergency exit route is, in the event that the closest exit or route
is blocked.



The Chairman will inform the meeting that:

(a) in the event of the alarm sounding, everybody must leave the building
via the nearest safe available exit and gather at the Assembly points at
the far side of the Car Park. Nobody must leave the assembly point until
everybody can be accounted for and nobody must return to the building
until the Chairman has informed them that it is safe to do so; and

(b) the lifts must not be used in the event of an evacuation.
Any officers present at the meeting will aid with the evacuation.

It is important that the Chairman is informed of any person attending who
is disabled or unable to use the stairs, so that suitable arrangements may
be made in the event of an emergency.

Apologies for Absence and Confirmation of Substitutes
Declarations of Interest

Councillors should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or
other material benefits for themselves or their spouse, civil partner or
person with whom they are living with as a spouse or civil partner. They
must declare and resolve any interests and relationships.

The Chairman will ask Members if they have any interests to declare in
respect of items on this agenda, under the following headings:

(a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) under the Localism Act
2011. The nature as well as the existence of any such interest must be
declared. After declaring a DPI, the Member must leave the meeting and
not take part in the discussion or vote. This applies even if there is
provision for public speaking.

(b)  Disclosable Non Pecuniary (DNPI) under the Code of Conduct
adopted by the Council in May 2012. The nature as well as the existence
of any such interest must be declared. After declaring a DNPI interest,
the Member may stay, speak and vote on the matter.

(c) Where it is possible that a fair-minded and informed observer,
having considered the facts would conclude that there was a real
possibility that the Member might be predetermined or biased the
Member should declare their predetermination or bias and then leave the
room while that item is considered.

Advice to Members: If any Councillor has any doubt about the
existence or nature of any DPI or DNPI which he/she may have in any
item on this agenda, he/she should seek advice from the Monitoring
Officer, the Head of Legal or from other Solicitors in Legal Services as
early as possible, and in advance of the Meeting.



Part B reports for the Planning Committee to decide
4. Deferred ltem 1-115
To consider the following application:

18/503135/0UT — Land west of Barton Hill Drive, Minster-on-Sea, Kent
ME12 3LZ

Members of the public are advised to confirm with Planning Services prior
to the meeting that the application will be considered at this meeting.

Requests to speak on this item must be registered with Democratic
Services (democraticservices@swale.gov.uk or call us on 01795 417328)
by noon on Monday 22 July 2019.

5. Report of the Head of Planning Services

To consider any items not considered at the meeting held on 18 July
2019.

Issued on Monday, 15 July 2019

The reports included in Part | of this agenda can be made available
in alternative formats. For further information about this service, or
to arrange for special facilities to be provided at the meeting, please

contact DEMOCRATIC SERVICES on 01795 417330. To find out
more about the work of the Planning Committee, please visit
www.swale.gov.uk

Chief Executive, Swale Borough Council,
Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT


mailto:democraticservices@swale.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 4

SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

PLANNING SERVICES

Planning Items to be submitted to the Extra-Ordinary
Planning Committee

23 JULY 2019

Index to Contents

DEFERRED ITEMS ltems shown in previous Minutes as being deferred from that
meeting may be considered at this meeting

Any other items not considered by the Planning Committee scheduled for 18 July 2019

ABBREVIATIONS: commonly used in this Agenda

CDA Crime and Disorder Act 1998

GPDO The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England)
Order 2015

HRA Human Rights Act 1998

SBLP Swale Borough Local Plan 2017

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

EXTRA-ORDINARY PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT - 23 JULY 2019
Report of the Head of Planning
DEFERRED ITEMS

Reports shown in previous Minutes as being deferred from that Meeting

Def Item 1 REFERENCE NO - 18/503135/0UT

APPLICATION PROPOSAL

Outline application for the development of up to 700 dwellings and all necessary supporting
infrastructure including land for provision of a convenience store / community facility, internal
access roads, footpaths, cycleways and parking, open space, play areas and landscaping,
drainage, utilities and service infrastructure works. (All detailed Matters Reserved for subsequent
approval except for access to Lower Road and to Barton Hill Drive).

ADDRESS Land West Of Barton Hill Drive Minster-on-sea Kent ME12 3LZ

RECOMMENDATION — That delegated authority is given to officers to GRANT planning
permission subject to —

e Completion of a S106 Agreement for the terms as set out in the report

e The imposition of conditions as set out in the report below.

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION/REASONS FOR REFUSAL

e The application would result in the development of a site that largely falls within site
allocation policy A12 of the adopted local plan.

e The development within the allocated site would largely comply with the criteria set out in
policy A12 of the adopted Local plan.

e The inclusion of additional land beyond the site allocation to the west is required to deliver
a financially viable scheme and to secure the provision of land to deliver the Lower Road
widening improvements.

e The scheme would enable delivery of a strategic housing site within the Local Plan.

e The scheme would contribute towards the delivery of the Lower Road Improvements for
which significant grant funding has been secured.

e Further development beyond the site allocation would result in some identified harm and
conflict with policy, as set out in the report. Nonetheless, this harm is considered to be
limited. In the absence of a five year housing supply and in accordance with paragraph
11 (d) of the NPPF, this harm does not significantly or demonstrably outweigh the benefits
of the scheme, and therefore planning permission should be granted.

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE

This application was deferred by the Head of Planning at the committee meeting of 28" February
2019 following the decision by the Members of the committee to vote against the officer
recommendation.

WARD Queenborough And | PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL | APPLICANT SW Attwood &
Halfway Minster-On-Sea Partners

AGENT JB Planning Associates
DECISION DUE DATE PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
24/09/18 10/12/18

1.0 Background

1.01  Members will note that this application was reported to the Planning Committee on the
28t February 2019. My report recommended that officers be given delegated powers
to approve the application, subject to resolution of a small number of outstanding
matters and completion of a S106 Agreement.

1
Page 7



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

1.02

1.03

1.04

2.0

2.01

2.02

2.03

2.04

Members voted against my recommendation, at which point | used my powers to call
in the application, and for determination to be deferred to a future planning committee
to advise on the prospects of success if challenged at a planning appeal, and any risk
of financial costs.

A copy of the original committee report (Appendix 1), tabled updates (Appendix 2), and
committee minutes (Appendix 3) are attached as appendices to this report.

My recommendation to approve this application remains unchanged. In the following
sections | have provided an update to Members on the outstanding matters that were
unresolved in February and changes in the site circumstances / planning policy
position since my original report. | have provided further advice on a number of
concerns raised by Members at the February committee, and an updated conclusion
setting out the reasons why | consider that planning permission should be granted.
Finally, | advise on the considerations that Members should take into account if they
are minded to overturn my recommendation and refuse this application.

Further Consultation responses / representations

Further neighbour representations

6 further letters of objection have been received. These primarily raise similar points
to those listed in my previous report and the tabled update and are not repeated here.
However, one letter specifically requests that a small green corridor is provided
between the development site and houses on Parsonage Chase, to maintain privacy
and enable wildlife to thrive.

One letter has been received from Sheppey Rugby Club, which supports the
application.

Three representations have been received in relation to the medical facility / local
centre. Two are from local GPs and one from a Pharmacist. The representations
specify interest in providing a new GP facility on the site and a pharmacy.

Further Consultee comments

KCC Highways — have provided further comments on an updated technical note as
follows —

Addition of GP facility - it is accepted that the addition of the surgery does not change
the view of the Highway Authority and that the anticipated internal movements, along
with existing healthcare related movements in the area, more than compensate for any
additional movements generated by the proposed inclusion.

Analysis of the Halfway Road Junction - The applicant has sought to explain the
differences in analysis of a third party consultant in the junctions operation. There are
points made in the explanation that the Highway Authority would contest. We are of
the opinion that the reported operations of this junction by the applicant are not
sufficiently robust. Irrespective of this the junction clearly operates beyond its capacity
with or without the additional houses. The applicant has offered to provide contributions
to assist in addressing the concerns of existing residents in the vicinity.

On balance, our opinion remains that the application provides reasonable and
proportionate mitigation for its impact. Significant cycling infrastructure and
2
Page 8



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

2.05

2.06

2.07

3.0

3.01

3.02

improvements to the Lower Road are enabled along with much improved resilience of
the islands highway network. It is however advised that should this application not be
determined in July then the Highway Authority would likely require additional funding
of approximately £500,000 to ensure that the proposed Lower Road mitigation could
be realised. This could result in funding being lost from other areas or that the required
Highways mitigation is unable to be delivered.

The NHS Swale CCG (summarised) — has provided a further response following
discussions with representatives of the applicant in relation to delivery of a medical
facility on the site. They advise that the development would not support a new GP
facility in its own right, and that previous CCG growth assessments in this area have
not identified a need for a new facility. They are currently working with existing GP
practices and planning assumptions to review growth forecasts, but are unable to
comment on the outcome of this strategic work prior to its completion. The CCG have
amended their earlier comments to specify that there is an option for land to be
safeguarded within the development site for a medical centre, but that this will only be
considered by the CCG where the outcome of the strategic planning assessment
identifies a specific need. They also advise that the trigger of any healthcare
contribution should be prior to the commencement of development.

Given that some Members of the February Planning Committee raised concern
regarding the need to secure additional GP facilities, | have attached the response
from the Swale CCG in full as Appendix 4

The SBC Greenspaces manager has been asked to comment on the potential for
£102,000 to be diverted from the landscaping maintenance fund to be used as an
alternative as additional funding to support a GP Surgery on the site. He advises that
the sum would essentially equate to a year of maintenance to the estimated costs of
the whole open space to be provided on the site, and that this would erode some of
the total sum to be provided, and which may result in additional service charges and
/or reduce the quality of maintenance. Overall, whilst this is difficult to judge, he advises
there is a level of risk in doing this, that should be weighed against the potential to
deliver a health facility.

The KCC Developer Contributions team has been asked whether they would accept
payment of the education contribution to be delayed to occupation of 75% of dwellings
in each phase, to help facilitate delivery of a GP facility (instead of payment at 50% of
occupations) To resolve this matter, they are willing to accept such payments.
Update on Outstanding Matters from the February Committee Report

Landscape Impact

Members will note from the tabled update (Appendix 2) that the applicant had
submitted a revised Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVA) shortly before
the February Planning Committee meeting, and that further comments from the
Council’s landscape consultant were awaited.

The Council’s Landscape consultant does take issue with a number of the judgements
made in the LVA relating to the value and effects on the landscape, but states that
such disagreements are ones of degree rather than being fundamental. The overall
conclusions of the Council’s landscape consultant are as follows —

“The additional harmful effects attributable to the Proposed Development over those
implicit in a Policy A12 compliant scheme (which can be considered the benchmark)
3
Page 9



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

3.03

3.04

3.05

3.06

4.0

4.01

4.02

4.03

4.04

are considered likely to be materially greater than suggested by the entries in the
Summary Table at LVA Appendix 4.

However, the increased adverse effects are probably insufficient to alter the overall
range of landscape and visual effects such as to make the Proposed Development
significantly more harmful than a Policy A12 compliant scheme.”

This aligns with my advice in paragraphs 8.94 and 8.95 of the original report, and that
the scheme is acceptable in landscape impact terms.

Planning conditions

A list of updated planning conditions is attached to this report. The relevant pre-
commencement conditions have been agreed in writing with the applicant, as required
under the Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017.

Members should note that the range of uses for the local facility as set out under
condition 15 have been reviewed. The uses are now specified as those falling within
A1 (retail), D1 (non-residential institutions such as a medical facility or community hall),
or D2 (Assembly and Leisure).

Update on site circumstances

Highways works

Members will note from my original report that the ability for this application to secure
delivery of the Lower Road improvement works (through the provision of land and a
financial contribution) weighed strongly in favour of the development. The funding for
such works has been largely secured through a NPIF grant, which is time limited and
must be spent by spring 2020. | advised Members in paragraph 8.77 of the February
report that such works needed to commence in April of this year to enable the grant
funding to be spent.

Following deferral of this application in February, there was a risk that the road
improvement works would not be undertaken within the above timescales. However
KCC has negotiated an alternative strategy with the applicant, who has agreed to
provide land adjacent to the north side of Lower Road to allow the construction of a
footpath and cyclepath between the new roundabout and Cowstead Corner. This
work has commenced.

The remaining improvement works that would be secured under this application are
for the widening of Lower Road between the new roundabout and Cowstead Corner.
The applicant owns this land and would provide this land, together with a financial
contribution of £1,223,000 for the works. The scheme includes a right turn lane into
Wallend Farm, which would reduce current delays experienced by vehicles turning into
this site. The widening works would enable the road to meet current design standards,
and the works at Cowstead Corner would enable two lanes in both directions to be
provided for a greater distance (approx. 110m), which would help ease congestion
issues at this roundabout.

Members should note that the above contribution has been calculated on the basis
that the contractors would carry out all works under a single phase of construction.
However, if the road widening works were not secured under this application and there
was a delay to this (for example if the application was refused and an appeal
undertaken), this would split the construction works into two phases and add an

4
Page 10



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

4.05

5.0

5.01

5.02

5.03

5.04

5.05

5.06

additional cost estimated at £500,000 to the scheme. KCC would require any
additional sum to be funded by the developer. Given the marginal viability of the
scheme, such additional costs would almost certainly need to be taken from the “pot”
used to fund the S106 requirements as listed in the main report.

As such, the application would still deliver improvements to Lower Road, as required
under Policy A12 and IMP1 of the Local Plan. However some works are also now being
delivered outside of the planning application process in order to safeguard the grant
funding secured.

Update on planning policy position

Five year housing supply

Members will note from the tabled update to the February Committee that the Council
does not currently have a five year housing supply. Under Paragraph 11(d) of the
NPPF, when policies which are most important for determining the application are out
of date (which includes applications for housing where the Local Planning Authority
cannot demonstrate a 5 year supply), planning permission should be granted unless —
i) The application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or
i) Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh
the benefits, when assessed against the NPPF as a whole.

The maijority of the application site is allocated for housing development under policy
A12 of the Local Plan. However the three additional parcels of land beyond the site
allocation are subject to policies ST3 (the Swale Settlement Strategy), Policy DM25
(Important Local Countryside Gap) and policy DM31 (agricultural land), which all have
the effect of restricting locations for new housing development. The application of
paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF does not mean that these policies carry no weight, but a
proposal would need to clearly fall under parts i) or ii) above to warrant refusal.

Members will note from the last tabled update that the allocated site also forms part of
the Council’s forecast housing supply (assumed at 100 units in the Council’s supply
position of 2017/18). Members should note that if permission is refused, the Council’s
predicted housing supply will worsen.

Members will note in my original report that | had identified some conflict with policies
ST3, DM25 and DM31 of the adopted Plan which arises from the inclusion of the three
additional parcels beyond the site allocation. However | advised that the identified harm
was limited and outweighed by the wider benefits of the scheme that enabled delivery
of a strategic housing site and the Lower Road improvements. My advice was written
prior to confirmation that the Council did not have a five year housing supply.

Following such confirmation, the advice under paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF tilts the
planning balance in favour of granting planning permission, unless any adverse
impacts of doing so significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits. As | have
previously advised that the inclusion of the three additional land parcels only causes
limited harm, | would now advise Members that this harm would, in my opinion, fall well
short of the test under paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF of significantly and demonstrably
outweighing the benefits of the development. The requirement to consider paragraph
11(d) of the NPPF therefore weighs more heavily in favour of granting permission.

Members should note that any harm arising to the setting of Parsonage Farm as a
Grade |l listed building would be subject to the test under 11(d) (i) of the NPPF. |
5
Page 11



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

6.0

6.01

6.02

6.03

6.04

6.05

6.06

6.07

have set out in my February report that the harm to the listed building is limited and
“‘less than substantial”, and as such this does not provide a clear reason for refusing
the application.

Further comments on concerns raised by Members during the February
Committee

Members raised a series of concerns relating to the development at the February
committee. Although Members did not reach a point where they discussed potential
reasons for refusal of the application, | have provided further information below relating
to a number of the concerns raised.

The applicant has also provided a letter setting out their response to the points raised
by Members. This is attached as Appendix 5 and referred to below.

Loss of agricultural land — Some Members raised concern that the application does
not include an agricultural land classification statement, and that as such it is unclear
whether the development would result in the loss of Best and Most Versatile (BMV)
agricultural land.

Members will be aware that the majority of this site is allocated for residential
development (some 29 Hectares) in the adopted Local Plan. As a local plan allocation,
the principle of the loss of this land from agricultural use / production has been
accepted through the formal Local Plan process, irrespective of the land quality.

The additional land take-up arising from the inclusion of land to the west and south as
part of this application amounts to a further area of approximately 6.7 Ha in size. The
applicant has now provided a site specific agricultural land classification study and this
confirms that the land is Grade 3b and not best and most versatile agricultural land. As
such, the development would not result in the loss of BMV land.

Loss of an Important Countryside Gap (ILCG) —The maijority of the site does not fall
within the ILCG. However the two western parcels of land that fall outside the site
allocation do fall within this designation under Policy DM25 of the Local Plan. This
policy sets out that the purposes of the designation is to maintain the identity and
character of settlements by preventing coalescence, to safeguard the open
undeveloped character of an area, to prevent encroachment and piecemeal erosion,
and to influence decisions on longer-term development of settlements through the
Local Plan process. In this instance, | advised in my February report that one parcel
would remain green and undeveloped as a SuDS drainage facility, and would not
conflict with this designation. | have also advised that the second parcel, which would
contain housing development, is located in a recessed area along the western
boundary of the site that is surrounded on three sides by the land allocated for
development under Policy A12 of the Local Plan. The inclusion of this land would
square off the western boundary. Whilst there is a degree of conflict with this policy,
through the loss of an undeveloped land parcel, | consider this to be very limited given
its size, position and characteristics. It would not reduce the gap between
Queenborough / Halfway to the west and the site allocation, and its impact on the open
/ undeveloped character of the area would again be very limited by the position of the
parcel which aligns with the western boundary of the site allocation.

Failure to comply with the Swale Settlement Strategy (Policy ST3 of the Local Plan) —
The majority of the site is allocated for development and complies with this policy.
However, the additional land parcels beyond the site allocation do conflict with this
policy, although again | consider the harm to the countryside would be limited to the

6
Page 12




Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

6.08

6.09

6.10

6.11

6.12

one additional parcel on the west side of the site that would accommodate housing,
and not the two parcels that would accommodate SuDS facilities as these would retain
green and undeveloped characteristics. For the same reasons as in the paragraph
above, | consider the harm to the character and appearance of the countryside to be
limited given the characteristics of this land parcel.

Landscape Impact — Again, the majority of the site is allocated for development, which
would inevitably result in a change in the character and appearance of the land from
open agricultural fields to housing development. The application proposes a
landscaped buffer area to the south and west of the site, and this is considered to be
sufficient to provide a strong landscaped edge, although | acknowledge that the extent
of landscaping and open space on the southern boundary in particular would be less
than shown on the development concepts plan that supports Policy A12 of the Local
Plan. The Council’'s Landscape Consultant (as set out above) does not consider the
scale of landscape harm arising to be significantly greater than would be the case with
a Policy A12 compliant scheme. Therefore, whilst there are clearly landscape impacts
arising from this large scale development, they are not considered to be unacceptable
particularly taking into account that the site falls within a non-designated landscape.

Viability of site allocation — some Members raised concern that the site allocation itself
could not be viably developed without the inclusion of additional land. Members will be
aware that the Island does suffer from lower values which affect viability. The
application includes a viability report which has been independently assessed and
which concludes that a scheme within the site allocation boundaries only cannot be
viably delivered.

School funding — some Members raised concern that secondary school contributions
should be directed towards improvements to the Oasis Academy on the Island, and
not to Sittingbourne. | would advise Members that such contributions only pass the
relevant CIL tests if they provide / contribute towards infrastructure that is clearly
required to mitigate the needs of the development proposed. As there is current and
forecast secondary school capacity on the Island, this can accommodate a forecast
increase in pupil numbers arising from the development without infrastructure
improvements. However, a large number of pupils living on the Island travel to
secondary schools in Sittingbourne (and elsewhere). There is a clear need to increase
secondary school capacity in Sittingbourne, hence why the S106 contribution would
be directed there.

Lack of sufficient open space — Members were concerned that the quantum of public
open space included land to the south of Lower Road, which in practice would be
inaccessible to residents of the development, and would therefore reduce the usable
open space available. The application had originally specified that the total quantum
of open space would be 12.5 Ha in area. This has now been reviewed and a plan
has been provided to demonstrate that in total 14.83 Ha of open space can be
delivered. If the land to the south of Lower Road is excluded from this, a total of 12.21
Ha can be delivered, which would exceed the policy requirement of 12.08 Ha. As such,
the proposal would exceed the required amount without reliance on the land to the
south of Lower Road.

Need for improvements to the S106 agreement — The S106 obligations can be broadly
split into on-site obligations for delivery of open space, landscaping and on-site
facilities, and financial obligations towards off-site infrastructure improvements to meet
additional needs arising from the development. Such financial contributions have been
subject to consultation with relevant infrastructure providers (primarily KCC and the
NHS) and these organisations have confirmed that the contributions listed in my

7
Page 13



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

6.13

6.14

6.15

6.16

6.17

February report are acceptable. Members will be aware that S106 agreements should
only be used to secure obligations that pass strict tests (as set out in para 9.12 of my
February report) and the contributions offered meet the infrastructure requirements as
set out by consultees. It is not possible to increase these without justification or
evidence to demonstrate that the development would otherwise lead to harmful
impacts, as this would not meet the relevant criteria under the CIL tests.

Clarity on the S106 funding for the local centre, and provision of a medical facility —
Members questioned the extent to which the £200,000 Local centre funding would
provide an incentive to deliver a facility. Having discussed this with the Council’s
Economic Development Manager, | am advised that this would roughly represent 20-
25% of build costs, based on average retail build costs for a neighbourhood facility of
that size.

However, Members will note from the applicant’s letter (Appendix 5) that they have
reviewed the local centre further and have also held discussions with a GP to
potentially deliver a surgery and possible GP training facilities on the site. ( A second
GP has also since come forward, as has the operator of a pharmacy). Discussions are
ongoing between the developer / GP’s and the Swale Clinical Commissioning Group,
and Members will note the further comments received from the Swale CCG attached
as Appendix 4. Whilst the Swale CCG make clear that no identified need for a new GP
facility has been identified to date, they state that further reviews are taking place, and
as a result are agreeable to an option to safeguard land within the development site
for a medical centre, which shall only (my emphasis) be considered by the CCG if the
outcome of the latest strategic review identifies a specific need. If such need for a
facility is not identified and approved on this site by the CCG, then the provision of a
medical facility would fall away. The CCG would continue to receive the off-site
contribution already requested.

The applicant is prepared to offer a series of incentives to help deliver a GP facility, to
include the delivery of serviced land free of charge and the local centre fund of
£200,000. In addition, the developer is seeking to re-direct a sum of £102,000 from the
landscape maintenance fund (which totals in the region of £950,000 at present)
towards the provision of this facility. Members will note the comments from the
Council’'s Greenspaces Manager and the risks identified in diverting this sum to the GP
facility. If the GP facility is not required, then the £200,000 would be available to apply
to incentives to bring forward a local centre as detailed below, and the £102,000 sum
would be put back to the landscaping maintenance fund.

In respect of the other part of the local centre, (units amounting to up to 450sqm
(amended from 600sgm)) to be used for A1 (retail), D1 (non-residential institutions
such as a medical facility or community hall) or D2 uses (assembly and leisure), the
applicant has agreed to construct these units and to agree a marketing strategy with
the Council. The units would potentially = accommodate residential development
above, and be designed in such a way that, in the event that an occupant was not
found, they could be converted at a later date to residential use (subject to planning
permission). The applicant has also confirmed that they would be prepared to offer a
discounted rent during early years of occupation. The S106 would therefore secure the
construction and marketing of these local centre units.

The specific details relating to these obligations are still under negotiation, and | will
update Members further at the Planning Committee. Nonetheless, | consider that the
above demonstrates a commitment by the developer to facilitate and contribute
towards delivery of a medical facility and/or local centre on the site. However Members
should note that the CCG will only agree to a new medical facility if such need is

8
Page 14



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

6.18

6.19

6.20

6.21

6.22

identified in their growth forecasts. Such facilities would be in excess of the local plan
site allocation requirements and in excess of the original requirements sought by the
Swale CCG. | consider that the commitment to enter into obligations from the
developer to accommodate / secure such facilities are positive and reasonable.

Members should also note that if the £200,000 local fund is not spent (or only partially
spent), then this will be diverted towards the delivery of off-site sustainable transport
measures. KCC Highways have identified that this could contribute towards delivery of
improvements to cycle access to Neats Court.

Lack of affordable housing — | originally dealt with this point in paragraphs 8.36, 8.37
and 8.96 of the February committee report. Policy DM8 of the adopted Local Plan sets
affordable housing requirements for new developments, and Members will note that
there is nil provision on the Island, due to known viability challenges in this part of the
Borough. The policy does set out that there may be circumstances where economic
conditions or the characteristics of a development can positively change the viability of
affordable housing. However, as reported in paragraph 8.98, the provision of 5%
affordable housing within the development has been tested and found to be unviable.
As such, the lack of affordable housing on this development does not conflict with the
Local Plan.

Other sites on the Island with permission for housing — Members raised concern
regarding existing outstanding permissions for some 1000 dwellings in the area,
excluding this site, and the lack of infrastructure developed in line with this. In terms of
road infrastructure, | would advise that this application has been assessed against
committed developments which would include those for which permission has been
granted but not built. As such the traffic forecasts are based on cumulative impacts. In
terms of other infrastructure, those outstanding permissions would have been
assessed at the time against infrastructure requirements. Members should note that
infrastructure improvements can only be sought to mitigate impacts specifically arising
from the development in question, and not to “fix” existing deficiencies in
infrastructure (although sometimes the needs to address direct impacts arising from a
development can benefit the wider public — such as the Lower Road highways works).

Prematurity of application — some Members raised concern that the application was
premature without confirmation that the M2 J5 improvement works would take place,
and that such works should be completed prior to the development. Members should
note that Highways England (as the Authority responsible for the strategic road
network) do not object to this application, but recommend that no more than 250
dwellings are occupied until the improvement works are complete. The current
Highways England timeframe is to commence works in March 2020 and open the
improved junction in winter 2021. Taking into account the need for reserved matters
approval and likely delivery rates for development on Sheppey, the applicant forecasts
that the 250 dwelling threshold is unlikely to be reached prior to 2025/26, and this
allows for a substantially greater time period than currently forecast by Highways
England to deliver the road improvements.

Provision of a puffin crossing point on Barton Hill Drive — Members raised concern that
this should be earlier than the occupation of 75 dwellings as set out in proposed
condition 23. The applicant has agreed to move this forward to be provided prior to the
occupation of 25 dwellings.

Page 15



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

7.0

7.01

7.02

7.03

7.04

8.0

8.01

8.02

Conclusions

The conclusions in my February report are set out under paragraphs 9.01 —9.09. The
applicant has sought to improve the development by strengthening the delivery of local
facilities and bringing forward the delivery of the puffin crossing. They have also
clarified the extent of open space that can be delivered on the main site, and that this
would accord with policy requirements, and have provided a report on the agricultural
land quality. Whilst the time-critical issue of spending the NPIF grant funding for the
road improvements has been resolved by separate agreement between the applicant
and KCC to deliver part of the scheme on the north side of Lower Road, the application
would still facilitate improvements to Lower Road by securing land and finance for such
works on the south side. | have set out in the main report why the inclusion of the
additional unallocated housing parcel is justified on viability grounds.

| concluded in my February report that the harmful impacts arising from the
development were limited and outweighed by the material considerations and benefits
of the scheme. Although the separate agreement between the landowner and KCC
would now deliver part of the road improvement scheme outside of the application
process, the delivery of the remaining road improvement works remain a significant
benefit. The scheme would deliver substantial housing, and the viability appraisal
demonstrates that the additional housing land parcel beyond the site allocation is
necessary to deliver the scheme.

Added to this, and in the absence of a five year housing supply, | must also now
consider the application against paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF. This sets out that
permission should be granted unless any harmful impacts significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the scheme. As | have found the harmful
impacts to be limited as set out above and in my February report, | would advise that
the application falls well short of failing this test under the NPPF, and that this gives
greater emphasis to my recommendation.

On this basis, | would continue to recommend to Members that Planning permission
should be granted for the development.

Considerations if Members seek to refuse the application

Notwithstanding my recommendation, Members are entitled to reach a different
conclusion to mine if they consider there are sound planning reasons for doing so, and
this is an established facet of the planning process. Members should however note
that if the Council cannot substantiate its grounds of refusal it then places itself at
significant risk of costs in the event of an appeal. In my opinion, the likelihood of an
appeal is high, given that the majority of the site is allocated for housing development
in the Local Plan, and additionally that the Council cannot currently demonstrate a five
year housing supply.

The National Planning Policy Guidance - “Appeals” document sets out the type of
behaviour that may place a Local Planning Authority at risk of costs. This includes the
following examples

e preventing or delaying development which should clearly be permitted, having
regard to its accordance with the development plan, national policy and any other
material considerations.

e failure to produce evidence to substantiate each reason for refusal on appeal

e vague, generalised or inaccurate assertions about a proposal’s impact, which are
unsupported by any objective analysis.

10
Page 16



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

8.03

8.04

8.05

9.0

4)

Therefore Members must carefully consider the substance and evidence they wish to
rely on for any reason advanced to refuse this application. | have set out in my report
that there are some harmful impacts, but have explained why such impacts are limited,
are outweighed by other factors when considered against the Local Plan, and how the
NPPF test in the absence of a five year housing supply points towards the grant of
permission.

Members may disagree with my assessment of harm, or the weight | have given to
other considerations. However they must set out this out clearly and substantively in
any reasons advanced for refusal, to justify their decision and minimise the risk of
costs.

Members will also need to consider other consequences of refusing the application. A
refusal will result in a financial shortfall of £1,223,000 to deliver the Lower Road
improvements, as well as the ability to secure the land required for these widening
works. It would result in a loss of funding to KCC in the region of £3 million towards
delivery of a new primary school at Queenborough / Rushenden, and £820,000
towards delivery of a new secondary school at North West Sittingbourne. These
projects are specifically identified in the Local Plan under Policy IMP1. Members
should therefore, also have regard to these potential consequences as part of their
decision making.

RECOMMENDATION
GRANT Subject to completion of a S106 Agreement and subject to the following
conditions

Commencement

Details relating to the layout, scale and appearance of the proposed building(s) within
a relevant phase, and the landscaping of the site within that phase, shall be submitted
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority before any development within that
phase is commenced.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as
amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Application for approval of reserved matters referred to in Condition (2) above must be
made not later than the expiration of ten years beginning with the date of the grant of
outline planning permission.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as
amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than

the expiration of two years from the final approval of the reserved matters or, in the
case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last such matter to be
approved.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as
amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

General

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the phasing plan drawing
1456.21 Version 10, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning

11
Page 17



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

Authority.
Reason To ensure appropriate development of the site.

The reserved matters shall be submitted to be in accordance with the Site Parameters
Plan drawing 1456.18 Version 10 and the Landscape and Open Space Framework
Plan 1456.26 Version 02.

Reason: To accord with the terms of the outline permission

Prior to the submission of a reserved matters application, a design code for that phase
of development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The design code shall be based upon the Site Parameter Plan drawing

1456.18 Version 10, the Landscape and Open Space Framework Plan 1456.26

Version 02, and the Development Brief and Design and Access Statement, and shall

include the following —

e A design strategy for buildings, to include housing mix, density and massing,
architectural treatment, the use of feature buildings in key locations, principles for
the use of external materials, boundary treatments, and provision of car parking.

¢ Inrelation to phase 3 (as shown on drawing 1456.21 Version 10), a design strategy
for buildings to the south and west of Parsonage Farm and measures to respond
to the setting of this listed building.

e Principles for establishing character areas

e Principles for road hierarchy, pedestrian and cycle connections in each phase,
including the alignment, width, lighting and surface materials to be used

e A strategy for street tree planting

e Principles for the layout to accommodate and respond to existing landscape
features within the site.

e Design of the public realm, including principles for the design and layout of public
open space, areas for play, lighting, street furniture and sustainable urban
drainage

o Astrategy to provide open space, footpath and cycle linkages through each phase

The reserved matters shall be designed to accord with the approved Design Code.

Reason: In the interests of providing a high-quality layout and design for the
development.

Prior to the submission of any reserved matters application, a site-wide landform
parameter plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The plan shall provide a strategy for utilising the existing landform of the site,
measures to minimise cut and fill operations, and measures to minimise or avoid over-
engineered operations to deal with levels changes. The reserved matters applications
shall be designed to accord with the approved site-wide strategy.

Reason: To respect and make best use of the sloping landform of the site and to accord
with the site allocation policy.

For each phase of the development hereby approved, no development shall take place
within a relevant phase until details have been submitted to the Local Planning
Authority and approved in writing, which set out what measures will been taken to
ensure that the development in that phase incorporates sustainable construction
techniques and energy efficiency. Upon approval, the details shall be incorporated into
the development of the phase of development in question as approved, and retained

12
Page 18



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

as such in perpetuity.
Reason: In the interest of promoting energy efficiency and sustainable development

The proposed residential development hereby permitted shall be designed to achieve
a water consumption rate of no more than 110 litres per person per day, and the
residential units shall not be occupied unless the notice for that dwelling/flat of the
potential consumption of water per person per day required by the Building Regulations
2015 (as amended) has been given to the Building Control Inspector (internal or
external).

Reason: In the interests of water conservation and sustainability

10) No development shall take place in any phase until details of the existing site levels,

proposed site levels, and proposed finished floor levels for buildings in that phase have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority and the
development shall be completed strictly in accordance with the approved levels.

Reason: In order to secure a satisfactory form of development having regard to the
topography of the site.

11) Before development commences within a relevant phase, details shall be submitted

for the installation of fixed telecommunication infrastructure and High Speed Fibre
Optic connections to multi point destinations and all buildings including residential,
commercial and community buildings within that phase. This shall provide sufficient
capacity, including duct sizing to cater for all future phases of the development with
sufficient flexibility to meet the needs of existing and future residents. The infrastructure
shall be laid out in accordance with the approved details and at the same time as other
services during the construction process.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

12) The reserved matters for each phase shall incorporate measures to minimise the risk

of crime in accordance with the requirements of Crime Prevention through
Environmental Design (CPTED). The approved measures shall be implemented before
the development is occupied and thereafter retained.

Reasons: In the interest of Security, Crime Prevention and Community Safety

13) No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place in any phase

until written details and samples of the materials to be used in the construction of the
external surfaces of the building(s) permitted in that phase have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall then be
implemented in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development.

14) The reserved matters details shall include measures to demonstrate how the detailed

design and layout of the residential development would meet the needs of specific
housing groups, including older and disabled persons.

Reason: To ensure that the development of this large strategic site makes provision
for different housing needs.

15) The convenience store / community facility (which for the avoidance of doubt may

include residential units on upper floors) shall be permitted for uses under classes A1,
13
Page 19



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

D1 and D2 of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as
amended), and for no other purpose.

Reason: To provide for a local facility, in the interests of sustainability and local
amenities.

16) No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place in phases 1
or 2 of the development (as shown on drawing 1456.21 Version 10), until an acoustic
assessment has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The assessment shall set out predicted internal and external noise levels for
dwellings in that phase, and (if required) shall provide a scheme of mitigation measures
in accordance with BS8233:2014 — “Guidance on Sound Insulation and Noise
Reduction for Buildings”. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details and mitigation prior to occupation of any dwelling.

Reason: To ensure appropriate mitigation is provided, in the interests of residential
amenity.

Highways

17) No more than 250 dwellings on the site shall be occupied until the M2 Junction 5 Roads
Investment Strategy scheme (the scheme of works in the May 2018 Preferred Route
Announcement) has been completed and opened to public traffic.

Reason: To avoid adding unacceptably to congestion at the existing A249 Trunk
Road and M2 Junction 5, to ensure the effective operation of the Strategic Road
Network, and to satisfy the reasonable requirements of road safety.

18) No development shall take place in any phase (including any engineering or levelling
works), until a Construction Management Plan (CMP) has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved CMP shall be
implemented and adhered to throughout the entire construction period. The CMP shall
provide details of:

(a) The predicted numbers of construction and delivery vehicles and measures to
manage routing of construction traffic to / from the site,

b) Means of access to the site during the construction process

c¢) Parking and turning areas for construction and delivery vehicles and site personnel

d) Timing of deliveries

e) Provision of wheel washing facilities

f) Temporary traffic management / signage

g) Areas for the loading / unloading and storage of plant, materials and waste

h) Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction

(i) A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and

construction works

(j) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays and

facilities for public viewing, where appropriate

(
(
(
(
(
(
(

Reason: To ensure that the impact of construction works on the strategic and local
road network are managed, and in the interests of the amenities of the area and
highways safety and convenience.

19) No construction work (for the avoidance of doubt to include piling) in connection with
the development shall take place on any Sunday or Bank Holiday, nor on any other
day except between the following times:

14
Page 20



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

Monday to Friday 0730 — 1900 hours, Saturdays 0730 — 1300 hours unless in
association with an emergency or with the prior written approval of the Local Planning
Authority.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

20) The reserved matters for phase 1 (as shown on drawing 1456.21 Version 10), shall
include the provision of a footway on the development site frontage on the west side
of Barton Hill Drive, and this shall be completed prior to the occupation of any units on
the site.

Reason: In the interests of pedestrian safety.

21) No occupation of any dwelling within phase 1 (as shown on drawing 1456.21 Version
10), shall take place until access from that dwelling to the roundabout at the junction
of Barton Hill Drive and Lower Road has been completed.

Reason: In the interests of highways safety

22) No occupation of any dwellings other than those within Phase 1 (as shown on drawing
1456.21 Version 10), shall take place until the Highway works for the Barton Hill Drive
access as shown in drawing T-01 Rev P3 have been completed in accordance with a
Section 278 agreement with the Highway Authority.

Reason: In the interests of highways safety

23) No more than 25 dwellings shall be occupied until a Puffin Crossing is provided on
Barton Hill Drive at a location and specification approved by the Highway Authority
through a section 278 agreement, and is open and available for public use and to an
adoptable standard.

Reason: In the interests of pedestrian safety

24) The details submitted for the approval of Reserved Matters shall show adequate land,
reserved for the parking of cars (in accordance with the currently adopted Kent County
Council Vehicle Parking Standards where appropriate) and for the loading and
unloading of commercial vehicles where necessary. Such land shall be kept available
for this purpose at all times and no permanent development, whether permitted by the
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015
(as amended) (or any order revoking or re-enacting that Order) or not shall be carried
out on such land or in a position as to preclude vehicular access thereto; such land
and access thereto shall be provided prior to the occupation of the buildings / land
hereby permitted.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety

25) The details submitted for the approval of Reserved Matters above shall include details
of covered secure cycle parking facilities for each dwelling. The approved cycle parking
shall thereafter be provided prior to the occupation of that dwelling and retained in
perpetuity.

Reason: To ensure that there is sufficient cycle parking at the site in the interests of
sustainable development.

15
Page 21



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

26) Prior to the occupation of any dwelling or other building the following works between
the dwelling or building and the adopted highway shall be completed:
(a) Footways and/or footpaths, with the exception of the wearing course;
(b) Carriageways, with the exception of the wearing course but including a turning
facility, highway drainage, visibility splays, street lighting, street nameplates and
highway structures (if any).

Reason: To provide suitable access to the development

27) The pedestrian/cycle link between the development site and Lovell Road together with
the installation of tactile paving at the crossing of Lower Road at its junction with Barton
Hill Drive shall be constructed to a specification approved beforehand by the Local
Planning Authority and Highway Authority via an s278 Agreement and made available
for public use prior to the occupation of the 350" dwelling.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to facilitate the use of alternative non-
car means of transport.

28) No more than 350 dwellings shall be occupied until a pedestrian and cycle link from
the site to Parsonage Chase has been completed and opened for public use in
accordance with details that have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include details of surfacing for all weather
conditions, and details of lighting.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to facilitate the use of alternative non-
car means of transport.

29) The reserved matters for each phase shall include measures to provide electric vehicle
charging and shall include —
a) Provision for electric vehicle charging points to all dwellings with parking facilities
within their curtilage.
b) Details of provision for electric vehicle charging points for 10% of all other
residential parking areas (save for visitor parking areas) within that Phase;

No dwelling shall be occupied until the electric vehicle charging for that dwelling has
been installed (whether for an individual property or a communal point).

Reason: To encourage the use of electric vehicles, in the interests of climate change
and reducing pollution.

Drainage
30) No development shall be commenced until:

i. the details required by Condition 1 have demonstrated that requirements for surface
water drainage can be accommodated within the proposed development layout.

ii. a detailed sustainable surface water drainage strategy has been submitted to

and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The detailed drainage scheme
shall demonstrate that the surface water generated by this development (for all rainfall
durations and intensities up to and including the climate change adjusted critical 100-
year storm) can be accommodated and discharged from the site at an agreed
controlled discharge rate. The drainage scheme shall also demonstrate that silt and
pollutants resulting from the site use can be adequately managed to ensure there is
no pollution risk to receiving waters.

16
Page 22



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

31)

32)

33)

Reason: To ensure the development is served by satisfactory arrangements for the
disposal of surface water and to ensure that the development does not exacerbate the
risk of on/off site flooding. These details and accompanying calculations are required
prior to the commencement of the development as they form an intrinsic part of the
proposal, the approval of which cannot be disaggregated from the carrying out of the
rest of the development.

No development shall be commenced until a phasing plan for the surface water
drainage scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority, and which demonstrates the provision of a drainage network to serve any
designated Phase 1or subsequent phases prior to occupation. The phasing plan shall
also indicate and provide details of any temporary works associated with the
construction of the surface water drainage system.

Reason: To ensure the development is served by satisfactory arrangements for the
disposal of surface water and to ensure that the development does not exacerbate the
risk of on/off site flooding. These details and accompanying calculations are required
prior to the commencement of the development as they form an intrinsic part of the
proposal, the approval of which cannot be disaggregated from the carrying out of the
rest of the development.

No building hereby permitted in any phase shall be occupied until an operation and
maintenance manual for the proposed sustainable drainage scheme is submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The manual at a minimum shall
include the following details:

* A description of the drainage system and its key components

* A general arrangement plan with the location of drainage measures and critical
features clearly marked

» An approximate timetable for the implementation of the drainage system

* Details of the future maintenance requirements of each drainage or SuDS
component, and the frequency of such inspections and maintenance activities

* Details of who will undertake inspections and maintenance activities, including

the arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory undertaker, or any other
arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable drainage system throughout
its lifetime

Reason: To ensure that any measures to mitigate flood risk and protect water quality
on/off the site are fully implemented and maintained (both during and after
construction), as per the requirements of paragraph 103 of the NPPF and its
associated Non-Statutory Technical Standards.

No building on any phase (or within an agreed implementation schedule) of the
development hereby permitted shall be occupied until a Verification Report pertaining
to the surface water drainage system, carried out by a suitably qualified professional,
has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority which demonstrates the suitable
operation of the drainage system such that flood risk is appropriately managed, as
approved by the Lead Local Flood Authority. The Report shall contain information and
evidence (including photographs) of earthworks; details and locations of inlets, outlets
and control structures; extent of planting; details of materials utilised in construction
including subsoil, topsoil, aggregate and membrane liners; full as built drawings; and
topographical survey of ‘as constructed’ features.

Reason: To ensure that flood risks from development to the future users of the land
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters,

17
Page 23



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development as constructed
is compliant with the National Planning Policy Framework.

34) No development shall commence until details of the proposed means of foul sewerage
disposal for a particular phase have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the
Local Planning Authority. The approved details shall then be implemented for the
relevant phase before any of the dwellings in that phase are occupied.

Reason: To ensure that adequate foul drainage is provided.
Contamination

35) The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until the following
components of a scheme to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the
site shall have been submitted to and approved, in writing, by the local planning
authority:

i) A preliminary risk assessment which has identified:
- all previous uses
- potential contaminants associated with those uses
- a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors
- potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site.

i) A site investigation, based on (i) to provide information for a detailed assessment
of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site.

ii) A remediation method statement (RMS) based on the site investigation results and
the detailed risk assessment (ii). This should give full details of the remediation
measures required and how they are to be undertaken. The RMS should also
include a verification plan to detail the data that will be collected in order to
demonstrate that the works set out in the RMS are complete and identifying any
requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and
arrangements for contingency action.

iv) A Closure Report is submitted upon completion of the works. The closure report
shall include full verification details as set out in (iii). This should include details of
any post remediation sampling and analysis, together with documentation
certifying quantities and source/destination of any material brought onto or taken
from the site. Any material brought onto the site shall be certified clean;

Reason: to ensure land contamination is adequately dealt with.

Ecology

36) No development shall be commenced until a site-wide ecological mitigation strategy
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
plan shall set out principles for ecological mitigation to be adopted in each phase of
development.

Reason: To protect habitats and species identified in the ecological surveys from
adverse impacts.

37)No development shall take place in any phase (including any ground works, site or
vegetation clearance) until a detailed ecological mitigation strategy for that phase has
been submitted to, and approved in writing, by the local planning authority. The
strategy shall be based upon the site-wide mitigation strategy, and content of the

18
Page 24



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

detailed strategy shall include the:

a) Updated Preliminary Ecological Appraisal

b) Updated specific species surveys as necessary.

c) Purpose and objectives for the proposed works:

d) Detailed design(s) and/or working method(s) necessary to achieve stated
objectives:

e) Extent and location of proposed works, including the identification of a suitable
receptor site for reptiles and great crested newts, (if required for that phase and
consistent with any licence issued by Natural England) shown on appropriate scale
maps and plans;

f) Timetable for implementation, demonstrating that works are aligned with the
proposed phasing of construction;

g) Persons responsible for implementing the works, including times during
construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to undertake /
oversee works;

h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs

i) Initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant);

j) Disposal of any wastes for implementing work

k) Details of temporary management measures to be put in place prior to
implementation of the site-wide ecological management plan.

The works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and shall be
retained in that manner thereafter.

Reason: To protect habitats and species identified in the ecological surveys from
adverse impacts during construction.

38) No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place in any phase
until a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) has been submitted to,
and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The LEMP shall be updated at
each phase to incorporate and review approved management plans for earlier phases,
and upon development of the last phase shall provide a single LEMP for the entire
development. The content of the LEMP shall include the following.

a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed;

b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management;

c) Aims and objectives of management;

d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives;

e) Prescriptions for management actions, together with a plan of management
compartments;

f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being
rolled forward over a five-year period);

9) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan;

h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures

i) Time table for the management plan review.

The LEMP shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and all
features shall be retained in that manner thereafter.

Reason: To ensure that any adverse environmental impacts of development activities
can be mitigated, compensated and restored and that the proposed design,
specification and implantation can demonstrate this.

39) No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place in any phase
until a scheme of ecological enhancements for that phase have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, together with a timetable for such

19
Page 25



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

works. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure that ecological enhancements are delivered, in the interests of
biodiversity.

Landscaping

40) No development in any phase shall take place until full details of all existing trees
and/or hedges in that phase, details of any trees or hedges proposed for removal, and
measures to protect any trees or hedges shown to be retained, have been submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall include

(a) a plan showing the location of, and allocating a reference number to each
existing tree and hedge on the site to be retained and indicating the crown
spread of each tree, and extent of any hedge, and identifying those trees and
hedges to be removed.

(b) details of the size, species, diameter, approximate height and an assessment
of the general state of health and stability of each retained tree and hedge.

(c) details of any proposed arboricultural works required to any retained tree or
hedge

(d) details of any alterations in ground levels and of the position of any excavation
or other engineering works within the crown spread of any retained tree.

(e) details of the specification and position of fencing and of any other measures
to be taken for the protection of any retained tree or hedge from damage before
or during the course of development .

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and the
approved protection measures shall be installed in full prior to the commencement of
any development, and retained for the duration of construction works. No works,
access, or storage within the protected areas shall take place, unless specifically
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority

In this condition “retained tree or hedge” means any existing tree or hedge which is to
be retained in accordance with the drawing referred to in (a) above.

Reason: In the interests of protecting existing trees and hedges which are worthy of
retention in the interests of the amenities of the area.

41) The development shall deliver 14.8 Hectares of open space, of which 12.2 Hectares
shall be delivered on the land to the north of Lower Road. Prior to the submission of
any reserved matters, a site-wide open space strategy shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall set out the quantum of
open space to be delivered in each phase and how the 14.8 Hectares of open space
would be achieved across the site.

Reason: To ensure the site is developed under a strong landscaped and open space
framework, in the interests of visual amenity and recreation.

42) The reserved matters for each phase shall include a detailed hard and soft landscaping
scheme for all public areas within each phase of development. The scheme shall
include the following details -

e Details of the type and quantum, and layout of open space to be provided within
each phase (based upon the information contained within the Design and Access
Statement / Development Brief and parameters plans submitted with the
application).

20
Page 26



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

e Soft landscaping proposals, to include existing trees, shrubs and other features,
planting schedules of plants, noting species (which shall be native species and of
a type that will encourage wildlife and biodiversity), plant sizes and numbers where
appropriate.

e A detailed scheme for street tree planting (where practicable).

e Hard landscaping details for the public areas, to include details of lighting,
hardsurfaces, footpaths and cycleways (including surface finishes), means of
enclosure, litter bins, dog bins, and benches.

e Phase 2 (as shown on drawing 1456.21 Version 10) shall include a Neighbourhood
Equipped Area of Play, ball court facility and central open space / kick-about facility

e Phases 1 and 5 (as shown on drawing 1456.21 Version 10) shall include a Local
Equipped Area of Play / Local Area of Play facility.

e Phase 3 (as shown on drawing 1456.21 Version 10) shall include (subject to any
requirements of Natural England) a scheme for an extended orchard area and
open space in the north east corner of the site, in accordance with the lllustrative
Landscape strategy by Lloyd Bore.

¢ A timetable for implementation

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and
implementation timetable.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and recreation.

43) The reserved matters shall include full details of both hard and soft landscape works
within the curtilage of any building. These details shall include existing trees, shrubs
and other features, planting schedules of plants, noting species (which shall be native
species and of types that will encourage wildlife and biodiversity), plant sizes and
numbers where appropriate, means of enclosure, hard surfacing materials, and an
implementation programme. The development shall be carried out in accordance with
the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging wildlife
and biodiversity.

44) Upon completion of the approved landscaping scheme, any trees or shrubs that are
removed, dying, being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within five
years of planting shall be replaced with trees or shrubs of such size and species as
may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, and within whatever
planting season is agreed.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging wildlife
and biodiversity.

45) No development beyond the construction of foundations in Phase 1 shall take place
until a detailed scheme of advance soft landscaping has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall consist of a woodland
buffer on the southern and western boundaries of the site as shown on the approved
Site Parameters Plan, and shall be a minimum of 20 metres in depth. The scheme
shall include proposed trees, shrubs and other features, planting schedules of plants
(which shall include native species and of types that will encourage wildlife and
biodiversity), noting species, plant sizes and numbers where appropriate, measures to
prevent tree vandalism, and measures to protect the advance planting from
construction on the remainder of the site for the duration of such works. The advance

21
Page 27



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

planting shall be completed prior to occupation of the 50" dwelling on site and in
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To accord with the terms of the application and the requirements of Policy
A12 of the Swale Borough Local Plan — Bearing Fruits 2031. To ensure the early
delivery of the strategic landscaping to the site, in the interests of visual amenity and
wider landscape objectives.

46) Upon completion of the advance landscaping works, any trees or shrubs that are
removed, dying, being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within ten
years of planting shall be replaced with trees or shrubs of such size and species as
may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, and within the next planting
season, unless otherwise agreed.

Reason: To ensure the retention and maintenance of strategic landscaping, in the
interests of visual amenity.

Heritage and archaeology

47) The reserved matters and design code to be submitted for phase 3 of the development
(as shown on drawing 1456.21 Version 10), shall be designed to maintain an area of
open space of at least 20 metres from the boundary of Parsonage Farmhouse.

Reason: To protect the setting of the listed building.

48) No occupation of any units within Phase 3 of the development (as shown on drawing
1456.21 Version 10) shall take place until a scheme to provide a heritage interpretation
board in relation to the Listed Building at Parsonage Farmhouse has been submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include
details of the information to be displayed, the design and siting of the interpretation
board, and maintenance of the board. The heritage interpretation board shall be
installed in accordance with the approved details prior to occupation of the 75" dwelling
within Phase 3.

Reason: To provide information to the public on a nearby designated heritage asset,

49) No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors in

title, has secured the implementation of

i. archaeological field evaluation works in accordance with a specification and
written timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local
Planning Authority; and

ii. following on from the evaluation, any safeguarding measures to ensure
preservation in situ of important archaeological remains and/or further
archaeological investigation and recording in accordance with a specification
and timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning
Authority.

Reason: To ensure appropriate assessment of the archaeological implications of any
development proposals and the subsequent mitigation of adverse impacts through
preservation in situ or by record.

The Council’s Approach

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF),
July 2018 the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development

22
Page 28



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

NB

proposals focused on solutions. We work with applicants/agents in a positive and
creative way by offering a pre-application advice service, where possible, suggesting
solutions to secure a successful outcome and as appropriate, updating applicants /
agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their application.

In this instance, pre application advice was provided, the applicant was given the
opportunity to make amendments to the scheme, and the application was considered
by the Planning Committee where the applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to
the Committee and promote the application.

For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant
Public Access pages on the council’s website.

The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

23
Page 29



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

-

A

g
~iry
N
/}
I
3 -
F:' ar::':ge i
; Fg\
2 of Sheppey > -

LoWER AGAE
J __,.,--"'.—-F-:'—— —
—
WallFrd |
Cottages ! Racn
- : ¥
o . ."-:v
. -

) Barton Hill Drive Plan LS ASTUN
\ Scale: 1:5000 i TECHMOLOGY

Printed on: 872019 at 15:00 PM by JossphM & fstun Technology Lid

24
Page 30



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1
APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

EXTRA-ORDINARY PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT - 28 FEBRUARY 2019 PART 2

Report of the Head of Planning

PART 2

Applications for which PERMISSION is recommended

21 REFERENCE NO - 18/503135/0UT

APPLICATION PROPOSAL

Outline application for the development of up to 700 dwellings and all necessary supporting
infrastructure including land for provision of a convenience store / community facility, internal
access roads, footpaths, cycleways and parking, open space, play areas and landscaping,
drainage, utilities and service infrastructure works. (All detailed Matters Reserved for
subsequent approval except for access to Lower Road and to Barton Hill Drive).

ADDRESS Land West of Barton Hill Drive Minster-on-sea Kent ME12 3LZ

RECOMMENDATION - That delegated authority is given to officers to GRANT planning
permission subject to —

o Completion of a S106 agreement for the terms as set out in the report below

e The imposition of conditions as set out in the report below

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

e The application would result in the development of a site that largely falls within site
allocation policy A12 of the adopted local plan.

e The development within the allocated site would largely comply with the criteria set out in
policy A12 of the adopted Local plan.

¢ The inclusion of additional land beyond the site allocation to the west is required to
deliver a financially viable scheme and to secure the provision of land to deliver the
Lower Road widening improvements.

o The scheme would deliver a strategic housing site within the Local Plan.

The scheme would enable the delivery of the Lower Road Improvements for which
significant grant funding has been secured.

o Further development beyond the site allocation would result in some identified harm, as
set out in the report. Nonetheless, in the final planning balance, this harm is considered
to be limited when weighed against the benefits that would arise, and the scheme is
considered to be acceptable.

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE

This is a large scale development that represents, in part, a departure from the development
plan and has generated a significant amount of local interest.

WARD Queenborough And | PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL | APPLICANT SW Attiwood &
Halfway Minster-On-Sea Partners
AGENT JB Planning
Associates
DECISION DUE DATE PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
24/09/18 10/12/18
25

Page 31




Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1
APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

Planning History

17/503481/ENVSCR - EIA Screening Opinion to the proposed residential development on
Land West of Barton Hill Drive. Decision Date: 10.08.2017

18/501543/ENVSCR - EIA Screening Opinion to proposed residential development on Land
West of Barton Hill Drive, Minster. Decision Date: 08.05.2018

1. DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.1  The application site occupies land immediately to the west of Barton Hill Drive and
predominantly to the north of the Lower Road, though it is noted that the site boundary
extends slightly to the south of the Lower Road (an area of approx. 2.5 hectares). The
recently-completed Barton Hill Drive / Lower Road roundabout is within the site
boundary as is a small length of Lower Road to the east of it. At its northern end, the
site boundary extends up to the southern boundary of the Oasis Academy (Isle of
Sheppey East Campus) site and adjoins rear gardens to the western end of Parsonage
Chase. It includes an area of land between No.s 71 and 73 Parsonage Chase which
links the site to this road. The site boundary also runs close to properties on Lovell
Road, and adjacent to the play area at Lovell Road.

1.2 Parsonage Farm is sited to the north east of the land, and is a Grade |l listed building.

1.3 A stretch of Lower Road (A2500), extending to 330 metres sits within the application
site, while approximately 300 metres further to the west a thin strip of the application
site (providing for a possible pedestrian / cycle / emergency access) would connect with
the Lower Road, opposite Wall End Cottages. Members will note a rectangular section
of the site, measuring 220 metres from east to west and 65 metres from north to south
extends out from the main part of the site approximately 240 metres to the north of
Lower Road, which it runs approximately parallel to.

1.4 The site area is 37.5 hectares.

1.5 The existing land use is agricultural and the site is characterised by open, arable
farmland.

1.6 As noted in the Design and Access Statement:

“The site... presents an undulating topography, gradually rising from the lowest points
at Lower Road, Barton Hill Drive and another located centrally within the site. The land
eventually steepens towards a crest at the north-western boundary. The site is visually
exposed due to its sloping landform, with long reaching views due south-west across
the site from the highest point adjacent to the northern boundary. These views are
broken by native species of hedges that form part-field boundaries, although these are
sporadically interrupted by trees.”

1.7 The Design and Access Statement gives a full explanation of the topography, illustrated
by a diagram, at paragraphs 2.35 to 2.38 (and which also shows the positions of the
hedges and the small number of trees, which are all located on or close to site
boundaries), but in summary the land levels range from 7.35 metres AOD (at the
junction between Lower Road and Barton Hill Drive) to a high point of 28.13 metres
AOD (in the far north-western corner of the site). The land slopes most dramatically in
the north west corner from 28m AOD to 20 AOD.

26
Page 32



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

1.8

2,

2.1

22

23

24

3.01

There are no public rights of way across the application site.
PROPOSAL

Planning permission is sought in outline form for the development of up to 700
dwellings and all necessary supporting infrastructure including land for provision of a
convenience store / community facility, internal access roads, footpaths, cycleways and
parking, open space, play areas and landscaping, drainage, utilities and service
infrastructure works. All matters are reserved (namely layout, appearance, scale and
landscaping) for subsequent approval other than the vehicular access to Lower Road
and to Barton Hill Drive.

The primary point of vehicular access will be directly from the new roundabout at the
junction of Barton Hill Drive and the Lower Road (A2500). A second vehicular access —
in the form of a T-junction - will be provided from Barton Hill Drive, towards the northern
end of the boundary between the application site and that road (approximately opposite
Numbers 234 to 242 Barton Hill Drive).

Members will also note that several pedestrian and cycle only links are proposed to
connect the site with the adjoining urban area and the local road network.

The design concept is explained in detail in the Design and Access Statement at pages
31 to 52 and while all the information is illustrative (other than in respect of the
maximum number of dwellings and the access points), these pages give a clear
indication of how the applicant considers the site could be developed. A site parameter
plan (as amended) also establishes a number of principles for the development.

o Dwellings to be predominantly a mix of 2-, 3- and 4-bedroom houses, with larger
units at a lower density towards the edges of the site;

° A small number of one- and two-bedroom apartments are envisaged;

. Development to be predominantly two-storey, with some three-storey
development in specified locations on the parameter plan.

. The dwellings would be located on 21.7 hectares of the wider site (confined to the
main part of the site, i.e. excluding land to the south of Lower Road and the parcel
projecting out to the west from central part of the site), with a density of
approximately 32 dwellings per hectare;

o 12.5 hectares of public open green space is envisaged;

. Pockets of housing are proposed, separated by green corridors to provide
connectivity within the scheme and with adjacent areas;

o The design concept also envisages the creation and enhancement of a number of
habitat types to enhance biodiversity, to help mitigate landscape impact and to
improve the experience of residents; and

. With regard to sustainable urban drainage, two substantial SUDS ponds are
envisaged, on land to the south of the Lower Road and on the parcel of land that
projects to the west from the main part of the site. A number of swales are also
proposed.

PLANNING CONSTRAINTS
A large part of the site (29 Ha) is allocated for residential development under policy

A12 of the adopted Local Plan, and for planning purposes falls within the built —up
area boundary of the West Sheppey Triangle (i.e. Minster, Halfway, Queenborough

27
Page 33



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

3.02

4.01

4.02

4.03

and Sheerness). In allocating this land for development, the following constraints
were taken into account —

o Development of open farmland formerly within a countryside gap

Development of Grade 3 agricultural land

Development within an Area of Archaeological Potential

The location of Parsonage Farmhouse to the north of the site, a Grade Il listed
building.

In addition to this, the following constraints also apply, taking into account the

extended area of the application site beyond the site allocation —

e The unallocated land within the western and southern sections of the site lies
outside of the identified built confines and is classed as open countryside, and
would take up additional Grade 3 agricultural land.

e The unallocated land to the western and southern sections of the site falls within
an Important Local Countryside Gap.

¢ A small part of the land to the south of Lower Road is located within Flood Zones
2and 3

POLICY AND CONSIDERATIONS

Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the decision
maker shall have regard to the provisions of the development plan so far as material to
the application.

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 - requires that
applications for planning permission shall be determined in accordance with the
development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. A material
planning consideration is defined in National Planning Practice Guidance as something
of relevance to making the planning decision in question, but cannot relate to the
protection of private interests (e.g. property value). The weight to give a material
consideration is a matter for the decision maker to decide.

The latest National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published on 24 July 2018.
It must be taken into account in preparing the development plan, and is a material
consideration in planning decisions. The Framework should be read as a whole
(including its footnotes and annexes). The most relevant sections to this application are
as follows —

Paragraphs 8 (the three overarching objectives of sustainable development), 10&11
(the presumption in favour of sustainable development), 12 (the importance of the
development plan in decision making), 38 (the approach to decision making in a
positive and creative way), 54-56 (use of planning conditions and Planning
Obligations), 57 (weight to be given to viability), 59 (supporting the Government’s
objective of significantly boosting housing), 61 (housing mix), 62/64 (affordable
housing), 91 (promoting health / safe communities), 92 (providing social / recreational
facilities), 96 (access to high quality open space), 108 (consideration of transport issues
in development proposals), 109 (that development should only be refused if highway
impacts would be severe), 110 (priority to pedestrians, cyclists and access to public
transport within developments), 111 (travel plan requirements), 112 (need for high
quality communications), 117 (making effective use of land), 122 (achieving appropriate
densities), 124 (achieving well designed places), 127 (design criteria for
developments), 128 (consideration of design quality between applicants, the local
planning authority and local community), 129 ( access to / use of tools and processes

28
Page 34



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

4.04

4.05

4.06

for assessing and improving design), 130 (refusal of poor design), Chapter 14 (climate
change / flooding), 170 (protecting / enhancing valued landscapes, recognising the
intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, minimising impacts on biodiversity
and achieving net gains, preventing new / existing development from unacceptable
risks from pollution / air quality), 174-177 (protecting habitats and biodiversity, including
Special Protection Areas / Ramsar sites), (178 land suitability and risks from
contamination), 180 (protection from noise / light pollution), Chapter 16 (conserving /
enhancing the historic environment), 212 -213 (the status of the NPPF in relation to
development plans).

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment
Design
Health and Wellbeing
Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment
Land affected by contamination
Noise
Open space, sports and recreation facilities, public rights of way and local green space.
Planning Obligations
Use of Planning Conditions
Viability
Water supply, wastewater and water quality

Bearing Fruits 2031 — The Swale Borough Local Plan (adopted July 2017): Policies
ST1 (delivering sustainable development in Swale), ST2 (development targets for jobs
and homes), ST3 (Swale settlement strategy), ST4 (meeting local plan targets), ST6
(the Isle of Sheppey area strategy), CP2 (promoting sustainable transport), CP3
(delivering a wide choice of quality homes), CP4 (good design), CP5 (health and
wellbeing), CP6 community facilities to meet local needs), CP7 (providing for green
infrastructure), CP8 (conserving / enhancing the historic environment), A12 (site
allocation policy for land west of Barton Hill Drive, Minster), DM6 (managing transport
demand and impact), DM7 (vehicle parking), DM8 (affordable housing), DM14
(general development criteria), DM17 (open space, sports and recreation provision),
DM19 (sustainable design and construction), DM21 (water, flooding and drainage),
DM24 (conserving and enhancing valued landscapes), DM25 (Important Local
Countryside Gaps), DM28 (biodiversity and geological conservation), DMZ29
(woodlands, trees and hedges), DM31 (agricultural land), DM32 (development
involving listed buildings), DM34 (scheduled monuments and archaeological sites)

Policy ST6 is specific to development on the Isle of Sheppey. The following numbered
criteria within the policy are relevant to this application —

On the Isle of Sheppey, settlements within the West Sheppey Triangle are the focus of
development and long-term change. Development proposals will, as appropriate:

5. For larger scales of development, be well located in respect of the most accessible
parts of the Island to both car and public transport and, where appropriate, bring
forward improvements to the A2500 Lower Road;

7. Reduce levels of deprivation in the most deprived wards and facilitate as required,
increased capacity in infrastructure and services;

8. Manage the level of risk from climate change, flooding and coastal change,
especially where subject to the Policy DM 21 and Policy DM 23;

29
Page 35



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1
APPENDIX 1
Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

9. Improve the condition and quality of landscapes in the area, especially those in poor
condition and ensure that development is appropriate to landscape character and
quality, especially within landscape designations and areas with low or moderate
capacity to accommodate change. Additionally, the Council will seek to bring landscape
wide initiatives to Sheppey to improve landscape condition;

10. Where possible, achieve net gains in biodiversity and natural/semi-natural
greenspace at development sites and minimise and mitigate impacts on internationally
designated sites for biodiversity, including, from developments within 6 km of an SPA,
contributions toward the North Kent Strategic Access Management and Monitoring
Strategy (SAMMS) in accordance with Policy CP 7. The Council will, where
appropriate, establish the Island as a focus for achieving net gains in biodiversity both
through the appropriate mitigation and compensation of projects within the Borough
and further afield;

11. Unless allocated by the Local Plan, avoid the loss of high quality agricultural land in
accordance with Policy DM 31;

12. Maintain the individual character and separation of important local countryside gaps
between the settlements of Minster, Halfway, Queenborough and Sheerness in
accordance with Policy DM 25; and

13. Make effective heritage protection, integration and enhancement a priority, whilst
conserving and enhancing the historic and special interests of the town, coast, rural
area and landscapes.

4.07 Policy A12 is specific to the application site and states as follows —

Planning permission will be granted for a minimum of 620 dwellings, including
landscape, open space and transport improvements on land to the west of Barton Hill
Drive, Minster, as shown on the Proposals Map. Proposals shall accord with a
Masterplan/development brief and these, together with planning applications will:

1. Accord with Policy CP 4, in particular provide a strong landscape framework (shown
by a submitted Landscape Strategy and a Landscape and Ecological Management
Plan) to integrate the development into the wider landscape and achieve a net gain in
biodiversity, including the provision of:

a. substantial woodland buffers on the southern and western boundaries of the
development and, if necessary, on adjoining land, to be provided as advance planting;
b. open space to serve the needs of the development, including a significant proportion
of Accessible Natural Greenspace, and green corridors incorporating existing and new
footpath routes;

c. retention of existing site features, including existing hedgerows and the overgrown
orchard to the rear of Parsonage Chase, which shall be positively managed;

d. a site wide landform parameter plan, showing how the existing landform will be
respected and how the extent of cut and fill associated with roads and developable
parcels will be minimised; and

e. conserve the setting of the listed building at Parsonage Farm and undertake a
Heritage Assessment, assessing any potential impact on heritage assets.

2. Achieve high quality design, responding to local landscape character and
distinctiveness as identified by the Swale Landscape Character and Biodiversity
Appraisal, 2011. Building heights should reflect the scale and form of existing
surrounding development. Individual reserve matters planning applications will be
governed by an agreed design code;

3. Through both on and off site measures, ensure that any significant adverse impacts
on European sites through recreational pressure shall be mitigated in accordance with

30
Page 36



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

Policies CP 7 and DM28, including a financial contribution towards the Strategic Access
Management and Monitoring Strategy;

4. Provide a mix of housing in accordance with Policy CP 3, including provision for
affordable housing in accordance with Policy DM 8;

5. Be accompanied by a Health Impact Assessment in accordance with Policy CP 5;

6. Provide a footpath and cycle path links to the surrounding area;

7. Deliver a scheme of transport improvements to address capacity issues in the area
including the A2500 between Cowstead Corner and Barton Hill Drive, the junction of the
A2500 with Barton Hill Drive and provisions for cyclist and public transport (inc. rail
facilities); and

8. Provision of infrastructure needs arising from the development, including those
identified by the Local Plan Implementation and Delivery Schedule, notably education
and health provision.

4.08 Supplementary Planning Documents:

4.09

4.10

4.1

The Swale Landscape Character and Biodiversity Appraisal, 2011
Developer Contributions SPD 2009

Housing Land Supply

Paragraph 73 of the NPPF (2018) requires that Local Planning Authorities should
identify and update annually a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to meet a
minimum 5 year housing supply. Paragraph 11 of the NPPF sets out a presumption in
favour of sustainable development, and states —

“For decision-taking this means:

¢) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan
without delay; or

d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are
most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission
unless:

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.”

The footnote to paragraph 11 explains that paragraph d) applies to applications
involving the provision of housing where the local planning authority cannot
demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites (with the appropriate buffer,
as set out in paragraph 73); or where the Housing Delivery Test indicates that the
delivery of housing was substantially below (less than 75% of) the housing requirement
over the previous three years. Transitional arrangements for the Housing Delivery Test
are also set out in the NPPF.

At the time of writing this report, the Council’s five year land supply position is subject to
change. This is because the Government has yet to publish the November 2018
results of its new Housing Delivery Test (HDT). The HDT tests the Council’s
performance on the number of housing completions achieved over the previous three
years against prescribed percentage thresholds that relate to their housing targets with
various consequences for failure. One of these is that a failure in the HDT influences

31
Page 37



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

412

413

4.14

the Council’s five year land supply position because it determines a key component of
the housing land supply calculation; namely the buffer that should be added to any
accrued shortfalls in delivery against the prescribed five year requirement. Paragraph
73 (footnote 39) of the NPPF requires application of a 20% buffer where the HDT
indicates that delivery was below 85% of the housing requirement.

In the current absence of the HDT results, the NPPF is clear that at the time of writing
this report, the buffer to be applied should be 5%. This means that for the 2017/18
monitoring year the Council would have a five year supply of 5.3 years. This being the
case, the determination of this application should follow the statutory status of the Local
Plan in that where there is conflict with a proposal, planning permission should not be
granted, unless material considerations indicate that the Plan should not be followed.

Members should note that when the results of the HDT are published (which could be
prior to the planning committee meeting), this will almost certainly show that the
Council’s five year supply will be approximately 4.6 years. This is because Swale will
fail the element of the HDT that influences the ‘buffer’, resulting in a 20% buffer needing
to be added to the 2017/18 ‘shortfall’ and prescribed five year requirement.  Unless,
when the HDT results are released, the Government has made unexpected changes to
the methodology of the HDT itself, as set out in the NPPF, the HDT results for Swale
can be forecasted with some certainty from Government published information on
completions already in the public domain. This being the case, paragraph 11d)i-ii
within the NPPF would need to be applied; namely that specific policies in the
Framework would need to give clear reasons for refusal or that the adverse impacts
would need to significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed
against the NPPF as a whole. This would also affect the weight to be applied to
relevant policies such as ST3, DM24-26 and DM31 of the adopted Local Plan; their
weight being diminished relative to the provision of housing.

If the results of the HDT are available, a further update on this position will be provided
to Members at the meeting. However, in my final balancing and conclusions section, |
have assessed the application based on the position at the point of writing this report,
namely that the Council is currently able to demonstrate a five year supply of housing.

LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS
Total Neighbour representations = 249

Reasons for objections (= 248)

Design

e Over-development

e Some of the buildings are odd shapes

e Much more detail of plots and buildings is needed for clarity

Amenity

e Noise, dust, smell and light pollution and adverse impact to the landscape during
construction phase

e A dumping ground for trouble makers from other areas

e Increase in anti-social behavior and crime

e Loss of views

e The environment will become noisier due to increased traffic

Highways and Parking

o Exacerbation of excessive traffic queues

32
Page 38



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1
APPENDIX 1
Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

e Increase traffic will prevent emergency vehicles accessing the island beyond
Barton Hill

o Benefit from the current road improvements will be negated

e The proposed roundabout and widening of the lower road from Cowstead Corner
is insufficient to deal with increased traffic

e There are no plans to revamp Cowstead Corner which creates most of the traffic

congestion

Installing a cycle lane and footpath will not be sufficient

Due to increased traffic emergency vehicles will take longer to get to casualties

Insufficient parking provision

There is no mention on the plan of the position of the proposed cycle lanes

The cycle access path through Parsonage Chase will adversely affect highway

safety and the convenience of road users on Parsonage Chase

e Existing public transport is non-existent

e Highways safety issues crossing Barton Hill Drive

Infrastructure

¢ Insufficient jobs, school places, health services, and facilities and inadequate
road and utilities infrastructure, public transport

e Section 106 money will not be enough to update the existing infrastructure

e The local facility will not be built — look at Thistle Hill as an example

Trees, Landscaping, Green space

¢ Insufficient green space

e Loss of green space, farmland

e It is not clear whether the new trees proposed at the very end of Parsonage
Chase will be a buffer zone or are going to be in the gardens of the new houses
and if so under whose control

e These trees will take time to mature if they are going to be a screen for the
existing housing stock

e Orchard / woodland behind Parsonage Chase is not protected along the eastern
edge of the site

e There is no good quality boundary treatment proposed for the pedestrian / cycle
access path existing to the North East of the development through to Parsonage
Chase

Ecology

e Loss of wildlife habitats

Air Quality

e Increased air pollution due increase in traffic

e Lack of information on air quality

Waste and Recycling

o Waste Excessive waste generation waste operatives struggle to keep up with
recycling and disposal

Housing / Affordable Housing

e No shortage of housing on the island. There is existing approval for over 500
houses on the Island that have not yet been built.

e The dwellings will only benefit individuals and families from outside the area

e There would be no affordable housing

e Some affordable housing would go to vulnerable tenants out of their area

Policy

e The development does not meet the sustainability tests of national or local policy

e Brownfield land should be considered first

e This was a late addition to the local plan and was not subject to appropriate public
consultation

33
Page 39



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

6.01

6.02

6.03

6.04

¢ The southern section of the site plan does not accord with the Local Plan
Tourism

o Due to exacerbation of traffic problem, tourists will be reluctant to visit

Other

¢ No thought in providing good quality consumer outlets in Sheppey

¢ No amount of amendments will make this scheme acceptable

Reasons for support (= 1)

o Efforts to mitigate the impact of the proposed development on neighboring
properties

e Provision made for a convenience store / community facility

CONSULTATIONS
Minster Parish Council

Original comments — object on the grounds that

o the site area exceeds the policy allocation.

¢ Intensification of development on the south side with open space south of Lower
Road that would be inaccessible to residents
700 dwellings is excessive and beyond the local plan policy

e Impact upon infrastructure

Further comments (05/10/18)

State that “Due to the proposal being agreed for inclusion within the Swale Borough
Local Plan [Policy A12] despite Minster-on-Sea Parish Council fighting very hard
against this large-scale development on account of its perceived impact on local
infrastructure, the Parish Council could find no material considerations from which to
object. The Parish Council hopes the full application leads to a sustainable
development that meets the needs of the existing and future local population.”

Further comments (07/12/18)

“Whilst Minster-on-Sea Parish Council's (MPC's) hands are tied and it has no option
but to abide by the Planning Inspector's ruling on the Local Plan regarding the
development of the Barton Hill site and bearing in mind that the figure of 700 dwellings
has been set to secure the Section 106 funding of the A2500 Lower Road
improvements despite its strongest opposition at the Local Plan Public Examinations
Hearings, it is MPC's fervent hope that the full application accords with the terms and
conditions clearly defined in the original proposal particularly in respect of density,
visual impact, location and associated Local Plan Policy”

KCC Highways

Original comments (summarised) (03/08/18)

e The TA acknowledges congestion problems at the Lower Road / Barton Hill Drive
junction.
e Local bus services have been correctly identified. However, such services are
limited in frequency and destination.
o Contest that the site is conveniently located in relation to local services and
facilities.
e Road safety data suggests that mitigation to minimize pedestrian / cyclist
34

Page 40



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

6.05

incidents on the local road network is required.

e Main access into the site accords with local plan policy. This access is under
construction, the land having been provided at no cost by the landowner. The
plan needs updating to reflect the latest approved roundabout design.

e The second access point meets Kent Design criteria for a Major Access Road.

e There are insufficient pedestrian crossing facilities on Barton Hill Drive. A puffin
crossing is a minimum requirement for access to Sheppey hospital / Thistle Hill
Academy.

e The Parsonage Chase and Lovell Road footpath links fail to meet design criteria
for walking routes and need to be amended.

e Walking and cycling connections to the south and via Lower Road are good, but
the development should explore measures to provide better connections beyond
Cowstead Corner and to link to cycle route 174 via the lane through Wallend.

e The Western footway of Barton Hill Drive would remain incomplete requiring
users to cross Barton Hill Drive.

o A study of routes to existing facilities should be provided.

e The site does not contain any local / community facilities. It is recommended that
a small local centre is provided to reduce car dependence and for access
purposes.

e Proximity of the site to public transport is well in excess of recommended
distances. A contribution should be sought to increase the frequency of services.

e Trip generation from the development is agreed.

e Additional junction assessments are required.

e The road hierarchy and parking would suggest that Kent Design standards would
be applied.

e Conclude that further assessments are required, but that greater pedestrian
improvements for access to services, or provision of on-site facilities is required to
meet sustainability tests.

Further comments (summarised) (13/09/18)

e Continue to place a holding objection on the scheme.

e The Highway Authority maintains that, in its present form, the development is
unlikely to meet the sustainability tests of local or national policy. It is
recommended that options are proposed that improve the sustainability of the
site. In no particular order this could include greater pedestrian or public transport
mitigations for access to services, alternatively that a small local centre is
provided on the Eastern side of the development.

e The Transport Assessment assumes that 30% of development traffic would walk,
using TEMPRO data for the Model Super Output Area Swale (004). This however
does not take into account the site-specific restrictions, distances and
environment that make walking from the proposed development far less
achievable.

e Those junctions assessed to the North of the development all exceed capacity by
the end of the Local Plan period with this development having the greatest impact
within that period. It is clear that the level of development proposed, without local
amenities within a walkable distance, is unsustainable.

e It is acknowledged that the development is offering to make contributions to the
Lower Road and Barton Hill roundabout mitigation schemes. These partially
address congestion issues of traffic heading South, however do not provide a
complete pedestrian/cycle link to the Neats Court amenities.

35
Page 41



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1
Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1
6.06 Further comments (summarised) (12/10/18)
¢ Note that the masterplan has responded positively to include land provision for a
local / community facility and a defined corridor between the site and Parsonage
Chase
e Seek measures to improve access to public transport through improvements to
bus services.
e Require a crossing facility on Barton hill Drive and pedestrian improvements to
Lovell Road to be secured.
o Seek funding to improve walking / cycling facilities to access Neats Court.
e State that an uplift in the contribution to deal with possible improvements to the
Cowstead Corner roundabout may be required.
e Advise that testing of the Wallend junction to Lower Road has been requested to
address evidence of queueing at this junction.
o Measures to reduce congestion at Halfway Road/Minster Road/The Crescent are
requested.
6.07 Further comments (summarised) (12/02/19)

The applicant has acknowledged the need to reduce vehicular movements from
the site and has agreed to a residents incentive package to provide £300 per unit
to encourage use of sustainable transport means.

The request for a Puffin crossing has been accepted and this should be delivered
via a S278 Agreement rather than a S106 agreement.

A financial contribution has been agreed to improve walking / cycling on the old
Queenborough Road, to improve access to Neats Court, and to connect with the
Lower Road improvements.

Tactile Crossing provision for Lovell Road is agreed and would be expected to be
delivered via a S278 Agreement.

A 3 metre wide shared use route, surfaced and lit, will be provided to connect the
site to Parsonage Chase.

The additional above measures are considered to provide sufficient mitigation to
address previous concerns relating to the operation of the Barton Hill Drive /
Minster Road roundabout.

The applicant has agreed to make a financial contribution to enable the Highway
Authority to install some mitigation measures to improve the performance of the
Halfway Road / Minster Road / Crescent junction and discourage existing issues
of increased traffic on the surrounding roads, namely, Holmside Avenue,
Adelaide Gardens, Southdown Road, Highfield Road and Banner Way. It is
agreed that the improvements to Lower Road and the Cowstead corner would
further mitigate the impact of routes to the North.

Should the application be recommended for approval, KCC Highways recommend

that a number of conditions are applied — (Officer note - these are set out in the
list of conditions below).

KCC Highways also require the following S106 contributions —

A contribution of £1,223,000 along with any land required to deliver the proposed
Lower Road capacity improvement scheme following a recommendation to
approve. Land will be required immediately under licence with a further
requirement to transfer land at a point requested by the Highway Authority.

A contribution of £20,000 towards traffic management and control in the vicinity of

36
Page 42



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

6.08

6.09

6.10

6.11

6.12

6.13

the Minster Road/Halfway Road junction.

e A contribution of £20,000 for pedestrian and cycling improvements along the
Queenborough Road.

e A commitment to provide the identified “Sustainable Transport Incentives” on
point of sale of each dwelling

Highways England

Original comments —

e Advise that it will be concerned with proposals that have the potential to impact on
the safe and efficient operation of the SRN, in this case the A249 around
Queenborough and further south towards the M2.

e Advise that insufficient data and highways modelling has been provided within the
Transport Assessment to reach a conclusion that significant / severe impacts
upon the highway network would not occur.

¢ Note that an addendum TA is to be provided. Require information to include
congestion from queueing at the A249 / A2500 junction, the effect of road
improvements at Barton Hill Drive on the A249, and the impact of additional traffic
on the A249/M2 junction, Grovehurst and Bobbing junctions

Further comments (summarised) (30/01/19)

Recommend that the following conditions should be attached to any permission
granted —

e That no more than 250 dwellings are occupied prior to the M2 Junction 5 works
being completed.
e Imposition of a construction Management Plan.

Natural England

Raise no objection, but advise that this proposed development, and the

application of measures (SAMMS) to avoid or reduce the likely harmful effects on the
SPA / Ramsar sites , may need to be formally checked and confirmed by the Council,
as the competent authority, via an appropriate assessment in accordance with the
Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2017.

KCC Ecology
Advise that they have reviewed the ecological information submitted in support of this

planning application and that sufficient information has been provided in regards to
the impacts upon protected species. No objection is raised in relation to the survey
information.

Advise that there is a requirement to undertake an Appropriate Assessment due to the
increase in recreational pressure upon the nearby SPA and Ramsar site, and that the
applicant is required to undertake financial contributions as outlined within the SAMM.

Advise that if planning permission is to be granted, conditions are attached to secure
e Biodiversity Method Statement;

o Ecological Design Strategy; and,

¢ Landscape and Environmental Management Plan (LEMP).

37
Page 43



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

6.14

6.15

KCC Developer Contributions team

Request the following contributions —

e Primary school land acquisition - £2026.22 per dwelling and £506.56 per
applicable flat (Total £1,336,292.30 based on indicative housing mix)

e Primary education build costs - £4535 per dwelling and £1134 per applicable flat
(Total £2,990,846 based on indicative housing mix)

e Secondary Education build costs - £4687 per dwelling and £1172 per applicable
flat (Total £3,091,090 based on indicative housing mix)

e Secondary land acquisition - £1932.16 per dwelling and £483.04 per applicable

flat (Total £1,274,231 based on indicative housing mix)

Community learning - £60.43 per dwelling (total 42,298.68)

Youth services £37.58 per dwelling (total £26,308.25)

Libraries £48.02 per dwelling (total £33,611.07)

Social care £60.09 per dwelling (total £42,693.00)

Provision of 7 wheelchair adaptable homes as part of the on site affordable

homes delivery

e Recommend that high speed broadband infrastructure is provided.

The KCC Developer Contributions team have subsequently advised that the school
land acquisition costs are no longer needed, and that a sum of £820,000 is acceptable
for Secondary school build costs.

NHS Swale Clinical Commissioning Group

6.16

State that the development would place additional pressure on local health facilities. A
financial contribution (based upon 700 units at 2.4 persons per unit) of £604,800 is
sought to mitigate this.

SBC Greenspaces Manager

6.17

6.18

6.19

Advises that the application includes provision of 12.5ha of open space and formal
sports provision against a desired level of 10.7ha identified in the Local Plan
Allocation. When taking account of the increased number of proposed dwellings within
the outline proposal at 700 as opposed to 620, the proposed level of provision still
meets the standards identified in the Open Spaces & Play Area Strategy.

Advises that the general open space concept includes buffer planting to the west and
southern boundaries, which is less than compared to the site allocation plan. There is
a compromise between such planting and usable open space elsewhere. While a 15m
buffer is indicated on the landscape strategy plan, the buffer between development at
Thistle Hill and Lower Road seems to work adequately at something approaching 20m
in width.

Has some reservations at the level of SUDS incorporated into the open space,
although it is not clear if they are all permanently wet facilities. While clearly important
for drainage and biodiversity etc. there is always a balance to ensure enough usable
recreational open space is supplied.

38
Page 44



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

6.20

6.21

6.22

6.23

6.24

6.25

6.26

The general concepts around planting with predominantly native species is
appropriate, although would like to see areas of more formal and higher quality
planting in appropriate areas such as the play areas and gateways to central core
open space and sports area.

Play area provision is adequate and would expect to see the proposed central facility as
a Neighbourhood (FIT Standards) sized facility to include ball court provision with two
small LEAPs to the north and east.

Formal sports provision includes for an area of dedicated pitches, however there is no
indication of associated facilities or car parking and | feel this is an area that needs
appropriate strengthening.

Officer note — further discussions have been held with the Green spaces manager. The
original proposal to provide formal sports pitches has now been changed. An off site
contribution towards the improvement of existing sports facilities (in this case the
Sheppey Rugby Club changing rooms) has been secured, and the formal sports
provision shown on the plans is likely to include a more informal “kick about” facility
rather than a formal sports pitch.

Historic England

Do not wish to comment on the application.

Southern Water

Comment on the location of main / trunk sewers through the site and the need for these
to be protected. Advise that there is an increased risk of flooding unless network
reinforcements are carried out. This would be funded through the New Infrastructure
Charge and through Southern Water Capital Works programme. Request that a
planning condition is imposed to control phasing to align with network reinforcement.
However, some initial dwellings could be connected pending such reinforcement.
Advise that water supply can be provided and that any surface water SUDS scheme
should include details of maintenance

Environment Agency

Do not wish to make any comments

KCC Drainage team

Raise no objection subject to conditions. They are satisfied with the drainage design,
with the incorporation of SuDS, and discharge rates restricted to Greenfield conditions.

Swale Footpaths Group

6.27 Advise that If the application is approved it is essential to establish the legal status of

new footpaths and the responsibility for their upkeep.

KCC Public Rights of Way

39
Page 45



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1
APPENDIX 1
Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1
6.28 Raise no objection to the development proposal, though it is requested that the future
maintenance responsibilities of the proposed new footpaths and cycle links are clarified
before the application is approved.
Kent Police
6.29 Advise that the application clearly considers crime prevention but highlight detailed

design elements that require further consideration. Advise that this can be resolved
through a future meeting or via planning conditions.

Environmental Protection Team Leader

6.30 Advises that whilst he would have preferred an air quality assessment to have been
submitted with this application, due to the lack of evidence and monitoring of air
pollution as an issue of concern on Sheppey, he is prepared to accept that an air quality
assessment is not necessary.

6.31 Advises that a noise survey was submitted with the application, and which identifies that
those properties nearest to the A2500 and Barton Hill Drive are the most likely to be
adversely affected by noise, though at worst this is predicted to be a ‘medium’ impact.
Although he accepts the report at this stage, it will be important to see the location and
plans particularly showing the orientation of properties in the full application. With the
knowledge of this report, he would expect a further acoustic intervention advising the
developer what glazing is necessary for the closest properties to both these busy roads.

6.32 Advises that a planning condition be imposed to deal with potential contamination of the
site.

7 BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS

7.01 The application, as amended, incorporates a Development Brief and Design and
Access Statement, a Site Parameter plan, an lllustrative Masterplan, a Supporting
Planning Statement, a Transport Assessment, Ecology and Protected Species reports,
a Landscape and Visual Impact Appraisal, a Noise Report, A Statement of Community
Involvement, An Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment and Heritage Statement, a
Flood Risk Assessment, a Health Impact Assessment, Tree Constraints plans, and a
Viability Assessment.

8 APPRAISAL

8.01 This application is for a large scale residential-led development over a site area of
some 35.7 hectares. The proposal is for the erection of up to 700 dwellings and this
would make a significant contribution towards the delivery of housing in the Borough.
This would support the Government’s nationwide objective to significantly boost the
supply of housing as set out in paragraph 59 of the NPPF.

8.02 A large part of the application site is allocated for residential development under Policy
A12 of the Local Plan. The site allocation extends to an area of 29 Hectares (it is
incorrectly referred to as a 25 Ha site in the supporting text to Policy A12). The majority
of the allocation forms part of this application, but not all of it (see below for further
detail). Policy A12 sets out that planning permission will be granted for a minimum of
620 dwellings, including landscape, open space and transport improvements.

40
Page 46



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

8.03

8.04

8.05

8.06

8.07

8.08

8.09

As a large part of the site falls within the site allocation and within the built confines of
Minster as defined in the Local Plan, the principle of development on this part of the site
is accepted, subject to compliance with the specific criteria as set out under policy A12,
as well as other adopted Plan policies and national guidance. In particular, the
impacts on such matters as, countryside, settlement separation and use of agricultural
land have already been considered as part of the Local Plan process.

Further areas of land (mainly contained within three land parcels) to the south and west
of the site allocation are included within the application, amounting to some 6.7
Hectares in total. The additional parcels of land to the far west and to the south of the
site (on the southern side of Lower Road) are primarily to provide drainage facilities for
the development (and to deal with highways surface water drainage from Lower Road
and the new roundabout), and no additional housing is proposed in these areas. The
third parcel of land amounts to an area of approx. 2.1 Hectares, and is the land that
forms a “recessed area” along the western boundary of the allocated site. This parcel
would be utilised as part of the “development area” of the application site and would
contain housing.

As a result, the application site would have different / additional impacts when

compared to the A12 policy allocation. The key differences are listed as follows —

. The application site excludes the area of overgrown orchard to the north, which
falls within the site allocation (approx. 0.8Ha in size).

° The application site excludes a parcel of land to the east of the site (approx.
1.1Ha in size)

° The application site includes an additional parcel of land for housing (approx. 2.1
Ha in size) and two additional areas of land primarily for drainage purposes
(approx. 4.6Ha in size).

o The application includes the potential for a local shop / community facility.

. The area of land shown for landscaping / open space

o The extent to which the additional land take would impact upon the countryside
and Important Local Countryside Gap, and the loss of additional agricultural land.

The development concepts plan under Policy A12 of the Local Plan is attached as
Appendix 1. A plan of the application site is attached as Appendix 2. A comparison of
these plans will assist with the points above.

Policy ST3 of the adopted Plan sets out the settlement strategy for Swale and states
that at locations in the open countryside outside of built up area boundaries,
development will not be permitted unless where supported by national policy and able
to demonstrate it would contribute to protecting and (where appropriate) enhancing the
intrinsic value, landscape setting, tranquillity and beauty of the countryside. Policy
DM25 of the adopted Plan protects the individual character and setting of settlements
(including between Queenborough, Minster and Halfway).

The extent to which the development beyond the site allocation boundaries would
conflict with policies that seek to protect the intrinsic value, setting, tranquillity and
beauty of the countryside, and the local countryside gap is considered in the following
sections, as are a range of other impacts, including those listed in paragraph 8.07
above.

As such, whilst the majority part of the application site which falls within the site
allocation under policy A12 of the Local Plan is in principle acceptable, the development

41
Page 47



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

8.10

8.11

8.12

8.13

8.14

proposed extends significantly beyond this site allocation and it therefore needs to be
assessed in the light of national and local policy as a whole.

The planning policy implications relating to inclusion of the unallocated land
parcels

The application includes the use of three land parcels that fall outside of the site
allocation policy. This land is open in character, similar to the existing site and adjacent
land. Two parcels are located on the west side of the site, and also fall within an
Important Local Countryside Gap (ILCG), the purpose of which (in this instance) is to
avoid coalescence between the settlements of Minster, Halfway and Queenborough.
The third parcel is located to the south of Lower Road and is not within the ILCG.

A parcel of land amounting to 2.1 Ha in size is included on the west side of the site, and
is indicatively shown to accommodate part of the proposed housing area, part of the
central area of open space, and part of the strategic landscaping on the western
boundary. In my opinion, the loss of this land would have some harmful impact upon
the character and appearance of the countryside, and would also result in the loss of a
small part of the designated Important Local Countryside Gap. The effect of this is
however reduced by the limited size and the location of this parcel of land which sits
within a recessed area on the western boundary, and the site allocation boundary
wraps around 3 sides of it. Effectively the inclusion of this land would “square off’ the
western boundary. Nonetheless, there would be some conflict with Policies ST3 and
DM25 of the Local Plan.

The remaining two parcels would be utilised primarily to accommodate the SuDS / pond
facilities required for drainage purposes. There would be no housing or formal built
form in these areas, although opportunities would exist to use the western parcel for
other recreational uses (such as a path around the SuDS facility). The proposed
parcels would essentially retain the character of the land as open and undeveloped,
and in this respect | do not consider that the use of these parcels for ancillary drainage /
recreational uses would be materially harmful to the character of the countryside or the
functioning / purpose of the Important Local Gap.

The 2.1 Ha parcel of land to the west of the site that would contain housing is in
separate ownership to the land within the application site. The owner of thisland  also
owns the parcel of land adjacent to Lower Road that is required for the widening works.
Members may be aware that these widening works have been subject to successful
National Productivity Investment Funding of some £3.2m. However, this funding is time
limited and must be spent by April 2020. Part of the terms of the application is that if
permission is granted, land at Lower Road will be made available for the widening
works. Without this land, the widening works could not be carried out along the full
length between Cowstead Corner and Barton Hill Drive. If the land is not willingly
provided, the only other scenario to acquire this land would be through compulsory
purchase, which is a lengthy process and would not be concluded in time for the
widening works to take place.

The additional land take would result in the additional loss of some agricultural land.
However, this is limited in size and | note from Natural England / Defra maps that the
site has a low likelihood of containing BMV land. Whilst Policy DM31 does relate in part
to all agricultural land, there is a high likelihood that this land is of lower quality.
Provided that the benefits of allowing development beyond the site allocation are

42
Page 48



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

8.15

8.16

8.17

8.18

8.19

8.20

accepted in the planning balance, | do not consider the loss of this additional
agricultural land to be unacceptable

The Non-inclusion of land also allocated under the Local Plan

The application excludes two parcels of land that form part of the site allocation under
Policy A12. It is important for Members to understand the possible consequences of
this.

The land parcel to the north (0.8 Ha) contains an overgrown orchard, and Members will
note that one criteria from Policy A12 was to retain and positively manage this land. As
this land falls outside the control of the application, it cannot be required to be positively
managed. However, the existing function of this land, as at least a green setting to the
development would be beneficial. There is potential that a future application could be
made for the development of this land. However, this will be considered against any
ecological / landscape benefits of the existing orchard, and against the policy A12
criteria that the orchard should be retained.

The land parcel to the east (approx. 1.1 Ha) has also not been secured as part of the
development. This land consists of an open field with hedges to the boundary. There is
potential that this land could come forward for development in the future and it would
benefit from specific allocation in the local plan, as well as being within the “built
confines” of the settlement. The outline planning application includes proposals to
provide a means of access to this land to avoid it becoming “sterilised”

Design and layout for the proposed development

Policy Position

Policy A12 of the adopted Local Plan sets out that development of the allocated site
should be in accordance with a masterplan / development brief, and which should
accord with policy CP4, particularly a strong landscape framework achieving
substantial woodland buffers on the southern and western boundaries of the site, open
space to serve the needs of the development, retention of existing site features,
including hedges and the overgrown orchard, a site-wide landform parameter plan, and
measures to conserve the setting of the adjacent listed building at Parsonage Farm.
The development should achieve a high quality design, responding to landscape
character, using building heights to respond to existing development, and use of an
agreed design code for subsequent reserved matters. The scheme should deliver a mix
of housing, including provision for affordable housing in accordance with Policy DM8,
and provide footpath and cycle path links to the surrounding area.

Policy CP3 requires development to provide a wide choice of quality homes, providing a
suitable mix of unit types and catering for different needs, including the provision of
affordable housing.

Policy CP4 states that all developments should be of a high quality design, should
create safe and attractive places, promote / reinforce local distinctiveness, make safe
connections using green corridors for pedestrians, cyclists and biodiversity, retain
features that contribute to local character and distinctiveness, conserve and enhance
landscape features, provide a mix of uses, building forms and densities, use densities
determined by the context and defining characteristics of the area, be appropriate in

43
Page 49



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

8.21

8.22

8.23

8.24

scale, height, massing and materials, provide management of spaces, features and
social infrastructure, and maximise opportunities for sustainable deign.

General site layout

The application is made in outline with only means of access to be determined at this
stage. The main access to the site would be via the new roundabout at the junction of
Barton Hill Drive and Lower Road. A second access would be provided in the form of a
T-junction onto Barton Hill Drive.

The application includes a Development Brief and a site parameter plan. This has been
amended during the course of the application taking into account comments received
through the consultation process and also through a Design Review.

The Development Brief and parameters plan establish a number of principles for the

development, which include —

° A landscaped buffer along the southern and western boundaries of the main site,
of a minimum 20 metres in width.

. A range of open space typologies throughout the development, including a
central “green heart” containing open space, a Neighbourhood Equipped Area of
Play (NEAP) and a ball court, with other smaller areas of equipped play space,
green corridors ecology areas and open SuDS.

. Provision of a site for a local convenience store / community facility of up to 650
sgm in floor area.

° Areas of housing with differing densities, ranging from low density (up to 25 dph)
to high density (45+ dph). This includes parameters for up to 3 storey buildings in
certain locations within the central “spine” through the development (max 12
metres in height), and two storey buildings elsewhere (max 9 metres in height).
Locations for key / focal buildings are also shown.

. Areas of green space to the south of the Listed building at Parsonage Farm and
the existing orchard

. A network of pedestrian and cycle links within the site, including links to the north
via Parsonage Chase and the play area adjacent to Lovell Road, and links to the
west onto Lower Road.

Built Form Parameters

The parameter plan sets out that the scheme would adopt a range of building densities
through the site to provide different character areas, ranging from low density (up to 25
dph) in the far north of the site to high density (45+ dph at the main entrance point into
the development. The site would predominantly contain two storey development, with
some three storey development shown through the central part of the site.
Development along the site boundaries is all shown at two storeys, and this would
reflect the prevailing scale of residential development in the surrounding area. The use
of a mix of house types (see chapter below) together with the density and height
parameters would allow for different character areas to be provided, in accordance with
the “development principles” as set out in the Design Brief. These principles set out that
the site is capable of adopting a distinct identity, the details of which can be set through
use of a design code, which would be secured via a planning condition. Whilst a
landform parameter plan has not been submitted at this stage, | am content that this
can be secured as a condition and in turn will inform the detailed reserved matters
submissions.

Landscaping and open space
44
Page 50



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

8.25 The parameter plans demonstrate that a 20 metre deep landscape buffer would be

provided on the southern and western boundaries of the site. | am satisfied that this has
the potential to provide a strong woodland buffer to the development on these
boundaries, in accordance with Policy A12 of the Local Plan. This would include use of
some off-site land for landscaping (approx. 5 metres); however, | note that the wording
of the policy does allow for this. The submitted plans (as amended) demonstrate that
the southern and western boundaries would be landscaped during the first phase of the
development, and | am satisfied that this would provide substantial advance planting for
the development as a whole.

8.26 The extent of open space on the southern boundary of the site is not as substantial as

8.27

8.28

8.29

8.30

shown on the development concepts plan within the Local Plan. As a result, the areas
of housing development have moved further south towards Lower Road. The applicant
has submitted that there are two main reasons to take this approach. Firstly, that the
extent of land-take for the roundabout is, in practice, much greater than shown on the
concepts plan, and reduces the area of the site available for development. Secondly,
that the application proposes to utilise a large area of open space in an alternative
central location on the site, which has a number of advantages. It is more accessible to
all within the development and has the potential to form part of a central feature area,
and it is located on a flatter part of the site that is naturally more suited to formal play /
sports provision.

Whilst | agree that a substantial landscaped buffer area is necessary on the southern
boundary, | do accept that some of this space could be better utilised in a more central
area on the site, and that a minimum 20 metre buffer would create a similar landscaped
edge to the site than at the Thistle Hill development further to the east. In my opinion,
provided that a minimum 20 metre buffer is secured, this has the potential to provide a
suitable strong landscape edge to the development on the sensitive southern and
western boundaries. The wider impacts of this on the landscape are considered later in
this report.

The existing site is generally open farmland, with some limited boundary and field
hedges. Some landscaping has already been removed on the south east boundary of
the site to facilitate the new roundabout, and | note from the tree survey undertaken that
the tree group on this boundary was generally of low quality. The outline parameters
seek to retain many hedgerows within the site as part of the green space network and
natural boundary vegetation, although some removal will be necessary to facilitate the
development. Detailed landscape proposals which include a scheme for the retention of
existing landscaping would be subject to reserved matters approval.

The development would deliver a minimum of 12.5 Hectares of open and green space
throughout the site, covering a range of typologies. The quantum and type of open
space is acceptable to the SBC Green Spaces Manager, and would include a centrally
located main area of open space containing neighbourhood play facilities and a ball
court, as well as smaller areas of play and green corridors throughout the site.

In my opinion, the scheme would accord with the criteria within Policy A12 of the Local
Plan, insofar that it would provide substantial woodland buffers on the southern and
western boundaries (albeit less than shown on the development concepts plan), would
provide a range of open space typologies to serve the needs of the development, and
has the potential to retain existing site features (mainly hedgerows) the exact detail of
which would come forward under reserved matters. Whilst the overgrown orchard to the

45
Page 51



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

8.31

north of the site is not included within the application and as such cannot be “managed”,
| am satisfied that the layout parameters demonstrate how the provision of open space
to the west and south of this land can be utilised to at least preserve the open setting to
this orchard and provide a “green ring” around it.

Provision of local facilities

Following amendments to the scheme, the application now proposes to make provision
for a local convenience store / community facility with the development. This provision
has been made following the Design Review process undertaken in July, and following
consultation responses, notably from KCC Highways.

8.32The site allocation policy does not specifically seek or require the provision of an on-site

8.33

8.34

8.35

8.36

8.37

facility. | am also very aware of concerns raised by Members on other development
sites where local facilities secured under a planning permission have not emerged,
including difficulties in attracting a local shop at the Thistle Hill development close to
this site.

My officers have been working with the applicant to negotiate a package that would
offer the best opportunity to successfully secure a local facility. The final detail of this is
yet to be secured, although the proposal at present includes the following —

That the land for a local facility would be made available by the developer at nil or a
nominal value

That £200,000 would be made available by the developer towards the build costs of
the local facility.

That marketing of the site would be through an agreed strategy

In my opinion, the above measures would offer a strong basis to secure a local facility,
which in turn would assist in place-making and sustainability objectives for the site. To
provide flexibility to give the best chance of success, | would recommend that the range
of uses to be permitted should be A1 (retail), A3 (restaurants and cafes), D1 (non-
residential institutional uses), and D2 (Assembly and Leisure).

Housing mix

As the application is in outline form, the housing mix is not set and this will come
forward in subsequent reserved matters applications. The Design and Access
statement sets out that the development will predominantly deliver predominantly 2, 3
and 4 bed units, and the viability assessment submitted with the application has been
based upon a split of 31.5% x 2 bed units, 60% x 3 bed units, and 8.5% x 4 bed units.
This compares favourably with the identified Borough-wide housing requirements that
seek predominantly 2 and 3 bedroom homes.

The application does not provide any affordable housing. As a general rule, policy DM8
does not require developments on the Island to deliver affordable housing, due to
viability reasons. However, there is scope under this policy to reconsider this position if
the particular characteristics of a development or economic conditions allow so.
Members will also note that Policy A12 makes reference to the delivery of affordable
housing “in accordance with Policy DM8”.

The viability appraisal submitted with the application has tested whether affordable
housing can be delivered on the site. This has been assessed by an independent

46
Page 52



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

8.38

8.39

8.40

8.41

8.42

8.43

8.44

8.45

viability consultant working for the Council, and he has advised that the site cannot
support affordable housing. This is considered further in the viability section below.

On this basis, | am satisfied that the development has the ability to deliver a mix of
housing types in accordance with current market housing needs. However, the scheme
cannot deliver affordable housing, although it should be noted that the delivery of
affordable housing on the Island is a recognised problem and that policy DM8 does not
normally require the delivery of such housing.

Design Review

The scheme was subject to a design review in July 2018. A copy of the review is
attached as Appendix 3. The review made a number of points relating to the
development, and the application has been amended in some respects to deal with
these. The main points raised are listed below with my further comments in italics.

A movement framework for the surrounding area, to include local facilities and services
should be provided and should inform connections and links from the application site —
A movement framework has been produced and demonstrates that the majority of local
facilities are provided to the north and east of the site. The application includes footpath
and cycle links to the north, and a main vehicle access to the east onto Barton Hill
Drive. Highways improvements would be made to Barton Hill Drive to secure a Puffin
Crossing facility. The Lower Road improvements would include cycle and pedestrian
improvements towards Queenborough and Neats Court. The development includes a
cycle / footpath route to the west to link to this.

Lack of Public Transport Provision — The S106 agreement will include clauses to either
provide facilities for a bus route to run through part of the site, or alternatively will
improve facilities on Barton Hill Drive. Incentives will be given to local residents (as
secured under the S106 Agreement) to receive vouchers for public transport or cycles.

The site topography should be used to maximise private and public views — The detail
of this will come forward at reserved matters stage. The parameters plan has been
amended to demonstrate how further open space can be incorporated at the highest
points of the development to the north.

An understanding of phasing is required, and each pocket of housing should come
forward with a variety of homes, green spaces and access — The application includes a
phasing plan which splits the site into 5 phases. The reserved matters for each phase
would need to include a quantum of green space and access routes. The reserved
matters would be expected to deliver a range of house types, based on the density
parameters for different parts of the site.

The ambition to handle surface water drainage within swales is positive, but these are
often located a significant distance from where water falls and will require a heavy-
handed engineering approach — the development would be required to dispose of
surface water via a SUDS —compliant scheme and the attenuation basins shown to the
west and south are designed for this purpose. The use of green corridors through the
development provides potential for further SUDS. This will be subject to a detailed
scheme required by condition

Effect on the setting of the listed building — this is considered later in this report

47
Page 53



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

8.46

8.47

8.48

8.49

8.50

8.51

8.52

8.53

Lack of local facilities — the applicant has amended the scheme to include provision of
an area to provide local facilities

Lack of evidence of hierarchy across the site — the revised site parameter plan includes
a greater range of building densities and heights to aid hierarchy and character.

Layout of the masterplan — the revised plan is more grid-like in form and demonstrates
greater legibility.

Conclusions on layout and design

The layout and design of the scheme is not fixed at this stage, but a series of
development principles and parameter plans submitted together with the masterplan
brief set broad principles for development. This establishes a strong landscape
framework for the site, with substantial landscape buffer areas to the south and west of
the site, use of green corridors through the site, and a central area of open space
providing main play and recreation facilities - with small areas in other parts of the site.
The proposals demonstrate that existing site features are capable of being largely
retained. The application includes provision for a local shop or community facility which
would add to place-making and sustainability objectives.

The development would be capable of providing a high quality design and includes a
mix of housing, densities and building heights. Subject to the imposition of a design
code, the reserved matters applications should demonstrate high quality design.
Footpath and cycle links would be provided through the site with links north onto
Parsonage Chase and Lovell Road, east onto Barton Hill Drive, and west leading to
Lower Road. The site also offers potential for a bus route. | am satisfied that the outline
scheme provides landscaping, layout and design parameters that accord with the
criteria under Policy A12 of the Local Plan.

Residential Amenity
Policy DM14 of the Local Plan states that developments shall cause no significant harm
to amenity and other sensitive uses or areas.

As the scheme is in outline form only, the exact relationship between the proposed
development and the surrounding area is not yet fixed. The key impacts are likely to be
the relationships with existing housing at Parsonage Chase, Willis Court off Lovell
Road, and existing dwellings on Barton Hill Drive.

The site parameters plan sets out that those areas of the site close to the above
locations would accommodate buildings no greater than 2 stories in height (max 9
metres), and it would be expected that the detailed layout submitted at reserved
matters stage would conform to conventional privacy standards (i.e. a separation
distance of 21 metres back to back). There would be a change in the view from existing
dwellings that face directly onto the site, however this is not protected under planning
legislation. In my opinion, there is no reason why a satisfactory relationship between
the new development and existing dwellings could not be achieved. On this basis |
consider the scheme is capable of being designed to avoid unacceptable impacts on
neighbouring dwellings, in accordance with Local Plan policy DM14.

Impact on Heritage Assets

Policy position

48
Page 54



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

8.54

8.55

8.56

8.57

8.58

8.59

8.60

8.61

Parsonage Farmhouse is a Grade |l listed building, located to the north of the site. It
consists of two parallel ranges, a back range of two storeys dating to early-mid 17t
Century, and a front range of 2 storeys dating to the 18t Century.

Section 66 of the Town and Country Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990 places a specific duty on a Local Planning Authority when considering
whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a listed building or
its setting, to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building, its
setting, or any features of special architectural interest it possesses. Members should
note that this places a strong presumption against harm to a listed building or its setting.

The NPPF states that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the
significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s
conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This
is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or
less than substantial harm to its significance. Any harm should require clear and
convincing justification. Where a development would lead to substantial harm, this
should be refused unless it can be demonstrated that such harm is necessary to
achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm. Where a development
proposal would lead to less than substantial harm, this should be weighed against the
public benefits of the proposal.

Policy DM32 of the Local Plan states that development proposals affecting a listed
building or its setting will be permitted provided that its special interest / setting is
preserved.

The site allocation policy A12 (criteria 1(e)) states that the development should
conserve the setting of the listed building at Parsonage Farm, and undertake a Heritage
Assessment, assessing any potential impact on heritage assets.

Impact of development on the setting of the listed building

The outline application is supported by a Heritage Statement. This sets out that the
majority of the heritage significance of this building derives from its architectural form,
however some is derived from its setting, including the perception of a farming
landscape that has historically been associated with the house. The assessment
explains that development would impact upon the perceived open farming
landscape setting of the former farmhouse (despite the house being severed from its
former farming function by 1931 and its lands reduced to domestic gardens), but that
such impact on setting falls within the “less than substantial harm” category.

The listed building is located immediately to the east of the overgrown orchard which,
as set out earlier, does not form part of this application and is therefore retained. Land
to the south of the listed building and orchard is shown to provide part of the open
space to the development. This open space would extend 20 metres to the south of the
garden to the listed building (which includes a fenced tennis court in this location). As
such any built form on the site would be approximately 100 metres form the listed
building itself. In addition, there is existing boundary landscaping that forms a screen
between the site and the listed building.

The proposal does include a footpath / cycle connection to Parsonage Chase that
would follow the western boundary of the garden to Parsonage Farmhouse. Although
this path would be formalised through hard surfacing, | do not consider it would cause
any material harm to the setting of the farmhouse.

49
Page 55



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

8.62

8.63

8.64

8.65

8.66

8.67

Conclusions on Heritage Impacts

Overall, there would be some limited harm to the setting of the farmhouse through
development of this site, and the resultant impact on the historic relationship between
the farmhouse and surrounding agricultural land. This harm would be mitigated by use
of the land by the boundary to the listed building as open space, and by the retention /
strengthening of existing boundary landscaping, and as such | consider the degree of
harm to be small.

Members will be aware that there is a statutory presumption in favour of the
preservation of heritage assets as set out in the policy section above. This carries
considerable weight in the decision making process, and case law makes clear that
permission should be refused unless the harm identified is outweighed by material
considerations powerful enough to do so. Therefore, whilst the identified harm falls
under the less than substantial category, there still need to be identified benefits to the
scheme that outweigh this harm. This is considered further in the final balancing and
conclusions section.

Ecology and Nature Conservation

Policy DM28 of the adopted Local Plan states that development proposals will
conserve, enhance and extend biodiversity, minimise adverse impacts and compensate
where impacts cannot be mitigated. Policy A12 requires the landscape framework for
the site to achieve a net gain in biodiversity, and to be secured through a Landscape
and Ecological Management Plan.

The application site does not fall within a site designated for biodiversity, but is within
the zone of influence of the Swale and Medway Estuary Special Protection Area(s) and
Ramsar Site(s), which lies approximately 800 metres to the south of Lower Road. In
accordance with advice from KCC Ecology and Natural England, the applicant has
confirmed payment of a financial contribution towards the North Kent Strategic Access
Management and Monitoring Strategy (SAMM) to mitigate for additional recreational
impacts on these designated sites. Members will be aware that this strategy has been
adopted by the Council to manage recreational impacts and is deemed to be
ecologically sound. An Appropriate Assessment has been undertaken by my officers
to ensure there is no adverse effect on the integrity of the site(s) in accordance with the
Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2017, and is attached as Appendix 4.

The application includes a preliminary ecological appraisal, Bat, Reptile, Great Crested
Newt, Water Vole, Wintering and Breeding Birds surveys. These surveys do not identify
any unacceptable impacts, but recommend precautionary and mitigation measures to
deal with protected species. These reports and measures are acceptable to the KCC
Ecologist.

As actively farmed land, the site is generally open and of limited ecological value. It is
not within a designated site, although the overgrown orchard to the north is priority
orchard habitat, and a priority deciduous woodland lies further to the north east of the
site (behind Highfield Road / Furze Hill Crescent). Existing site features are limited
largely to existing hedgerows. These are not classified as “important” within the survey
work, although many are shown to be retained as part of the development. The
provision of green space around the existing orchard and use of a landscaped buffer to

50
Page 56



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

8.68

8.69

8.70

8.71

8.72

8.73

8.74

the north west would assist in protecting the habitats identified above. The supporting
information sets out that the provision of substantial landscaping and different open
space typologies would enable overall biodiversity improvements to be achieved on the
site.

Overall, and taking into account advice from Natural England and the KCC Ecologist, |
am satisfied that the development would not give rise to unacceptable impacts on
biodiversity, and includes potential for substantial on-site mitigation measures to add
ecological value to the development. No objection is raised by either Natural England or
KCC Ecology, and | consider that the application would be in compliance with Policy
A12 and DM28 of the Local Plan.

Highways Impacts

Policy A12 of the Local Plan sets out that the development shall deliver a scheme of
transport improvements to address capacity issues in the area, including the A2500
between Cowstead Corner and Barton Hill Drive, the junction of the A2500 with
Barton Hill Drive, and provisions for cyclists and public transport. Policy IMP1 sets out
an implementation and delivery schedule for infrastructure and the supporting text
identifies the improvements to Lower Road as necessary infrastructure.

Policy CP6 of the Local Plan sets out that development will deliver timely infrastructure.
Chapter 8 identifies priorities for developer contributions for the first five years of the
plan, including transport infrastructure to help unlock growth for the remaining Local
Plan period.

Policy DM6 of the Local Plan requires that developments generating significant traffic
should include a Transport Assessment, include measures to mitigate the local network
where required, avoid the formation of new access points onto strategic or primary
roads, and demonstrate that opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been
taken up. New development layouts should be designed to provide safe routes and
priority to pedestrians and cyclists, retain, or exceptionally divert, and create rights of
way, provide access to public transport, ensure service and emergency vehicle access
is provided, and include facilities for charging plug in and other ultra-low emission
vehicles on major developments.

Policy DM7 of the Local Plan requires appropriate car parking to be provided, in
accordance with existing KCC standards.

The National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 109) states that development
should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an
unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road
network would be severe.

Members will be aware that Kent County Council are progressing a road improvement
scheme on Lower Road. This is being carried out in two phases. The first phase has
been delivered and consists of a new roundabout at the junction of Barton Hill Drive and
Lower Road. The area of private land now accommodating the roundabout was gifted
to KCC by the main landowner of the application site. The roundabout works were
funded through a Local Growth Funding grant, and by S106 monies collected on
developments elsewhere. As such the improvement to the A2500 / Barton Hill Drive
junction as per part of the requirements under Policy A12, has already been delivered.

51
Page 57



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

8.75

8.76

8.77

8.78

8.79

8.80

The second phase of the road improvement scheme would increase the width of the
Lower Road to meet national standards, and would provide a segregated footway/
cycleway along the northern edge of the road. This improvement is mainly funded
through NPIF (National Productivity Investment Funding) grant funding (some £3.2m),
with a further £1,223,000 provided through this development proposal. The additional
land required for the road widening works is owned by two of the landowners of the
planning application site — although the widening works extend well beyond the site
boundaries of the application site. As part of the terms of the S106 Agreement, the
land required for the road widening would be provided to KCC at no cost to the County
Council with access rights to carry out the widening before any development would take
place on the application site.

On this basis, the planning application would directly influence and help secure the
delivery of road improvements between Cowstead Corner and Barton Hill Drive, and
the junction of the A2500 and Barton Hill Drive, in accordance with Policies A12 and
IMP1 of the Local Plan.

Members should note that the NPIF grant is time limited, and must be spent by Spring
2020. In order to achieve this, the widening works need to be commenced by April this
year — and are dependent on the grant of planning permission in order to secure the
land required for widening as well as providing the additional funds required to carry out
the works. There is no guarantee that the grant funding would be extended. | consider
that the ability for this scheme to contribute to the delivery of the Lower Road
improvements carries significant weight in the decision-making process.

The application seeks approval of access details only at this stage with all other matters
reserved for future consideration. The main access to the site would be via the newly
built roundabout, and a second access would be provided by way of a T junction
arrangement opposite 234-242 Barton Hill Drive. KCC Highways advise that the main
and second access routes into the development would accord with Kent Design
Standards. The access arrangements provide potential for buses to be diverted through
the site, or alternatively for improvements to be made to existing shelters and stops on
Barton Hill Drive.

The scheme originally did not include any provision for a local shop or other local
facility, and | note there is no actual requirement in the Local Plan policy for this. As
set out above, provision has since been made for this, and an area of land where the
two main access points are likely to converge has been made available for such use.
This would help address some of the sustainability concerns raised by KCC Highways.

The Development Brief and site parameters plan demonstrate that there is potential for
a good network of pedestrian and cycle links through the site and into the surrounding
area. Within the site, there is potential to create links and connections through areas of
green space. Footpath and cycle connections can be achieved to the north of the site
via Parsonage Chase and Lovell Road, to the west of the site via the proposed footpath
link onto Lower Road, and to the east onto Barton Hill Drive. The scheme would
include provision of a new footpath on the western side of Barton Hill Drive for the
length of the application site boundary. However, it is accepted that this footpath would
not connect to the existing footpath at the Lovell Road junction. Desire routes from this
new footpath eastwards towards Sheppey Hospital and Thistle Hill Academy, would be
accommodated through installation of a Puffin crossing over Barton Hill Drive, which
would be provided as part of the development.

52
Page 58



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

8.81

8.82

8.83

8.84

8.85

8.86

The transport Assessment (TA) (as amended) sets out that the development would
generate peak AM vehicle movements of 386 vehicles, and 344 in the PM peak. This
traffic has been modelled together with other forecast traffic growth to a future
assessment year of 2031. The TA includes junction capacity assessments for those
likely to be affected by the development.

KCC Highways have considered the impact of the development on the local highway
network and following the submission of further modelling work and information, do not
identify any substantial unacceptable impacts arising from the development. Potential
capacity issues for the Cowstead Corner roundabout have been addressed through
changes to the road design for the Lower Road improvement works, and are proposed
to include greater two lane entry and exit lengths to deal with merge congestion. KCC
Highways accept the improvements to provide potential local on-site facilities and the
pedestrian and cycle facilities / improvements within and beyond the site would
encourage less vehicle movements. On this basis, KCC Highways do not seek any
further mitigation for the Barton Hill Drive / Minster Road roundabout.

In accordance with comments from KCC Highways, the applicant has agreed to provide
£20,000 funding to mitigate additional vehicle impacts at the Halfway traffic lights. This
would include measures to improve the performance of the junction and discourage
existing issues of increased traffic on the surrounding roads, such as Holmside Avenue,
Adelaide Gardens, Southdown Road, Highfield Road and Banner Way. The applicant
has also agreed to fund a £20,000 contribution towards improvements to the walking /
cycling environment at old Queenborough Road, to provide better connectivity between
Lower Road and Neats Court.

Highways England do not raise objection to the application in terms of its effect on the
Strategic Road Network, but do require that a condition is imposed on any permission
restricting the number of dwelling completions to no more than 250 until the M2 J5 road
improvements are completed and opened. This is due to the risk that, in the event the
M2 J5 improvements do not materialise, the development would add unacceptably to
congestion on the A249 beyond the development of 250 dwellings.

In terms of more site-specific highway impacts, the movement network plan and Design
Principle 13 set out that a street hierarchy would be adopted, with a main tree-lined
avenue running through the site and a range of minor roads, including home zones and
green roads providing different character and functionality to housing areas. Design
principle 15 sets out that residential parking would be based on 2 spaces per dwelling,
1 space per flat, and visitor parking. | am satisfied that the use of street hierarchy and
the parking strategy would accord with policies DM6 and DM7 of the Local Plan.

Overall, the development would facilitate improvements to the Lower Road, through
both the delivery of land to accommodate such works and through a financial
contribution towards the improvements. This would be in accordance with Policy A12 of
the Local Plan. Due to the size of the scheme, the development would generate a
materially greater amount of traffic on local roads. However, and subject to mitigation,
this is considered to be acceptable and KCC Highways do not raise objection to the
scheme. Highways England do not raise objection, subject to the imposition of a
condition to restrict the development to 250 dwellings unless the M2 J5 improvements
are complete. On the basis of the above, | consider that the development would accord
with policies DM6, DM7 and A12 of the Local Plan.

Wider Landscape Impacts

53
Page 59



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

8.87

8.88

8.89

8.90

8.91

8.92

Policy A12 of the adopted Plan states that proposals shall come forward with a strong
landscape framework, with provision of substantial woodland buffers on the southern
and western site boundaries. The supporting text states that the surrounding area has
moderate landscape sensitivity with moderate capacity for change, that the landscape
is most rural with elements of scenic quality due to open panoramic views available
from and across the land, although there are some urbanising influences from existing
infrastructure and development.

Policy DM24 of the Local Plan sets out that the value, amenity and tranquillity of the
Borough’s landscapes will be protected, enhanced and, where appropriate, managed.
For non-designated landscapes, planning permission will be granted subject to the
minimisation of adverse impacts or, where significant adverse impacts remain, the
social or economic benefits of the proposal significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
harm to the landscape character of the area. The policy states that development will be
informed having regard to the Council’'s Urban Extension Landscape Capacity Study
(2010) and the Landscape Character and Biodiversity Appraisal SPD. Paragraph 170
(a) of the NPPF states that planning decisions should contribute to and enhance the
natural and local environment by protecting and enhancing valued landscapes (in a
manner commensurate with their statutory status or identified quality in the
development plan).

The application site is not within a designated landscape. However, an Area of High
Landscape Value lies approximately 250m to the south of Lower Road, and close to the
proposed SuDS area within this application.

The application site lies within the Sheppey Central Farmlands Character Area as
identified under the Swale Landscape Character and Biodiversity Appraisal SPD 2011.
The key features of this landscape relevant to the planning application are: a ridge of
London clay rising steeply to the north, coastal views of the estuary, a large scale and
predominantly open arable landscape, and poor quality urban fringe in parts. The
landscape condition is generally defined as poor, but does state that woodland planting
in association with recent housing development on the periphery of Minster helps to
soften the urban edge. The guidelines seek to maintain existing landscape features, to
create stronger landscape structure, and to avoid proposals that would be unduly
prominent in highly visible locations.

The application site is relatively contained by the topography of surrounding land and
the presence of Furze Hill to the west, by higher land to the north, and by existing
development to the east. However, the site is visible in longer range views from the
south across the flat open marshland landscape. In this respect, the site is not viewed
in isolation but together with other built form within Minster. Views are also attained
from the public footpath at Furze Hill, which again take in wider surrounding built form.

The character of the site would clearly change from an open agricultural landscape to
predominantly built form, and this would obviously be experienced by a high volume of
people passing the site on the Lower Road. However, much of this has been accepted
through the allocation of the site for development, and the woodland buffer planting on
the southern and western boundaries would help soften this and provide a strong
landscaped edge. The application includes a Landscape and Visual Impact
Assessment (as amended), and the Council has employed a landscape consultant to
assess this. Changes have been made, including an increase in the extent of planting
on the southern and western boundaries. | am awaiting further feedback from the

54
Page 60



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

8.93

8.94

8.95

8.96

8.97

8.98

8.99

consultant on these changes, but anticipate that they will have satisfied concerns
previously raised. | will update members further at the meeting.

The additional land beyond the site allocation would have some limited landscape
impacts. However, two of the three parcels of land would retain open and “green”
functions, and would not accommodate buildings. The third parcel which squares off
the west boundary would accommodate some housing, but given that it would
essentially fill a small recess along the western boundary, | do not consider that the
landscape impact would be significant in comparison to the allocated land.

Subject to further comments from the landscape consultant, | do not consider that the
development would be likely to give rise to significant adverse landscape impacts, and
that the main adverse impacts would be experienced close to the site and would arise
from the change of an open rural landscape to built form. This would be softened by the
buffer planting to the south and west of the site.

Taking the above into account, | consider that the development would have some
adverse impacts but that these would fall short of being significantly adverse and that,
in the context of being a largely allocated site for development, the scheme is
acceptable under policy DM24 and A12 of the Local Plan.

Viability and Infrastructure

A viability Appraisal has been submitted with the application. This sets out a financial
case for the inclusion of the additional land parcel for housing to the west of the site and
models the potential for affordable housing on the site. The appraisal has been tested
under a number of scenarios, including the application proposal, a scheme for
development solely within the boundaries of the site allocation based on 664 units, and
a scheme that delivers 700 units with 5% affordable housing.

The appraisal has been assessed by an independent consultant appointed by the
Council. The advice received is that the application scheme is the only viable proposal
of the three options. Even then, viability is only marginally positive, based on an 18%
return for a developer. This gives weight to the inclusion of the land parcel to the west of
the site to accommodate additional units.

The viability appraisal also sets out the funds available for the provision of infrastructure
and S106 requirements, based on an 18% return to the developer. There is a shortfall
between the funds available and the infrastructure requirements originally sought. The
main individual sources of funding requirements relate to highways and education
requirements. The highways costs are non-negotiable and the £1.23m contribution to
the Lower Road widening with the gifted land would need to be paid in advance of the
commencement of the housebuilding..

Further discussions have been held over the land acquisition costs for new primary and
secondary schools originally identified by KCC (as set out in paragraph 6.14). The
primary land acquisition costs for the new primary school at Rushenden and
Queenborough are no longer required by the landowner (the Homes and Communities
Agency), and KCC have also advised that they would not pursue land costs from this
development for the new secondary school at Sittingbourne. KCC have reviewed the
secondary education build costs contributions and advise that they would be willing to
accept a reduced sum of £820,00 in order to facilitate the road widening scheme and to
ensure contributions can be secured from the Local Plan allocations to meet the wider

55
Page 61



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1
APPENDIX 1
Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

infrastructure needs, particularly in relation to primary and secondary education build
costs, without which the County Council could be facing a significant funding gap.

8.100 | would normally expect a development to meet the required infrastructure costs in full.
However, as KCC are willing to accept a lower figure, in this instance | consider this to
be acceptable.

8.101 On this basis, the development would provide for the following identified range of
infrastructure requirements -

8.102 Kent Country Council Developer contributions

° £4535 per applicable dwelling and £1134 per applicable flat towards Phase 1 of
the new 2FE Primary School construction on land at Rushenden, Queenborough
(Total £3,091,090 based on indicative housing mix)

. A contribution of ££820,00 towards construction of a secondary school at Quinton
Road, Sittingbourne

. £60.43 per dwelling (total £42,298.68) as a Community Learning contribution
towards Sheerness Adult Education centre

° £37.58 Youth Services contribution (total £26,308.25) towards Sheerness Youth
Centre

. £48.02 Library contribution (total £33,611.07) towards additional stock and
shelving at Minster-on-Sea library

° £60.09 Social Care contribution (total £42,693.00 towards Changing Place
facilities at Sheppey Healthy Living Centre

8.103 Kent County Council Highways

£1,223,000 towards the Lower Road widening scheme

£245,000 towards public transport enhancements

Provision of a pedestrian and cycle link between the site and Lovell Road
Provision of bus stops either within the site or as improvements to those on
Barton Hill Drive

£20,000 towards enhancements to Queenborough Road

£20,000 towards enhancements to the Halfway crossroads

Provision of a puffin crossing facility on Barton Hill Drive

£232,600 towards electric charge points

£38,000 towards secure cycle storage

8.104 NHS Swale Clinical Commissioning Group

o £604,800 towards expanding existing facilities in the vicinity of the development.
Swale CCG state that this funding should be earmarked for the use of the Minster
medical centre.

8.105 Other
° A bin contribution of £101 per dwelling and £945 per 5 flats
. A SPA Mitigation contribution of £239.61 per dwelling
An off-site sports contribution of £160,000 for the provision of new changing
rooms at Sheppey Rugby Club.
° A contribution of £200,000 for the build costs towards a local shop / facility within

56
Page 62



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

8.106

8.107

8.108

8.109

9.01

the development
Other Matters

Air quality — Members will note that the site is not within or close to any Air Quality
Management Areas, and the application does not require an air quality assessment to
be carried out. Notwithstanding this, and given the scale of the development
proposed, the application includes a number of measures to encourage alternatives to
petrol / diesel vehicles, including provision for electric vehicle charging points,
vouchers for each property for bus / train travel or cycles, pedestrian and cycle
connections to the surrounding area, wider improvements to Lower Road for
pedestrians and cyclists, and provision of a local facility on site.

Contamination — as the site is agricultural land, there is some potential for
contamination to be present from this use, and the Environmental Protection Team
Leader recommends that a condition is imposed to deal with this.

Noise — A noise report has been submitted with the application, and identifies the
potential for road noise from Lower Road to affect the development. This would in part
be mitigated by the buffer planting and set back of dwellings from the road. The
Environmental Protection Team Leader advises that further details and acoustic
measures should come forwards as part of subsequent reserved matters applications.

A Health Impact Assessment has been submitted with the application as required by
the policy. This states that the development would have positive impacts arising from
the provision of open space and play facilities, footpaths and cycle paths, good quality
housing and access to services.

Final Balancing and conclusion

The proposal would bring forward a large scale residential development on a site
largely allocated under policy A12 of the Local Plan for such development. Insofar that
the development would accord with the criteria for this policy, | would conclude that —

The scheme would deliver a strong landscape framework with substantial
woodland buffers to the south and west, a range of open space typologies and
the potential to utilise existing site features, including providing an appropriate
setting to the listed building at Parsonage Chase and to the orchard area to the
north of the site. A site-wide landform parameter plan would be required through
a planning condition on the outline permission and reserved matters applications
would need to comply with this.

The development would have the potential to bring forward a high quality
scheme, based on the parameter plans and design brief, and upon a design code
that would form a condition of this permission.

The scheme would deliver mitigation to protected European sites through a
financial contribution under SAMMS.

The scheme proposes to provide a mix of housing and this would be brought
forward under reserved matters applications.

A Health Impact assessment has been provided.

The scheme includes footpath and cycle links to the surrounding area

The scheme is critical to the delivery of wider transport improvements on Lower
Road, which would be secured under the terms of the permission and S106
agreement.

57
Page 63



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

9.02

9.03

9.04

9.05

9.06

9.07

Identified infrastructure costs would be met by the development, including the
highways infrastructure. Although this includes a smaller education payment than
initially requested, Kent County Council are prepared to accept this.

In addition, the scheme puts forward a proposal for an on-site local facility which
would aid place-making and sustainability objectives.

Whilst the area of the site subject to Policy A12 accords with the adopted Local Plan,
the planning application includes some elements that do not.  The enlarged
application site beyond the site allocation would result in the additional loss of
countryside, part of an Important Local Countryside Gap, and further agricultural land
(albeit unlikely to be BMV land), and this would be in conflict with Policies ST3, DM25
and DM31 of the Local Plan.

Such matters of non-compliance with the adopted Local Plan, point toward the refusal
of planning permission. However, this would be to ignore the material considerations
that should also be taken into account. These relate to the viability case that has
been put forward and accepted by the Council’s consultant that a scheme for 700
dwellings is necessary to achieve a viable proposal, and that the delivery of the land
adjacent to Lower Road to accommodate the widening works cannot be achieved
without inclusion of the land parcel to the west of the site. In my opinion these carry
strong weight, as the road improvement scheme on Lower Road is unlikely to
materialise otherwise, and forms a key component of the Local Plan Infrastructure
Delivery Schedule as well as a requirement for development of this strategic housing
site under policy A12.

| have set out earlier in my report that the policy harm identified in paragraph 9.02
above is limited. This is because two land parcels beyond the land allocation would
retain a fundamentally green, open and undeveloped character and would have
limited harm on the character of the countryside and no harm to the objectives of the
Important Countryside Gap. The third parcel of land would fill a small recessed area
along the site allocation boundary and square off this boundary. Whilst this parcel
would accommodate built form, it would not extend further west than the site
allocation boundary would include woodland buffer planting, and | consider this harm
to be limited.

The development would have some impact on the setting of Parsonage Farmhouse.
Such harm would be “less than substantial”’, and would be further mitigated by the
provision of open space at the northern boundary of the site. Although Members
should place strong weight on any harm to a heritage asset, | consider this harm to be
limited and no greater than would have been anticipated in allocating the land for
development within the Local Plan. In my opinion, the public benefits of delivering a
large scale housing scheme would outweigh the limited harm to the setting of this
building.

The enlarged scheme would result in some further landscape impacts, although given
the nature and position of the additional land parcels and the landscape mitigation
proposed, | consider this impact on an undesignated landscape would fall well short of
significant adverse impacts in the longer term. As such | do not consider this would be
contrary to Policy DM24 of the Local Plan, although there is some harm nevertheless
to be considered.

In conclusion, whilst the additional land required for this application is clearly contrary
to the adopted Local Plan, there are material considerations associated with this

58
Page 64



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

9.08

9.09

9.10

9.11

9.12

9.13

9.14

application that, in my opinion, strongly indicate a decision to grant planning
permission that would in turn depart from the up to date development plan. This
view is reinforced by the fact that there are no policies of the NPPF that indicate that
planning permission should be refused or that the level of adverse impacts overall are
not such as to significantly outweigh and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the
scheme.

The NPPF states that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the
achievement of sustainable development. In economic terms, the development would
provide construction jobs, on site employment opportunities, and would help deliver
important infrastructure improvements. In social terms, the development has
significant potential to deliver a high quality neighbourhood with open space and local
facilities, and a range of homes. In environmental terms, the scheme would deliver a
strong landscape framework. There would be some adverse impacts arising from the
development, but these are not considered to be of such weight that permission
should be refused.

On this basis, my final conclusion is that planning permission should be granted.

Planning conditions

Members will note the list of proposed conditions below. The Neighbourhood Planning
Act (2017) has inserted a new section (100ZA) into the Town and Country Planning
Act. One of the provisions of this is that planning permission for the development of
land may not be granted subject to a pre-commencement condition without the written
agreement of the applicant to the terms of the condition.

The list of conditions below has been circulated to the applicant and | will update
Members at Committee as to whether the applicant has provided written agreement to
these.

Heads of Terms

Taking the above into account the following Heads of Terms are proposed for
inclusion in a Section 106 Agreement between the applicant and the Council. Officers
have reviewed each proposed contribution and are satisfied that these meet the tests
under Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 in that
they are:

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms

(b) directly related to the development; and

(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development

In addition since 6th April 2015, section 123 of the CIL Regulations places a restriction
on the number of different obligations (calculated back to April 2010) that relate to the
funding or provision of an infrastructure project or type of infrastructure, (“the pooling
restriction”). As such, the scope of contributions that can be requested in respect of
new development is restricted.

The CIL 123 tests have been applied in the context of this planning application and
officers are content that the proposed planning obligations are compliant with the
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (Regulation 122).

e A bin contribution of £101 per dwelling and £945 per 5 flats

e An NHS contribution of £604,800

59
Page 65



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

To secure an area of at least 12.5 Hectares as Public Open Space (including
provision of a NEAP, ball court, car park, play areas, provision of SUDS,
landscaping , paths / cycleways, management requirements and maintenance
costs)

An SPA Mitigation contribution of £239.61 per dwelling

An off-site sports contribution of £160,000 towards improvements to Sheppey
Rugby Club changing facilities

A community learning contribution of £60.43 per dwelling

A Lower Road improvement contribution of £1,223,000

A libraries contribution of £48.02 per dwelling

A primary school building contribution of £4,535 per dwelling and £1,134 per
applicable flat

A secondary school building contribution of £820,000s

A social Care contribution of £60.09 per dwelling

A Youth services contribution of £37.58 per dwelling

A marketing strategy and timescale for provision of the retail / local facility

A sum of £200,000 towards the built costs of the local facility and delivery of the
land at nil / nominal costs

A sum of approximately £350 per dwelling towards bus / train /cycle vouchers
Provision of a pedestrian cycle connection to Lovell Road

Provision of bus stops or improvements to existing shelters on Barton Hill Drive
A sum of £20,000 towards enhancements to Queenborough Road

A sum of £20,000 towards enhancements to the Halfway crossroads

Provision of a puffin crossing facility on Barton Hill Drive

Measures to provide apprenticeship places and use of local labour for
construction works.

A monitoring sum

9.15 If for any reason the sum of money secured for the local facility is not spent, it will be
diverted to provide an additional sum towards secondary school build costs.

10

RECOMMENDATION
GRANT Subiject to the completion of an appropriate Section 106 Legal Agreement,
the further views of the landscape consultant and the following conditions:

60
Page 66



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

Commencement

Details relating to the layout, scale and appearance of the proposed building(s) within
a relevant phase, and the landscaping of the site within that phase, shall be submitted
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority before any development within that
phase is commenced.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as
amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Application for approval of reserved matters referred to in Condition (2) above must
be made not later than the expiration of five years beginning with the date of the grant
of outline planning permission.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as
amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than

the expiration of two years from the final approval of the reserved matters or, in the
case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last such matter to be
approved.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as
amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

General

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the phasing plan drawing
1456.21 Version 07, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.

Reason To ensure appropriate development of the site.

The reserved matters shall be submitted to be in accordance with the Site Parameters
Plan drawing 1456.18 Version 07and the Landscape and Open Space Framework
Plan 1456.26 Version 01.

Reason: To accord with the terms of the outline permission

Prior to the submission of a reserved matters application, a design code for that phase
of development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The design code shall be based upon the Site Parameter Plan drawing

1456.18 Version 07, the Landscape and Open Space Framework Plan 1456.26

Version 01, and the Development Brief and Design and Access Statement, and shall

include the following —

e A design strategy for buildings, to include housing mix, density and massing,
architectural treatment, the use of feature buildings in key locations, principles for
the use of external materials, boundary treatments, and provision of car parking.

e In relation to phase 3 (as shown on drawing 1456.21 Version 07), a design
strategy for buildings to the south and west of Parsonage Farm and measures to
respond to the setting of this listed building.

e Principles for establishing character areas

61
Page 67



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

e Principles for road hierarchy, pedestrian and cycle connections in each phase,
including the alignment, width, lighting and surface materials to be used

o A strategy for street tree planting

e Principles for the layout to accommodate and respond to existing landscape
features within the site.

e Design of the public realm, including principles for the design and layout of public
open space, areas for play, lighting, street furniture and sustainable urban
drainage

e A strategy to provide open space, footpath and cycle linkages through each
phase

The reserved matters shall be designed to accord with the approved Design Code.

Reason: In the interests of providing a high-quality layout and design for the
development.

Prior to the submission of any reserved matters application, a site-wide landform
parameter plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The plan shall provide a strategy for utilising the existing landform of the
site, measures to minimise cut and fill operations, and measures to minimise or avoid
over-engineered operations to deal with levels changes. The reserved matters
applications shall be designed to accord with the approved site-wide strategy.

Reason: To respect and make best use of the sloping landform of the site and to
accord with the site allocation policy.

For each phase of the development hereby approved, no development shall take
place within a relevant phase until details have been submitted to the Local Planning
Authority and approved in writing, which set out what measures will been taken to
ensure that the development in that phase incorporates sustainable construction
techniques such as water conservation and recycling, renewable energy production
including the inclusion of solar thermal or solar photo voltaic installations, and energy
efficiency. Upon approval, the details shall be incorporated into the development of
the phase of development in question as approved, and retained as such in
perpetuity.

Reason: In the interest of promoting energy efficiency and sustainable development

The proposed residential development hereby permitted shall be designed to achieve
a water consumption rate of no more than 110 litres per person per day, and the
residential units shall not be occupied unless the notice for that dwelling/flat of the
potential consumption of water per person per day required by the Building
Regulations 2015 (as amended) has been given to the Building Control Inspector
(internal or external).

Reason: In the interests of water conservation and sustainability

10) No development shall take place in any phase until details of the existing site levels,

proposed site levels, and proposed finished floor levels for buildings in that phase
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority and the
development shall be completed strictly in accordance with the approved levels.

Reason: In order to secure a satisfactory form of development having regard to the
topography of the site.
62
Page 68



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1
APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

11) Before development commences within a relevant phase, details shall be submitted
for the installation of fixed telecommunication infrastructure and High Speed Fibre
Optic (minimal internal speed of 100mb) connections to multi point destinations and
all buildings including residential, commercial and community within that phase. This
shall provide sufficient capacity, including duct sizing to cater for all future phases of
the development with sufficient flexibility to meet the needs of existing and future
residents. The infrastructure shall be laid out in accordance with the approved details
and at the same time as other services during the construction process.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

12) The development hereby permitted shall incorporate measures to minimise the risk of
crime. No development in any phase beyond the construction of foundations shall
take place until details of such measures, according to the principles and physical
security requirements of Crime Prevention through Environmental Design (CPTED)
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
approved measures shall be implemented before the development is occupied and
thereafter retained.

Reasons: In the interest of Security, Crime Prevention and Community Safety

13) No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place in any phase
until written details and samples of the materials to be used in the construction of the
external surfaces of the building(s) permitted in that phase have been submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development.

14) The reserved matters details shall include measures to demonstrate how the detailed
design and layout of the residential development would meet the needs of specific
housing groups, including older and disabled persons.

Reason: To ensure that the development of this large strategic site makes provision
for different housing needs.

15) The reserved matters details for the convenience store / community facility shall make
provision for a building(s) of up to 650 sqm of floor space with associated car parking.
The building(s) shall be permitted for uses under classes A1, A3, A4, D1 and D2 of
the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended), and for no
other purpose.

Reason: To provide for a local facility, in the interests of sustainability and local
amenities.

16) No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place in phases 1
or 2 of the development (as shown on drawing 1456.21 Version 07), until an acoustic
assessment has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The assessment shall set out predicted internal and external noise levels
for dwellings in that phase, and (if required) shall provide a scheme of mitigation
measures in accordance with BS8233:2014 — “Guidance on Sound Insulation and
Noise Reduction for Buildings”. The development shall be carried out in accordance
with the approved details and mitigation prior to occupation of any dwelling.

63
Page 69



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1
APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

Highways

17) No more than 250 dwellings on the site shall be occupied until the M2 Junction 5
Roads Investment Strategy scheme (the scheme of works in the May 2018 Preferred
Route Announcement) has been completed and opened to public traffic.

Reason: To avoid adding unacceptably to congestion at the existing A249 Trunk
Road and M2 Junction 5, to ensure the effective operation of the Strategic Road
Network, and to satisfy the reasonable requirements of road safety.

18) No development shall take place in any phase (including any engineering or levelling
works), until a Construction Management Plan (CMP) has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved CMP shall be
implemented and adhered to throughout the entire construction period. The CMP
shall provide details of:

(a) The predicted numbers of construction and delivery vehicles and measures to
manage routing of construction traffic to / from the site,

b) Means of access to the site during the construction process

c¢) Parking and turning areas for construction and delivery vehicles and site personnel

d) Timing of deliveries

e) Provision of wheel washing facilities

f) Temporary traffic management / signage

g) Areas for the loading / unloading and storage of plant, materials and waste

h) Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction

(i) A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and

construction works

(j) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays

and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate

Reason: To ensure that the impact of construction works on the strategic and local
road network are managed, and in the interests of the amenities of the area and
highways safety and convenience.

19) No construction work (for the avoidance of doubt to include piling) in connection with
the development shall take place on any Sunday or Bank Holiday, nor on any other
day except between the following times:

Monday to Friday 0730 — 1900 hours, Saturdays 0730 — 1300 hours unless in
association with an emergency or with the prior written approval of the Local Planning
Authority.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.
20) The reserved matters for phase 1 (as shown on drawing 1456.21 Version 07), shall
include the provision of a footway on the west side of Barton Hill Drive, and this shall

be completed prior to the occupation of any units on the site.

Reason: In the interests of pedestrian safety.

64
Page 70



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1
APPENDIX 1
Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

21) No occupation of any dwelling within phase 1 (as shown on drawing 1456.21 Version
07), shall take place until access from that dwelling to the roundabout at the junction
of Barton Hill Drive and Lower Road has been completed.

Reason: In the interests of highways safety

22) No occupation of any dwellings other than those within Phase 1 (as shown on drawing
1456.21 Version 07), shall take place until the Highway works for the Barton Hill Drive
access as shown in drawing T-01 Rev P3 have been completed in accordance with a
Section 278 agreement with the Highway Authority.

Reason: In the interests of highways safety

23) No more than 75 dwellings shall be occupied until a Puffin Crossing is provided on
Barton Hill Drive at a location and specification approved by the Highway Authority
through a section 278 agreement, and is open and available for public use and to an
adoptable standard.

Reason: In the interests of pedestrian safety

24) The details submitted for the approval of Reserved Matters shall show adequate land,
reserved for the parking of cars (in accordance with the currently adopted Kent
County Council Vehicle Parking Standards where appropriate) and for the loading and
unloading of commercial vehicles where necessary. Such land shall be kept available
for this purpose at all times and no permanent development, whether permitted by the
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015
(as amended) (or any order revoking or re-enacting that Order) or not shall be carried
out on such land or in a position as to preclude vehicular access thereto; such land
and access thereto shall be provided prior to the occupation of the buildings / land
hereby permitted.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety

25) The details submitted for the approval of Reserved Matters above shall include details
of covered secure cycle parking facilities for each dwelling. The approved cycle
parking shall thereafter be provided prior to the occupation of any dwellings and
retained in perpetuity.

Reason: To ensure that there is sufficient cycle parking at the site in the interests of
sustainable development.

26) Prior to the occupation of any dwelling or other building the following works between
the dwelling or building and the adopted highway shall be completed:
(a) Footways and/or footpaths, with the exception of the wearing course;
(b) Carriageways, with the exception of the wearing course but including a turning
facility, highway drainage, visibility splays, street lighting, street nameplates and
highway structures (if any).

Reason: To provide suitable access to the development

27) The pedestrian/cycle link between the development site and Lovell Road together
with the installation of tactile paving at the crossing of Lower Road at its junction with
Barton Hill Drive shall be constructed to a specification approved beforehand by the

65
Page 71



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1
APPENDIX 1
Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

Local Planning Authority and Highway Authority via an s278 Agreement and made
available for public use prior to the occupation of the 350t dwelling.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to facilitate the use of alternative
means of transport.

28) No more than 350 dwellings shall be occupied until a pedestrian and cycle link from
the site to Parsonage Chase has been completed and opened for public use in
accordance with details that have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include details of surfacing for all weather
conditions, and details of lighting.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to facilitate the use of alternative
means of transport.

29) The reserved matters for each phase shall include measures to provide electric
vehicle charging and shall include —
a) Provision for on-site electric vehicle charging facilities to all dwellings with on-site
parking
b) Details of provision for electric vehicle charging for 10% of all other residential
parking areas (save for visitor parking areas) within that Phase;

No dwelling shall be occupied until the electric vehicle charging for that dwelling has
been installed (whether for an individual property or a communal point).

Reason: To encourage the use of electric vehicles, in the interests of climate change
and reducing pollution.

Drainage
30) No development shall be commenced until:

i. the details required by Condition 1 have demonstrated that requirements for surface
water drainage can be accommodated within the proposed development layout for
that phase.

ii. a detailed sustainable surface water drainage strategy has been submitted to

and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The detailed drainage scheme
shall demonstrate that the surface water generated by this development (for all rainfall
durations and intensities up to and including the climate change adjusted critical 100-
year storm) can be accommodated and discharged from the site at an agreed
controlled discharge rate. The drainage scheme shall also demonstrate that silt and
pollutants resulting from the site use can be adequately managed to ensure there is
no pollution risk to receiving waters.

Reason: To ensure the development is served by satisfactory arrangements for the
disposal of surface water and to ensure that the development does not exacerbate the
risk of on/off site flooding. These details and accompanying calculations are required
prior to the commencement of the development as they form an intrinsic part of the
proposal, the approval of which cannot be disaggregated from the carrying out of the
rest of the development.

31)No development shall be commenced until a phasing plan for the surface water
drainage scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority, and which demonstrates the provision of a drainage network to serve any

66
Page 72



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

32)

33)

designated Phase 1or subsequent phases prior to occupation. The phasing plan shall
also indicate and provide details of any temporary works associated with the
construction of the surface water drainage system.

Reason: To ensure the development is served by satisfactory arrangements for the
disposal of surface water and to ensure that the development does not exacerbate the
risk of on/off site flooding. These details and accompanying calculations are required
prior to the commencement of the development as they form an intrinsic part of the
proposal, the approval of which cannot be disaggregated from the carrying out of the
rest of the development.

No building hereby permitted in any phase shall be occupied until an operation and
maintenance manual for the proposed sustainable drainage scheme is submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The manual at a minimum
shall include the following details:

* A description of the drainage system and its key components

* A general arrangement plan with the location of drainage measures and critical
features clearly marked

* An approximate timetable for the implementation of the drainage system

* Details of the future maintenance requirements of each drainage or SuDS
component, and the frequency of such inspections and maintenance activities

* Details of who will undertake inspections and maintenance activities, including

the arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory undertaker, or any
other arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable drainage system
throughout its lifetime

Reason: To ensure that any measures to mitigate flood risk and protect water quality
on/off the site are fully implemented and maintained (both during and after
construction), as per the requirements of paragraph 103 of the NPPF and its
associated Non-Statutory Technical Standards.

No building on any phase (or within an agreed implementation schedule) of the
development hereby permitted shall be occupied until a Verification Report pertaining
to the surface water drainage system, carried out by a suitably qualified professional,
has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority which demonstrates the suitable
operation of the drainage system such that flood risk is appropriately managed, as
approved by the Lead Local Flood Authority. The Report shall contain information and
evidence (including photographs) of earthworks; details and locations of inlets, outlets
and control structures; extent of planting; details of materials utilised in construction
including subsoil, topsoil, aggregate and membrane liners; full as built drawings; and
topographical survey of ‘as constructed’ features.

Reason: To ensure that flood risks from development to the future users of the land
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters,
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development as constructed
is compliant with the National Planning Policy Framework.

34)No development shall commence until details of the proposed means of foul

sewerage disposal have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local
Planning Authority in consultation with Southern Water.

Reason: To ensure that adequate foul drainage is provided.

67
Page 73



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1
APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

35) The development shall be phased and implemented in accordance with a scheme to
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to first
occupation of the development, and shall be designed to align with the delivery by
Southern Water of any sewerage network reinforcement required to ensure that
adequate waste water network capacity is available to adequately drain the
development.

Reason: To ensure that phasing is aligned to improvements to off site wastewater
infrastructure.

Contamination

36) The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until the following
components of a scheme to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the
site shall have been submitted to and approved, in writing, by the local planning
authority:

i) A preliminary risk assessment which has identified:
- all previous uses
- potential contaminants associated with those uses
- a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors
- potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site.

ii) A site investigation, based on (i) to provide information for a detailed assessment
of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site.

ii) A remediation method statement (RMS) based on the site investigation results
and the detailed risk assessment (ii). This should give full details of the
remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken. The RMS
should also include a verification plan to detail the data that will be collected in
order to demonstrate that the works set out in the RMS are complete and
identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages,
maintenance and arrangements for contingency action.

iv) A Closure Report is submitted upon completion of the works. The closure report
shall include full verification details as set out in (iii). This should include details of
any post remediation sampling and analysis, together with documentation
certifying quantities and source/destination of any material brought onto or taken
from the site. Any material brought onto the site shall be certified clean;

Reason: to ensure land contamination is adequately dealt with.

Ecology
37) No development shall take place in any phase (including any ground works, site or

vegetation clearance) until a method statement for ecological mitigation has been

submitted to, and approved in writing, by the local planning authority. The content of

the method statement shall include the:

a) Purpose and objectives for the proposed works:

b) Detailed design(s) and/or working method(s) necessary to achieve stated
objectives including updated ecological surveys as necessary;

c) Extent and location of proposed works, including the identification of a suitable
receptor site for reptiles and great crested newts, shown on appropriate scale
maps and plans;

68
Page 74



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1
APPENDIX 1
Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

d) Timetable for implementation, demonstrating that works are aligned with the
proposed phasing of construction;

e) Persons responsible for implementing the works, including times during
construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to undertake /
oversee works;

f)  Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs

g) Initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant);

h) Disposal of any wastes for implementing work.

The works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and shall be
retained in that manner thereafter.

Reason: To protect habitats and species identified in the ecological surveys from
adverse impacts during construction.

38) Prior to any occupation of the development, a site-wide Landscape and Ecological
Management Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to, and be approved in writing by, the
local planning authority prior to occupation of the development. The content of the
LEMP shall include the following.

a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed;

b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management;

c) Aims and objectives of management;

d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives;

e) Prescriptions for management actions, together with a plan of management
compartments;

f)  Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being
rolled forward over a five-year period;

g) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan;

h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.

The LEMP shall set out (where the results from monitoring show that conservation
aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) how contingencies and/or
remedial action will be identified, agreed and implemented so that the development
still delivers the fully functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally approved
scheme. The approved plan will be implemented in accordance with the approved
details.

Reason:  Biological communities are constantly changing and require positive
management to maintain their conservation value. The implementation of a LEMP will
ensure the long term management of habitats, species and other biodiversity
features.

39) No development shall take place until an Ecological Design Strategy (EDS) to achieve
ecological enhancements to the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by
the local planning authority. The EDS shall include the following:

a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed works;

b) Review of site potential and constraints;

c) Detailed design(s) and/or working method(s) to achieve stated objectives;

d) Extent and location/area of proposed works on appropriate scale maps and
plans;

e) Type and source of materials to be used where appropriate, e.g. native species of
local provenance;

69
Page 75



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1
Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

f) Timetable for implementation demonstrating that works are aligned with the
proposed phasing of development;

g) Persons responsible for implementing the works;

h) Details of initial aftercare and long term maintenance;

i)  Details for monitoring and remedial measures;

i) Details for disposal of any wastes arising from works (where relevant).

k) A timetable for the works to be implemented.

The EDS shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and all
features shall be retained in that manner thereafter.

Reason: To ensure that any adverse environmental impacts of development activities
can be mitigated, compensated and restored and that the proposed design,
specification and implantation can demonstrate this.

Landscaping

40) No development in any phase shall take place until full details of all existing trees
and/or hedges in that phase, details of any trees or hedges proposed for removal, and
measures to protect any trees or hedges shown to be retained, have been submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall include

(a) a plan showing the location of, and allocating a reference number to each
existing tree and hedge on the site to be retained and indicating the crown
spread of each tree, and extent of any hedge, and identifying those trees and
hedges to be removed.

(b) details of the size, species, diameter, approximate height and an assessment
of the general state of health and stability of each retained tree and hedge.

(c) details of any proposed arboricultural works required to any retained tree or
hedge

(d) details of any alterations in ground levels and of the position of any excavation
or other engineering works within the crown spread of any retained tree.

(e) details of the specification and position of fencing and of any other measures
to be taken for the protection of any retained tree or hedge from damage
before or during the course of development .

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and the
approved protection measures shall be installed in full prior to the commencement of
any development, and retained for the duration of construction works. No works,
access, or storage within the protected areas shall take place, unless specifically
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority

In this condition “retained tree or hedge” means any existing tree or hedge which is to
be retained in accordance with the drawing referred to in (a) above.

Reason: In the interests of protecting existing trees and hedges which are worthy of
retention in the interests of the amenities of the area.

41) The development shall deliver a minimum of 12.5 Hectares of open space. Prior to the
submission of any reserved matters, a site-wide open space strategy shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall set
out the quantum of open space to be delivered in each phase and how the 12.5
Hectares of open space would be achieved across the site.

70
Page 76



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1
APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

42) The reserved matters shall include a detailed hard and soft landscaping scheme for
all public areas within each phase of development. The scheme shall include the
following details -

o Details of the type and quantum, and layout of open space to be provided within
each phase (based upon the information contained within the Design and Access
Statement / Development Brief and parameters plans submitted with the
application).

o Soft landscaping proposals, to include existing trees, shrubs and other features,
planting schedules of plants, noting species (which shall be native species and of
a type that will encourage wildlife and biodiversity), plant sizes and numbers
where appropriate.

o A detailed scheme for street tree planting.

e Hard landscaping details for the public areas, to include details of lighting,
hardsurfaces, footpaths and cycleways (including surface finishes), means of
enclosure, litter bins, dog bins, and benches.

e Phase 2 (as shown on drawing 1456.21 Version 07) shall include a
Neighbourhood Equipped Area of Play, ball court facility and central open space /
kick-about facility

e Phases 1 and 5 (as shown on drawing 1456.21 Version 07) shall include a Local
Equipped Area of Play / Local Area of Play facility.

e Phase 3 (as shown on drawing 1456.21 Version 07) shall include a scheme for an
extended orchard area and open space in the north east corner of the site, in
accordance with the lllustrative Landscape strategy by Lloyd Bore.

¢ Atimetable for implementation

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and
implementation timetable.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and recreation.

43) The reserved matters shall include full details of both hard and soft landscape works
within the curtilage of any building. These details shall include existing trees, shrubs
and other features, planting schedules of plants, noting species (which shall be native
species and of a type that will encourage wildlife and biodiversity), plant sizes and
numbers where appropriate, means of enclosure, hard surfacing materials, and an
implementation programme. The development shall be carried out in accordance with
the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging wildlife
and biodiversity.

44) Upon completion of the approved landscaping scheme, any trees or shrubs that are
removed, dying, being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within five
years of planting shall be replaced with trees or shrubs of such size and species as
may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, and within whatever
planting season is agreed.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging wildlife
and biodiversity.

71
Page 77



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1
APPENDIX 1
Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

45) No development beyond the construction of foundations in Phase 1 shall take place
until a detailed scheme of advance soft landscaping has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall consist of a woodland
buffer on the southern and western boundaries of the site as shown on the approved
Site Parameters Plan, and shall be a minimum of 20 metres in depth. The scheme
shall include proposed trees, shrubs and other features, planting schedules of plants
(which shall include native species and of a type that will encourage wildlife and
biodiversity), noting species, plant sizes and numbers where appropriate, measures
to prevent tree vandalism, and measures to protect the advance planting from
construction on the remainder of the site for the duration of such works. The
advance planting shall be completed prior to occupation of the 50" dwelling on site
and in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To accord with the terms of the application and the requirements of Policy
A12 of the Swale Borough Local Plan — Bearing Fruits 2031. To ensure the early
delivery of the strategic landscaping to the site, in the interests of visual amenity and
wider landscape objectives.

46) Upon completion of the advance landscaping works, any trees or shrubs that are
removed, dying, being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within ten
years of planting shall be replaced with trees or shrubs of such size and species as
may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, and within the next
planting season, unless otherwise agreed.

Reason: To ensure the retention and maintenance of strategic landscaping, in the
interests of visual amenity.

Heritage

47) The reserved matters and design code to be submitted for phase 3 of the
development (as shown on drawing 1456.21 Version 07), shall be designed to
maintain an area of open space of at least 20 metres from the boundary of Parsonage
Chase.

Reason: To protect the setting of the listed building.

48) No occupation of any units within Phase 3 of the development (as shown on drawing
1456.21 Version 07) shall take place untili a scheme to provide a heritage
interpretation board in relation to the Listed Building at Parsonage Farm has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme
shall include details of the information to be displayed, the design and siting of the
interpretation board, and maintenance of the board. The heritage interpretation board
shall be installed in accordance with the approved details prior to occupation of the
75" dwelling within Phase 3.

Reason: To provide information to the public on a nearby designated heritage asset,

72
Page 78



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1
APPENDIX 1
Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

The Council’'s Approach

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), July
2018 the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused
on solutions. We work with applicants/agents in a positive and creative way by offering a pre-
application advice service, where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful
outcome and as appropriate, updating applicants / agents of any issues that may arise in the
processing of their application.

In this instance, pre application advice was provided, the applicant was given the opportunity
to make amendments to the scheme, and the application was considered by the Planning
Committee where the applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the Committee and
promote the application.

73
Page 79



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1
APPENDIX 1
Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 ltem 2.1

APPENDIX 1
LOCAL PLAN DEVELOPMENT CONCEPTS MAP

Fh T 3 R T = T

Open space provision, o el g
b ? ; igerow retained, I
includin ssible ? |
=Ny Shodts pﬂcp:es reinforced and managed|
; P |in Green Corridor

e L e S
 Informal open space provision to -
‘ensure protection of the setting
fthe Listed Building.

7 I
Potential footpath and cyclepath |
linking with existing development
|and allowing possible access to !

- shops and facilities

| Provision of substantial
woodland areas to contain
the visual impact of residential
development in the wider

landscape to the west =
& E:Iie_l-ain and manage | oL
= existing hedgerow
A - network g
Retain and manage RS

existing hedgerows |

Accessible Natural Green Space provision
\with woodland, scrub and wetland habitats

.| Mo built development to ensure
| integration with, and transition to,
the wider open landscape to the south

paypensssibststisssrssnsssnnrnrn Sy Land West of Barton Hill Drive .
Junction improvements | Key
mx‘;:ﬁbm and | &  Listed Buildings
:";g:;::g;‘;gﬁ?:ex:’;a ] - ) I Residential development of 620 dwellings
= : = ﬁﬁ. Potential community facility
; _ - Indicative sustainable drainage measures
|- = = - Proposed footpath and cyclepath
@040 Primary means of vehicle access
- <| ======= Secondary means of vehicle access
’ ----- Highway improvements
® & ® Large sireel trees
- Retain and manage existing vegetation
- Landscape buffer provision
ﬂzﬁz:mmmw : ’ N n spacellandscapi
T i

74
Page 80



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019

SITE PARAMETERS PLAN

{

Plarining Appheaton Boupciary
Laww Dyermilty Paséciantial (g i 25dph)
Lo 1o Waschum Risitential gty

“T25-30eiy)

Mu‘bﬁﬂlq Y
(35 e

Medumtd-j_]pﬂﬁ-urm I.:unnrp
|35-!9¥F_'_

¥igh Pesiderial Disraly (45+dph)

18500+ +700

Cpen Green Space and Roules

Lardsoaze Buffer [minimem 15m wida)

Primafy Wericular Aoceis 1 Movenet
Primary Pedestiian & Cpole Links
Ky ' Fecsal Posint Bullding

Bt Piiches

Childrens Plary Andd

Ciflalae Planting

|Pretained Tress & Hedgamwa

Prepossd SU0s § Fords
Wikl Ciomidor Links

Perineter Bhock Devwslopdnent Pafiem
Tup by  wlones | s Gm)

Pripeter Block Devalopiant Pafiem

[ fp' shovies / e T2 A

Feemetye sbe fof Comenience Storm |
Comeriniy Fac ity

air Atk g Laneing s —

i

Def Item 1
APPENDIX 1

ltem 2.1

APPENDIX 2

D

75
Page 81



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

APPENDIX 3




Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 ltem 2.1

APPENDIX 3

d:se

Land West of Barton Hill Drive, Minster
Reference: 934.1-1075

Report of Design Review Meeting
Date: 17 July 2018
Location: Swale Borough Council, Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne

Panel

Margaret Baddeley (Chair) Planning

Mark Bottomley, Architecture

Luke Engleback, Landscape architect

Angela Koch, Planning and Urban Design
David Prichard, Architecture and Urban Design

Also attending

Huw Trevorrow, Design South Fast

Sarah wWilliams, Design South East

Simon Algar, Swale Borough Council

Andrew Byrne, Swale Borough Council

Councillor Gerry Lewin, Swale Borough Council
Councillor Ken Ingleton, Swale Borough Council
Councillor James Hunt, Swale Borough Couneil
Councillor Cameron Beart, Swale Borough Council
Councillor Tina Booth, Swale Borough Council
Councillor Richard Darby, Swale Borough Council
Councillor Colin Prescott, Swale Borough Council
Alun Millard, Kent County Council Highways
Colin Finch, Kent County Council Highways

Jim Wilson, Swale Borough Council

James Delafield, JB Planning Associates
Jonathan Stewart, JB Planning Associates

Paul Sharpe, Paul Sharpe Associates

Paul Whatley, Lloyd Bore

Simon Moon, DHA transport

Site visit

A full site visit was conducted by the panel ahead of the review

334.1-1075 Land West of Barton Hill Drive, Minster 15

77
Page 83



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1
APPENDIX 1
Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 ltem 2.1

APPENDIX 3

d:se

Summary

This is a very atiractive, allocated south facing site with exceptional views of the
surrounding areas. We consider this is an appropriate location for development; however,
the current proposals raise concerns and require further design development to make
best use of the landscape, views and special qualities of the site. It is essential for this
development to become an integrated part of the existing comnmmity, particularly given
its large scale and location in relation to Minster village. This integration has not yet been
achieved, and further opportunities should be sought to create a cohesive neighbourhood
and tackle environmental, social and health considerations through design.

The environmental, social and economic health of a comnnmity does require
infrastructure beyond the provision of green space.

Withdrawing the masterplan, developing the framework plans and making amendments
to the submitted planming application’s supporting documents that reflect the content of
this report is encouraged af this early stage in the determination process.

Background

This is a recently submitted outline application proposal for approximately 7oo dwellings
with a principal access to Lower Road, a secondary (restricted) access to Barton Hill
Drive, and associated landscape works. The site is 37.5 hectares in size and south-facing,
rising generally from the south to the north across the site, with a small central platean
and existing hedgerow remnants. Designated countryside lies to the west of the site with
a Grade 2 listed budlding, now used as a private home, just bevond the north east corner
of the site. An overgrown orchard sits directly to the north of the site, and the Medway
Estuary and Marshes Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI),/Special Protection Area
(SPA) lies approximately 6oom to the south. The site is within a klometer of a Ramsar
and National Nature Reserve and Hes within the Central Sheppey Farmland landscape
character area as defined in the Swale Landscape Character Assessment Guidelines March
2005.There are also three designated special landscape areas to the south and north west
of the site. They are the North Downs, Blean Woods and North Fent Marshes. The ponds
adjacent to the site provide a habitat for great crested newts.

The site itself is allocated for housing in the adopted Swale Borough Local Plan, for a
minimum of 620 dwellings. Local Policy does not require any affordable homes. Some
of the proposed development area in the south west of the site is in the ownership of the
Harris Trust, lying outside the allocated site boundary (the blue ownership line is absent
on the drawings).

A nmumber of pre-application diseussions have been held with Swale Borough Council and
Kent Coumity Conneil (highways) and a public consultation event was held on the 17th May
with approximately 8o-100 attendess.

A roundabentt is currently under construction at the junction of Lower Road and Barton
Hill Drive. Aswell as easing current traffic flows, a fourth arm would provide the principal
access point into the proposed housing development. Phase 2 of these highway works will
inchude the widening of Lower Road, which will take land owned by the Harris Trust, This
work is due to be completed in March 2o20.

78
Page 84



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1
APPENDIX 1
Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 ltem 2.1

APPENDIX 3

Local context and connections

Abetter understanding of how the site connects with its neighbours must be gained,

by producing a movement framework for all modes for the site, linking it to the wider
area and its infrastructure and destinations, such as schools, GP surgeries, hospitals,
churches, shopping, services, important places of employment as well as social and
leisure amenities, The site’s access considerations also need to link with the wider public
transport network, pedestrian links and cycle routes. In addition, the history of the site
needs to be researched, to add a cultural layer to the site’s masterplan framework

No footpath is currently shown on the existing lane bt it is within the applicant’s gift to
provide one.

Alarger context site plan is required showing all of these facilities and how the routes
would work within the site and connect into the wider network. Any firture development
commitments and the certainty of whether they are to go ahead or not mmst be considered
as part of this study, and the scope or likelihood of longer term proposals - such as the
potential residential site to the west - coming forward e.g. for further housing, This
extensive analysis should positively impact on the proposed layout and avoid extensive
cul-de-sacs by being properly designed and thought throngh at this stage. It is important
that this scheme does not repeat mistakes that have been made in the past.

Access into and around the site is a concern as there will be large numbers of residents
using cars and the single main entry point; there is no certainty that there will be extensive
use of alternative modes of fransport. This is likely to canse traffic issues, and the lack of
public fransport provision using routes within a site of some 700 new homes is highly
problematic. The potential for a bus route to run through the site should be explored. For
example, if the main spine rowute connects to any foture scheme, conld it accommodate a
bus rowte; lkewise, if it is not possible to provide full vehicular access to Barton Hill Drive,
could this be bus and emergency veldcle only? Without these facilities, the elderly and
families with fewer than two cars will not be provided with equal opportunities to access
day-to-day services and farilities.

The second access point to the site is essential to better connect the scheme to its
surroundings but the character and disposition of homes along the route needs careful
thought. The surrounding streets in the masterplan do not lead into this secondary route
and consequently, it appears to be an afterthought. Further work and exploration of its
integration into the road network needs to be undertaken and then consideration given as
to how the buildings and landscape respond; this is an important ingredient of the overall
masterplan.

A more legible network allowing direct and shorter rowutes is required. Where connections
to surroundings can be made these should be as clear as possible, creating direct vistas
and avoiding non-instinctial convoluted routes that might not suppoert safety during
evering hours. The proposed pedestrian route from the site to the north does not appear
to be well-connected to Minster. Consideration should be given to pedestrian and cycle
access to local employment and services.

We understand that the Air Ambulance is often used as the nearest Accident and
Emergency Department is some distance away, therefore landing space for an ambulance
should also be considered.

79
Page 85



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019

In view of the above comments regarding the need for a fully integrated transport and
accessibility strategy, we suggest that acress should be a reserved matter that SBC will
require further submissions on, once outline planning permission has been granted.

Site context

There are many distinctive characteristics of the site that can inform the proposals and
should be taken advantage of. These include:

Site topography - The site rises from south to north, affording scenic and wide-ranging
panoramic views and vistas. This is a key feature of the site and more should be done to
celebrate it and potentially add value to the development. The highest area ofland in the
north western part of the site has the best views and strategies to take advantage of this
conld include the creation of a public space, or a proposal for a special housing typology

to capture views and establish a distinct character area. Site topography should drive the
approach to key issues including sustainable drainage, the green spaces strategy and street
layout. An east to west orfentation of many of the homes and gardens will maximise views
for many and provide kerb appeal, while creating morning and evening sun-lit outdoor
spaces, south-facing roofs with good thermal potential and new homes that are reasonably
protected from the colder north easterly winds in the winter.

Sustainable drainage - The ambition to handle surface water drainage within swales
is positive, however, as these appear to be often located a significant distance from

where water is falling this will require a relatively heavy-handed engineering approach
with underground pipes. Localising surface water retention with more catchment areas
throughout the site should be explored instead. This consideration should ink into a
connected green spaces sirategy, considering additional potential benefits to the provision
of public amenity spaces and wildlife corridors.

Phasing and construction - An understanding of the phasing of the development is
required, as this conld impact on masterplan formulation. As the development is going

to be built out over a relatively longer time frame, each pocket of homes must be self-
sustaining, with a variety of homes, green spaces and access provided at each stage of
development so as to build the sense of community. Each phase needs to be considered in
turn to establish its own character, layout, landscaping, infrastrochire and place-making
qualities. Construction access is an important part of this equation, as it will affect how the
revised masterplan is conceived and potential layout.

All of the elements of the development that are referred to above need to be thought
through carefully at this stage, and fully tested to ensure that the revised masterplan is
robust and has longevity.

Listed building - Although the listed Parsomage Farm les outside the planning
application bovmdary, and it is well-screened, the sefting of this Grade 2 building needs to
be carefully considered. As currently designed, the proposed development could do more
to respond.

Ponds, green spaces and swales - More detail on the new pond for the great crested
newts and an understanding of how the ponds can be better integrated into the overall
masterplan is required. There is no proposed connected wildlife corridor and there is

80
Page 86

Def Item 1
APPENDIX 1
ltem 2.1

APPENDIX 3

d:se



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1
APPENDIX 1
Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 ltem 2.1

APPENDIX 3

d:se

therefore uncertainty about how movement of the great crested newts, and other wildlife,
will be facilitated.

The longer-term maintenance of any green and open spaces, or swales, needs
consideration at this stage and while low maintenance species are being specified, future
management mechanisms on completion of each of the phases of the development have to
be put in place and retained.

llustrative masterplan

The illnstrative masterplan is unconvincing and has resulted in an inward looking
scheme that requires a far more legible strest network. The current illnstrative layout
needs simplification and clues can be taken both from the clearer framework sirategies
developed by the team and {llustrated in the presented Urban Design and Movement
Framework, as well as nearby strest layouts that have dealt with rising land and capitalised
on the vistas out of the area across North FKent. A hierarchy of well-defined spaces, sireets
and gardens, maximizing the views, enjoyment and value that can be created through
these vistas, should be developed, with different types and varieties of homes considered
in terms of how these relate to the site topography, footpaths, cycle lanes and long distant
views. All should impact on the proposals, informing how the streets are laid out and
drained.

The illnstrative layout also shows a complex street network of curving streets and cul-de-
sacs. This will be difficult to navigate and potentially block long distance views. A simpler
orid layout that follows the lines of existing and retained hedgerows would make the most
of views and vistas, helping with way-finding and giving the site’s development a distinct
character and quality that it currently lacks. More legibility is required generally across the
site, providing well-defined spaces that have a fimction, such as play areas for particular
age groups of children. Secluded green spaces that have no clear function ought to be
avoided.

The needs of the firture residents and possible service capacity and service quality
challenges in current local facilities ought to be determined and planned for. Itis
recommended that the applicant assesses the outline planning application content in
light of Swale Borough's ‘Core Planning Policies. The fundamental principle of plan-led
development is achieving and supporting sustainable communities to enable them to
thrive. Some on-site provision of facilities such as a shop, mirsery, community hall efc.
should be fully considered and is to be encouraged. The ‘nodal point” must become more
of a heart (b)) space for the new commmumnity and should be celebrated by becoming more
than just playing fields, perhaps providing facilities for the existing wider community.
Further consideration should be given to viabdlity and location of such a facility. The
location, character and use of the open spaces needs to be re-considered and the scheme
should make more of the available views, also using them to help with way-finding around
the site.

The desizn approach and general site strategy should incorporate a recognition of climate
change risks and opportunities, and physical and social health and well-being, by restoring
and creating landscapes that give back to the commumity. The inclusion of the Harris
Trst land in the application is supported, creating more regularity and coherence to the
boundary of the site, although the protrusion of the Basin to the West does weaken the
urban edge of the site and this needs to be further justified.

81
Page 87



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1
APPENDIX 1
Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 ltem 2.1

APPENDIX 3

d:se

In the current proposal, although some consideration has been given to creating different
densities and heights of buildings, with lower density being proposed to the west, there is
very litfle evidence of a hierarchy across the site. There appears to be an even distribution
of houses, very few apartment buildings and little evidence of the fous points that are
allnded to in the framework diagrams. For example, a higher density of homes might face
onto a well-defined central space or village green, while larger homes towards and in the
north west cormer of the site may be spaced further apart.

Looking at the masterplan in the context of other comments made on the proposal, it
does not yet foster a sense of commmmity and could result in the creation of a dormitory
suburb and comnmuter town. On-site facilities are just one element of community and their
consideration and inclusion in a revised framework masterplan is sirongly encouraged to
create a sense of place and community and prevent the continual use of cars to access local
facilities,

As currently designed, green spaces are separated out from the residential areas, with
trees mainly shown as being located in gardens. The role of landscape should be used to
help sawve energy, requlate temperatures, encourage well-being, deal with drainage and
create communal spaces between the buildings.

Some thought must also be given to the future resilience of the scheme to climate change,
such as heavier bouts of rainfall and hotter, drier and longer summers. Dealing with
surface water closer to where it falls and enhancing biodiversity and performance of the
landscape needs integration into the masterplan.

Trees are not necessarily the appropriate landscape solution and could undermine

openness and interrupt views, two of the most important and vital characteristics of the
site.

This review was

ioned by 5 W Attwood B Partners with the knowledge of Swale Borough

82
Page 88



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 ltem 2.1

Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA)
Screening Matrix and Appropriate Assessment (AA) Statement

APPENDIX 4

IMPORTANT NOTE: Undertaking the HRA process is the responsibility of the decision maker as the
Competent Authority for the purpose of the Habitats Regulations’. However, it is the responsibility of
the applicant to provide the Competent Authority with the information required to complete this

process.

Application reference:

18/503135/0UT

Application address:

Land west of Barton Hill Drive, Minster

Application
description:

Outline application for the development of up to 700 dwellings
and all necessary supporting infrastructure including land for
provision of a convenience store / community facility, internal
access roads, footpaths, cycleways and parking, open space,
play areas and landscaping, drainage, utilities and service
infrastructure works. (All detailed Matters Reserved for
subsequent approval except for access to Lower Road and to
Barton Hill Drive).

Lead Planning Officer:

Andrew Byrne

HRA Date:

17/02/19

Part 1 — Details of the plan or project

European site or sites potentially Medway Estuary & Marshes SPA and

impacted by planning application, plan or | Ramsar Site

project (Delete as appropriate): Thames Estuary & Marshes SPA and
Ramsar Site

The Swale SPA and Ramsar Site

Is the planning application directly
connected to the management of the site?

No

Part 2 — HRA Screening Assessment

Ramsar Site.

Screening under Regulation 63(1)(a) of the Habitats Regulations — The Applicant
should provide evidence to allow a judgement to be made as to whether there could be
any potential significant impacts of the development on the integrity of the SPA /

The coastline of North Kent encompasses three Special Protection Areas (SPAs): the
Thames Estuary and Marshes SPA, the Medway Estuary and Marshes SPA and the Swale
SPA. They are classified in accordance with the European Birds Directive which requires
Member States to classify sites that are important for bird species listed on Annex 1 of the

T All references in this document to the ‘Habitats Regulations’ refer to the Conservation of Habitats and Species

Regulations 2017

83
Page 89



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1
APPENDIX 1
Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 ltem 2.1

European Directive, which are rare and / or vulnerable in a European context, and also sites
that form a critically important network for birds on migration. All three sites are also listed
as Wetlands of International Importance under the Ramsar Convention (Ramsar Sites). For
clarity, and the purpose of this assessment, ‘European

Sites’ refers to both the SPA(s) and Ramsar? Site(s). Studies have shown marked declines
in key bird species, particularly in areas that are busiest with recreational activity.

Research?® conducted in 2011 found that additional dwellings were likely to result in additional
recreational activity, causing disturbance to protected bird species that over-winter or breed
on the SPA and Ramsar Site. The studies found that 75% of recreational visitors to the
North Kent coast originate from within 6km of the SPA boundary and Ramsar Site. The
impacts of recreational disturbance can be such that they affect the status and distribution of
key bird species and therefore act against the stated conservation objectives of the European
sites.

Following the CJEU ruling*, avoidance or mitigation measures cannot be taken into account

as part of the application at this stage of the HRA, and must be considered under an
Appropriate Assessment stage of the HRA in part 3 of this document.

Are there any other plans or projects that | Yes. All new dwellings built within 6km of

together with the planning application the SPA and Ramsar Site, or other

being assessed could result in a likely developments that could lead to an increased

significant effect the site when recreational pressure, could combine to have

considered in-combination? a likely significant effect on the SPA and
Ramsar Site.

Would the proposal lead to a likely significant effect on the European sites, without
mitigation measures either alone or in-combination? YES

Part 3 — Appropriate Assessment

Appropriate Assessment under Regulation 63(1) — if there are any potential significant
impacts, the Applicant must provide evidence showing avoidance and/or mitigation
measures to allow an Assessment to be made. The Applicant must also provide
details which demonstrate any long-term management, maintenance and funding of
any solution.

The project being assessed would result in a net increase of dwellings within 6km of the North
Kent SPAs and Ramsar Sites. In line with Policy CP7 ‘Conserving and enhancing the
natural environment — providing for green infrastructure’ and Policy DM 28 ‘Biodiversity and
geological conservation’ and based upon the best available evidence, a permanent likely
significant effect on the SPAs and Ramsar Sites due to increase in recreational disturbance

2 As a matter of Government Policy (NPPF Paragraph 18), Ramsar Sites should be given the same protection of
European Sites.
3 Liley, D. & Fearnley, H. (2011). Bird Disturbance Study, North Kent 2010/11. Footprint Ecology
4 CJEU Ruling Case C-323/17
84

Page 90



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1
APPENDIX 1

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 Item 2.1

as a result of the new development, is likely to occur. As such, in order to avoid and mitigate
for an adverse effect on the integrity of the SPAs and Ramsar Site(s), the development will
need to include a package of avoidance and mitigation measures.

The North Kent Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Strategy® (SAMMS) sets out a
strategy to resolve disturbance issues to wintering birds on the North Kent Marshes, focusing
on the European Protected Sites and Ramsar Sites and their internationally important bird
interest features. Elements within the strategy are:
¢ Rangers to provide wardening and visitor engagement
¢ A North Kent Coast dog project to promote responsible dog ownership and encourage
walking on lead in sensitive areas
o Codes of conduct developed in partnership with local groups and clubs to raise
awareness of recreational disturbance in a variety of activities both on and off of the
water
¢ Interpretation and signage
¢ New and/or enhanced infrastructure
¢ Enforcement and Monitoring

The report* also considered alternative measures, such as legal covenants relating to pet
ownership in new developments, and capping visitor numbers at recreational sites. Due to
the complexities in enforcing legal covenants and in reducing visitor numbers to the North
Kent marshes, it is difficult to have confidence that such measures would be effective in the
long term.

The suite of strategic mitigation measures are being delivered through the Bird Wise® project,
a partnership of local authorities and conservation organisations in North Kent, to ensure that
development, considered in-combination, does not have an adverse effect on the integrity of
the European sites. A per-dwelling tariff” has been calculated using the total cost of
delivering the mitigation measures in-perpetuity and the planned number of additional
dwellings expected to be built in North Kent. Swale’s tariff is £239.61 per dwelling.

Natural England has worked with the north Kent Local Planning Authorities to support them in
preparing the SAMMS and the underpinning evidence base. Natural England agree that the
mitigation measures to ensure additional impacts from recreational disturbance to the SPAs
and Ramsar Sites are ecologically sound. As such, the Applicant does not need to provide
their own evidence base on these aspects. Evidence should however be submitted showing
that a mitigation contribution payment has either:

¢ Been made to the Bird Wise scheme through a Unilateral Undertaking; or

e Be made through a s106 agreement where Heads of Terms have been agreed and

the agreement will be signed prior to any permission being granted.

5 Liley, D. & Underhill-Day, J. (2013). Thames, Medway and Swale Estuaries — Strategic Access Management and
Monitoring Strategy. Unpublished report by Footprint Ecology
6 Full details available at www.birdwise.org.uk

7 Baseline tariff set at £223.58 per new dwelling in 2014, index linked and subject to annual increase.

85
Page 91


http://www.birdwise.org.uk/

Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1
APPENDIX 1
Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 28 February 2019 ltem 2.1

Part 4 —- Summary of the Appropriate Assessment - To be carried out by the Competent

Authority (the local planning authority) in liaison with Natural England

Having considered the proposed mitigation and avoidance measures to be provided in-
perpetuity through the secured contribution to the Bird Wise scheme, Swale Council conclude
that with mitigation, the plan or project will have no adverse effect on the integrity of the
European protected site(s).

Having made this appropriate assessment of the implications of the plan or project for the
site(s) in view of that site’s conservation objectives, and having consulted Natural England
and fully considered any representation received (see below), the authority may now agree to
the plan or project under regulation 63 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017.

Natural England Officer:

Summary of Natural England’s comments: Please see NE consultation response on
the planning file which raises no objection subject to securing a SAMM payment.

i This template is to be used to aid the decision making for residential developments where the only
potential impact is from recreational pressure that the Bird Wise scheme can mitigate. There may be
cases close to the designated sites where additional impacts such as loss of habitat supporting SPA
bird species or additional recreation management measures are needed, for example, which will
require a bespoke, more detailed appropriate assessment.

86
Page 92



Report to Planning Committee — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 2

Planning Committee 28 February 2019 - TABLED UPDATE FOR ITEM 2.1

18/503135 — Land west of Barton Hill Drive, Minster

This update is in addition to the report circulated earlier this week regarding the publication
by Government of its Housing Delivery Test.

Further Consultation Responses

KCC Archaeology — state that the desk-based assessment submitted with the application
provides a good description of the archaeological potential of the site, and that pre-

application discussions took place with the applicant’s archaeological consultants. Raise no
objection subject to a planning condition.

SBC Tree Consultant - Based on the current landscape character of the site, although in
outline, the layout as shown on the masterplan would appear to take on board the
arboricultural constraints by retaining as much of the existing vegetation, hedges/trees as
practically possible. Obviously, the tree constraints plans should be used during the
production of the detailed stage of the application to ensure the better graded trees are
retained and protected. This can be secured by way of conditions to ensure that detailed
applications on this site are supported by a tree impact assessment, method statement and
tree protection plan.

Landscape Impact Update

The applicant has provided a revised Landscape Impact Assessment which has been
amended in response to comments made by the Council’s external Landscape Consultant.

The revised impact assessment provides further ranking effects relating to landscape
impacts, taken from a series of receptors in both long and short range views of the site. The
ranking effects vary from negligible / low adverse impacts to medium adverse impacts,
taking into account the woodland planting proposed to the south and west of the site. The
main impacts are on Furze Hill, Lower Road and Barton Hill Drive, and from properties
bordering the site. However these fall short of being ranked as significant adverse impacts.

The LVA concludes that inclusion of the additional land beyond the site allocation has a
limited impact on the wider landscape, and that the most pronounced adverse effects on the
landscape would be mitigated by the woodland boundary planting on the southern and
western boundaries of the site.

The revised assessment has only been received this week and | am awaiting more detailed
feedback from the Council’s Landscape Consultant. He has however initially indicated that
whilst the application will have a greater landscape and visual effect than the allocated
scheme, that this effect would be ranked as no greater than a “minor / moderate adverse”
effect.

| do not, at this stage, see any reason to change my conclusions on landscape impact as set
out in paragraph 8.95 of the main report. However as this is subject to more detailed
feedback from the Council’s Landscape Consultant. | would ask for the delegated authority

87
Page 93



Report to Planning Committee — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1
APPENDIX 2

to approve this application to be extended to include this, and confirmation from the
consultant that the landscape impacts would not be significantly adverse.

Further representations
3 further representations have been received, raising the following issues —

e The Island does not need more homes

e Lack of infrastructure

o Amenities have still not been provided on the Thistle Hill estate, this will be no
different

e The development would negate the effect of improving Lower Road / road
infrastructure not suitable

o Loss of green space

¢ Why use green filed land when there is brownfield land on the island.

o Great Crested Newts are not confined to the woodland area and use the application
site to migrate to other areas. At least some form of green corridor needs to be left or
created to allow this to continue.

o The Local Plan has incorrectly identified a small number of large housing sites rather
than multiple smaller sites.

Officer comment — the suitability of the site for development, local plan allocation, provision
of infrastructure and local facilities are set out in detail in the main report.

The presence of Great Crested Newts has been identified in the Great Crested Newt Survey
undertaken by the applicant. The survey recommends that an on-site receptor area is
provided and sets out that the masterplan includes provision of suitable habitat and new on
site ponds and ditches in the north section of the site. This is acceptable to the KCC
Ecologist, and proposed condition 37 requires a method statement to identify a suitable
receptor site. | am therefore satisfied that this issue has been properly considered and
appropriate mitigation provided.

Representation circulated to Members

A letter from Consilium Planning has been circulated today to Members. The company
represent the owners of the orchard to the north of the site.

The letter sets out that the committee report erroneously refers to the potential management
of the orchard as part of the development. This is not the case. The report (para 8.05)
identifies that the land is not part of the planning application and sets out (para 8.16) the
implications of this, and explicitly states that as a consequence it cannot be managed. This
paragraph also considers the potential for future development of the land (as the Consilium
letter sets out) and how this would need to be assessed against ecological and landscape
considerations, and the presumption under policy A12 that this orchard should be retained.
Paragraph 9.01 sets out that the development can provide an appropriate landscape setting
to the existing orchard, which | consider to be accurate in the absence of any planning
permission for development of the orchard land.

88
Page 94



Report to Planning Committee — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1
APPENDIX 2
Conditions

As now required by the Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017, planning permission may not be
granted subject to pre-commencement conditions, without the written agreement of the
applicant. The list of conditions in the report has been circulated to the applicant, and a
number of changes have been sought. | am content that some of these changes are
acceptable and have set these out below. However, some changes sought by the applicant
are not yet agreed. This applies to conditions 6, 8, 9, 12, 16, 36, 37, 38, 39, 41, 47 and 48
On this basis | would ask Members that the delegated authority sought is extended to
include further consideration of the above conditions, in conjunction with the relevant ward
members and chairman.

Members should also note that conditions 23, 27, 28 may alternatively be included as
clauses in the S106 agreement under the same terms.

The condition requested by KCC Archaeology is also provided below.

Ad(ditional Archaeology Condition

No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors in title, has
secured the implementation of

i. archaeological field evaluation works in accordance with a specification and written
timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority; and

ii. following on from the evaluation, any safeguarding measures to ensure preservation in
situ of important archaeological remains and/or further archaeological investigation and
recording in accordance with a specification and timetable which has been submitted to and
approved by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure appropriate assessment of the archaeological implications of any
development proposals and the subsequent mitigation of adverse impacts through
preservation in situ or by record.

Agreed alterations to conditions in main report (using the same condition numbers)

(bold text indicates additional / altered wording. Strike-through text for wording to be
removed)

2) Application for approval of reserved matters referred to in Condition (1) above must be
made not later than the expiration of five ten years beginning with the date of the grant
of outline planning permission.

11) Before development commences within a relevant phase details shall be submitted for
the installation of fixed telecommunication infrastructure and High Speed Fibre Optic
(minimakinternal-speed-of100mb) connections to multi point destinations and all
buildings including residential, commercial and community buildings within that phase.
This shall provide sufficient capacity, including duct sizing to cater for all future phases
of the development with sufficient flexibility to meet the needs of existing and future
residents. The infrastructure shall be laid out in accordance with the approved details
and at the same time as other services during the construction process.

89
Page 95



Report to Planning Committee — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 2

15) The reserved matters details for the convenience store / community facility shall make
provision for a building(s) of up to 650 sqm gross of floor space with associated car
parking. The building(s) shall be permitted for uses under classes A1, A3, A4, D1 and
D2 of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended), and for
no other purpose.

20) The reserved matters for phase 1 (as shown on drawing 1456.21 Version 07), shall
include the provision of a footway on the development site frontage on the west side
of Barton Hill Drive, and this shall be completed prior to the occupation of any units on
the site.

29) The reserved matters for each phase shall include measures to provide electric vehicle
charging and shall include —
a) Provision for en-site electric vehicle charging facilities points to all dwellings with en
site-parking facilities within their curtilage.

b) Details of provision for electric vehicle charging points for 10% of all other
residential parking areas (save for visitor parking areas) within that Phase;

No dwelling shall be occupied until the electric vehicle charging point for that dwelling
has been installed (whether for an individual property or a communal point)

30) No development shall be commenced until:

i. the details required by Condition 1 have demonstrated that requirements for surface
water drainage can be accommodated within the proposed development layout forthat

phase

ii. a detailed sustainable surface water drainage strategy has been submitted to

(and approved in writing by) the local planning authority. The detailed drainage scheme
shall demonstrate that the surface water generated by this development (for all rainfall
durations and intensities up to and including the climate change adjusted critical 100
year storm) can be accommodated and discharged from the site at an agreed controlled
discharge rate. The drainage scheme shall also demonstrate that silt and pollutants
resulting from the site use can be adequately managed to ensure there is no pollution
risk to receiving waters.

35) This condition has been deleted on the basis that it is a matter for the water company to
put in place a timescale for network reinforcement

45) The reserved matters for each phase shall include a detailed hard and soft landscaping
scheme for all public areas within each phase of development. The scheme shall
include the following details -

o Details of the type and quantum, and layout of open space to be provided within each

phase (based upon the information contained within the Design and Access Statement /
Development Brief and parameters plans submitted with the application).

90
Page 96



Report to Planning Committee — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 2

e Soft landscaping proposals, to include existing trees, shrubs and other features,
planting schedules of plants, noting species (which shall be native species and of a type
that will encourage wildlife and biodiversity), plant sizes and numbers where
appropriate.

e A detailed scheme for street tree planting (where practicable).

e Hard landscaping details for the public areas, to include details of lighting,
hardsurfaces, footpaths and cycleways (including surface finishes), means of enclosure,
litter bins, dog bins, and benches.

o Phase 2 (as shown on drawing 1456.21 Version 07) shall include a Neighbourhood
Equipped Area of Play, ball court facility and central open space / kick-about facility
e Phases 1 and 5 (as shown on drawing 1456.21 Version 07) shall include a Local
Equipped Area of Play / Local Area of Play facility.

o Phase 3 (as shown on drawing 1456.21 Version 07) shall include (subject to any
requirements of Natural England) a scheme for an extended orchard area and open
space in the north east corner of the site, in accordance with the lllustrative Landscape
strategy by Lloyd Bore.
¢ A timetable for implementation

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and
implementation timetable.

Recommendation

For clarification, my recommendation is for delegated authority to be given to officers to
grant planning permission, subject to —

o Completion of a S106 agreement in the terms set out in the report

e Agreement of necessary conditions with the developer, in conjunction with ward
members and the chairman

e Confirmation from the Council’s landscape consultant that the landscape impacts
would not be ranked as significant adverse

91
Page 97



Report to Planning Committee — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 2

18/503135/0UT Land West of Barton Hill Drive, Minster-on Sea

This update report has been prepared as a result of the Government’s publication of its (delayed)
Housing Delivery Test (HDT) on 19 February 2019.

Paragraphs 4.10-4.13 of the original report set out the Council’s five-year housing land supply
position as at the time of writing the report. It made clear that the Council’s 5.3 year land supply
position was subject to influence from the then pending publication of the HDT, the date of
publication of which had been delayed since November 2018. The HDT is relevant to the land supply
position because it has the potential to increase the ‘buffer’ from 5% to 20% that would need to be
added to housing shortfalls against the Council’s annualised housing requirement. Paragraph 4.13 of
the report indicated the likelihood that once published, application of the HDT buffer would lead to
a reduction in the land supply to 4.6 years. In that event, paragraph 4.14 of the report indicated that
an update on the position would be provided for the meeting.

Publication of the HDT on 19 February has indeed confirmed the need for the Council to apply a 20%
buffer, which has confirmed the Council’s land supply as 4.6 years. This means that as of 19
February 2019, the Council can no longer demonstrate a five-year supply of housing land. Thisis a
change from the conclusion reached at paragraph 4.14 of the original report.

Whilst it remains the case, as set out in paragraphs 8.10-8.17 of the report, that certain elements of
the scheme are not in accordance with the Local Plan, the basis for the recommendation made to
Members, as set out in paragraphs 9.01-9.08, has changed in the light of the new land supply
situation.

The basis for the recommendation in original report is one where officers acknowledge that
elements of the proposal are not in accordance with the statutory purpose of the development plan,
but where nevertheless it is considered that material considerations apply that justify departing
from it, i.e. a grant of planning permission. The lack of a five-year supply now changes this to one
where paragraph 11d) of the NPPF would now applies.

In effect, NPPF paragraph 11d) means that the most important Local Plan policies for determining
the application are judged as being ‘out of date’. This does not mean that they carry no weight in
decision making; rather that to refuse planning permission, the proposals would need to either
clearly offend policies that protect areas or assets of particular importance, as set out by the NPPF
(paragraph 11d)i, or that the weight given to the benefits of the scheme (including any housing
provision) is significantly and demonstrably outweighed by adverse impacts (NPPF paragraph 11d)ii.

Paragraphs 9.07-08 of the officers original report already confirms that neither of these matters can
be justified in the case of this application.

A matter not specifically considered by the originally report, but which is now relevant in the light of
the HDT, is the contribution that the application site is envisaged as making to the five-year supply.
In arriving at its land supply position for 2017/18 (i.e. the 4.6 years), the Council has assumed a
contribution from the site of 100 units within the five year supply. If planning permission is refused,
this contribution could not be made. This could result in future pressure on the Council’s five year

92
Page 98



Report to Planning Committee — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1
APPENDIX 2

housing land supply position. Members should therefore also view this as a matter in favour of

granting planning permission.

The effect of this update report is that officer’'s recommendation to Members in the original report

remains unchanged.

93
Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019

525

526

527

PLANNING COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the Meeting held in the Council Chamber, Swale House, East Street,
Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT on Thursday, 28 February 2019 from 7.00pm -
10.39pm.

PRESENT: Councillors Mike Baldock, Cameron Beart, Bobbin, Andy Booth (Vice-
Chairman, in-the-Chair), Tina Booth (Substitute for Councillor Nicholas Hampshire),
Richard Darby, Mike Dendor, James Hall, Hamrison, Mike Henderson, James Hunt,
Ken Ingleton, Migel Kay, Gerry Lewin (Substitute for Councillor Bryan Mulhemn),
Peter Marchington and Ghlin Whelan.

OFFICERS PRESENT: Andy Bymne, Philippa Davies, Colin Finch, James
Freeman, Andrew Jeffers, Cheryl Parks and Jim Wilson.

ALSO IN  ATTENDANCE: Councillors Roger Clark, Lynd Taylor and
Roger Truelove.

APOLOGIES: Councillors Nicholas Hampshire, Bryan Mulhern and Prescott.
EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE

The Vice-Chairman in-the-Chair ensured that those present were aware of the
emergency evacuation procedure.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Mo interests were declared.
SCHEDULE OF DECISIONS
PART 2

Applications for which PERMISSION is recommended

2.1 REFERENCE NO - 18/503135/0UT

APPLICATION PROPOSAL

Outline application for the development of up to 700 dwellings and all necessary
supporting infrastructure including land for provision of a convenience store [/
community facility, internal access roads, footpaths, cycleways and parking, open
space, play areas and landscaping, drainage, utiliies and service infrastructure works.

(All detailed Matters Reserved for subsequent approval except for access to Lower

FRoad and to Barton Hill Drive).

ADDRESS Land West of Barton Hill Drive Minster-on-sea Kent ME12 3L

WARD Clueenborough
And Halfway

PARISHITOWN COUNCIL
Minster-On-Sea

APPLICANT SW Attwood &
Partners

- BAL -

94
Page 101

Def Item 1

APPENDIX 3



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 3

Flanning Commiltee 28 February 2019

AGENT JB Planning
Associates

The meeting was adjourned from 7.05pm to 7.11pm fo allow Members to read the
tabled papers, if they had not already done so.

The Senior Planner introduced the application and referred to the tabled papers.
He explained that following discussion with the Applicant, there was now agreed
wording to conditions (G), (9), (16), (36) and (47). He added that condition (47) on
page 44 of the report should refer to Parsonage Farmhouse, not Parsonage Chase.
The Senior Planner stated that the site area was 35.7 hectares, not 37.5 hectares
as noted on page 2 of the report. In paragraph 8.24, A4 use should also have been
included as a potential use of the local facility, as noted in condition ({15) in the
report.

The Senior Planner indicated the site on the plans and referred to the orchard to the
north of the site which was within the site allocation, but was not part of this
application. There were three parcels of land within the application that did not fall
within the site allocation, including land for sustainable drainage systems (SuDS).
The application also included a footpath link to Lower Road.

The Senior Planner outlined the planning constraints in relation to the unallocated
land. He explained that all three parcels were classed as open countryside and
some of the land to the western and southern sections fell within an important Local
Countryside Gap. The Senior Planner stated that the site was near Parsonage
Farmhouse which was a Grade |l listed building. The development was for up-to
700 dwellings, with all matters reserved, except for matters relating fo access to
Lower Road and to Barton Hill Dnve. The Senior Planner said that the
development would consist of a varying density of properties, mostly 2-storey in
height, with some 3-storey as well. There would be a central landscaped area,
including a ball court, land for a local facility, open spaces, and green corridor
areas. There would also be a woodland buffer, with a minimum 20 metre depth to
the south and west, and footpath and cycle connections to Lower Road and
Parsonage Chase. He concluded by stating that the scheme facilitated road
improvements between Barton Hill Drive and Cowstead Comer, and this included
road widening and the addition of dedicated footpaths.

Mr Andy Fisher, an objector, spoke against the application.
Mr John Boyd, the Agent, spoke in support of the application.

The Vice-Chairman in-the-Chair invited Members to ask questions, relevant to
pages 1 to 33 in the report, and the questions and answers are set-out below.

Page 1
A Member asked as the site fargely complied with the criteria in the Local Plan, and

some of the site was outside the allocated land, why it was being recommended for
approval? The Senior Planner explained that the application had not complied with

- B4R -

95
Page 102



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 3

Flanning Commiltee 28 February 2019

all the Local Plan crteria, and the report set out in detall why officers had
recommended approval.

A Member asked why the application did not conform to the allocated site, and also
about the viability of the housing numbers. The Head of Planning acknowledged
that the application was not in accordance with the allocation, and Members had to
decide whether there was demonstrable harm overall as a consequence. He added
that the Viability Assessment indicated that this was a deliverable scheme. There
was an issue with lack of land coming forward for development in the Borough, with
a lag-time between planning permission being granted and housing being built.
The Borough no longer had a 5-year supply which changed the emphasis.

Page 3

A Member referred to paragraph 3.02 and requested confirmation as to whether the
unallocated land was Grade 3 agricultural land. The Senior Planner explained that
Matural England’s (NE) website had indicated that it was Grade 3. There had been
discussions with the Council's agricultural consultant, and they had advised that it
was likely to be Grade 3b. The Senior Planner came to the conclusion that this was
not likely to be best and most versatile land.

Page b

The same Member referred to paragraph 4.06 where in accordance with Policy
DM31, unless allocated by the Local Plan, that the loss of high quality agricultural
land should be avoided. He was not convinced by it being ‘not likely” to be best and
most versatile land and asked that a test be carmied out. The Senior Planner re-
iterated that NE maps and the agricultural consultant had indicated that it was
unlikely to be best and most versatile land.

Page 6

A Member questioned whether the landscaped buffer to the south of the site was
adequate to mitigate the impact of the development, and the negative impact of this
in respect of tounsm and views of the area. In the Local Plan, this land had been
dllocated as open space, with lakes, woodland and no built development. The
Senior Planner referred the Member to page 19 of the report, paragraphs 8.26 and
8.27 which set out the landscaping and open space on the site. He explained that
the application proposed green open space in the centre of the development
instead, and this would be more accessible to the development as a whole. The
Senior Planner said the landscape consultant was satisfied with the 20 metre
buffer.

Page 11

A Member asked how the link to Neats Court would be carried out as there was a
dual camageway way in between, and what proposals were there to reduce
congestion at Halfway/MinsterRoad/The Crescent? The Prncipal Transport and
Development Planner (Kent County Council (KCC)) explainaed that the connection
to Neats Court would be via a 3.5 metre wide cycleway to Cowstead Corner from
Lower Road. Queenborough Road would also be improved with pedestrian and

-BAT -

96
Page 103



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 3

Flanning Commiltee 28 February 2019

cycle routes. In respect of the Halfway junction, he added that consultation would
be required with existing residents to establish an agreeable solution. Options
could include one of the above three roads would be closed-off, or one made into a
one-way street.

A Member asked what a puffin crossing was and how much the contribution of £300
per unit would reduce vehicle movements over a 5-year period? The Principal
Transport and Development Planner explained that a puffin crossing was a signal-
controlled crossing for pedestrians only. He stated that the £300 was a new
incentive for all developments which provided bus or train passes for a period of
four months. He added that the purpose of this was to change travel habits and
that this could reduce movements by 11-12%.

A Member requested details of the works to address queuing at the Wallend
junction to Lower Road. The Principal Transport and Development Planner
explained that this would involve the implementation of a right-tum lane.

A Member asked about any improvements to the Cowstead Corner roundabout.
The Prncipal Transport and Development Planner explained that there were
ongoing discussions with the landowner over additional land, and it was hoped to
have a 70 metre stretch of two lanes on the Lower Road approach.

Page 12

A Member questioned the comments from Highways England (HE) that no more
than 250 dwellings should be occupied prior to the M2 Junction 5 works being
completed. The Member considerad this could be an issue if the junction works
were delayed, or did not go ahead, and 250 dwellings would be a disaster viability-
wise, and how could the development go ahead with that limitation? He also
queried as to whether HE were rejecting any further transport modelling until
Junction & was complete, and questioned why the application was being considered
at this stage? The Principal Transport and Development Planner stated that HE
were committed to the junction improvements. The Head of Planning said that
Junction & of the M2 was up to capacity, and explained that there was a five-year
lead time for the development, and the junction was likely to be complete by then.
He was not aware of the HE saying that there would be no more fraffic modelling
until Junction &5 was completed. The Principal Transport and Development Planner
explained that HE had not said no more transport modelling, just that they were not
accepting more than 250 dwellings being built until the junction was open and
available for use.

Page 13

A Member queried the provision of funding for a school in Sittingbourne, rather than
the lsle of Sheppey, and the Head of Planning explained that this provision was
being made as pupils were more likely to choose to go to a secondary school on
the mainland.

A Member referred to paragraph 6.14 of the report with the mention of affordable
homes, noting that there were none proposed on the site, and that there was a
dangerous road to cross to get to some of the open space south of Lower Road.

-EB48 -

97
Page 104



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 3

Flanning Commiltee 28 February 2019

The Senior Planner confirmed that there was no provision for affordable housing on
the site and that the land to the south of Lower Road would be an area for SuDS
drainage and would be unlikely to be used as open space, given the location of this
land.

A Member asked whether the Council ever did pay Section 106 monies to Clinical
Commissioning Groups (CCGs), and the Head of Planning explained that they were
paid from money received from developer contrbutions, and this was released
when the CCG put forward a request with evidence of the project to be funded, at
tigger points throughout progress of the development.

A Member stated that there was mention of 5% affordable housing, and the Senior
Planner drew his attention to page 29 of the report, and that the viability appraisal
modelled 5% affordable housing, and this had indicated that this could not be
delivered.

A Member stated that as soon as the dwellings were occupied, this put pressure on
the health service and funding should be released to the health providers. The
Head of Planning Services explained that the Section 106 funding was for capital,
not revenue funding. The NHS/CCG would identify projects with the Section 106
Agreement, in accordance with CIL regulations.

A Member asked whether there were time limits for the money to be claimed by the
CCG, before it went back to the developer? The Head of Planning explained that
the funding would be phased from first occupancy of the dwellings, the funding did
not always go back to the developer, but could do after 10 years of the
development being completed.

A Member asked in relation to the SuDS how much of the area was available for
open space? The Senior Planner explained that the second SuDS area fo the west
could be available for recreational use, and there was a balance between open
SuDS and general amenity space, with the potential for them to be combined. If the
southern SuDS area was removed from the opean space, the total would be 105
hectares.

Page 14

A Member considered that with 700 dwellings, funding for sports facilities should be
on-site, rather than to the nearby rugby club. The Senior Planner explained that
there was provision for informal play facilities within the site, more formal facilities
would require the addition of changing facilities. The rugby club was 200 metres
from the application site, and could be used by residents of the new development,
and this was acceptable to the Council’'s Green Spaces Manager.

Page 16
A Member queried the importance, as stated, of the Local Countryside Gap, and
should the land if it was that important, remain as a Countryside Gap? The Senior

Planner explained that the Gap was important as a tool to avoid coalescence
between different urban areas. The main reason in this instance that development

-B49 -

98
Page 105



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 3

Flanning Commiltee 28 February 2019

was acceptable was that the Gap sat in a recess, along the site allocation
boundary, and the built form did not go further weast than the existing boundary line.

A Member questioned what was meant by the “potential’ for a local shop/community
facility? The Senior Planner explained that a building could not be built if there was
no market appetite for its use. He added that incentives were in place to make ita
reality.

A Member asked how the development met the exceptions in Policy ST3 of the
Local Plan which required a site outside an allocated area to coniribute to
protecting and enhancing landscape settings, tranquillity and beauty of the
countryside and asked how this development met this critena? The Senior Planner
drew the Member's attention to paragraph 8.11, and acknowledged there would be
some conflict with Policies ST3 and DM25 of the Local Plan. The Member
considered the exception policy was being overridden at will. The Senior Planner
explained that prionty was given to the Development Plan unless there were
reasons not to; on very large schemes there might be conflict with some policies,
and it was a case of finding a balance.

Page 17

A Member asked if the two parcels of land allocated under Policy A12, and not
included in this application could come forward for development in the future. The
Senior Planner confirmed that they were still part of the Local Plan allocation.

A Member referred to the tabled paper from Consilium and asked about the status
of the land mentioned in the paper in relation to the application site. The Senior
Planner explained that pre-application talks had taken place, and he had advised
that under Policy A12, the orchard should be retained, and he confirmed that an
application for the site had not been received to-date.

A Member asked that if the land referred to in paragraph 8.13 was not available to
purchase so the road could be widened, would KCC Highways and Transportation
have objected to the application? The Prncipal Transport and Development
Planner explained that the application would have to be re-assessed if that was the
case.

Page 18

A Member asked what the contribution was following consultation with local
residents on the masterplan? The Senior Planner explained that the consultation
had taken place in May 2018, and the statement of community involvement from
the applicant had been taken into account when the application was submitted.

Page 19
A Member asked for clarification on the tabled Landscape Impact Update, and the
Senior Planner explained that some more detailed feedback was needed from the

Council's Landscape Consultant, but there were indications that there were no
significant issues remaining.

- 650 -

99
Page 106



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 3

Flanning Commiltee 28 February 2019

A Member asked why Members had not seen a masterplan or development brief for
this application, as they could sometimes assist in making a decision. The Senior
FPlanner explained that there was a development brief and site parameter plans
which gave overarching principles of the development. He referred to condition (G6)
which required a design code for each stage of the development which would set
further principles for the development.

Page 20

A Member asked whether the £200,000 in paragraph 8.33 towards the cost of the
local facility, included everything required to build the building, and who would make
up the shortfall if there was one? The Senior Planner acknowledged that it might
cost more than £200,000, but considered this amount to be substantial. He added
that exact terms regarding this within the Section 106 Agreement had not been
finalised. If an occupier came forward, they would ‘bridge the gap’, but if no one
came forward and there was no market interest, this facility might not be provided.
The Head of Planning explained that the £200,000 would not be lost, it would go
towards the new secondary school if it was not used.

A Member considered the orchard land was overgrown orchard and the Senior
Planner agreed that it had probably not been managed for a number of years.

A Member considered the local facility should be a minimum of 650 square metres
(reference condition (15)), and considered that building costs could be £1,000 per
square metre. The Senior Planner did not know the true cost of construction, but
considered £200,000 to be a substantial amount.

A Member suggested that a contnbufion be made instead to the adjoining
development's community building.

Page 21

A Member considered residents would still need to use their cars to get to train
stations, and there was no incentive to cut down on car use. The Prncipal
Transport and Development Planner said there were incentives, plus cycle routes
on the development, and bus stops being secured within the site, all with the aim of
encouraging alternative options for travel.

A Member requested further information on the views that would result due to the
topography, and the positioning of open spaces. The Senior Planner explained that
the Design Review Panel had considered this, in an aim to remove or adapt the
buffer landscaping to promote views. He acknowledged that there would be some
visual impact, particularly on the top half, which was less likely to be mitigated by
landscaping screening. The Member also said that there was demonstrable harm
to the view from within the site as well.

A Member spoke on the beauty of the Isle of Sheppey, and its open views, and that
this would be lost. The Senior Planner explained that sites needed to be found for
housing through the Local Plan, and that officers sought to minimise the impacts.

-Bb1 -

100
Page 107



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 3

Flanning Commiltee 28 February 2019

Page 22

A Member asked who paid for the bus services and who kept them going and at
what stage were residents given the vouchers? The Principal Transport and
Development Planner explained that bus vouchers were provided, and the bus
routes would go where there was demand. He said that the route would be
delivered in Phase 1, and vouchers given out when the dwellings were purchased,
and triggered when the bus route commenced. These would provide income to the
bus operators.

Page 26

A Member asked how realistic the transport assessment figures were for vehicle
movements to and from the site. The Principal Transport and Development Planner
explained the process of collecting data from an existing development and
projecting them for the proposed development.

Page 29

A Member asked why the wviability assessment had not been included with the
report. The Senior Planner explained that these assessments were now in the
public domain, and so freely assessable to view.

A Member asked what happened if the assumed 18% margin was not realised by
the developer? The Senior Planner explained that the viability assessment
predicted the modelling camed out based on 18% returns to the developer. There
was no re-course to the developer if the 18% was not achieved.

Page 30

A Member asked why no air quality testing had been done along Lower Road to
see whether there was an impact on residents? The Major Projects Officer referred
to paragraph 6.30 on page 15 of the report, and that it was not an issue of concem
on the lsle of Sheppey, and so not necessary to camy out an air quality
assessment. The Head of FPlanning added that there was not an Air Quality
Management Area on the Isle of Sheppey.

Page 32

A Member considered bio-diversity was an important issue which had been ignored.
The Senior Planner referred the Member to page 12 of the report where KCC
Ecology and ME had stated no objection fo the scheme. He considered the bio-
diversity value to be limited, and added that tree planting and landscaping could
provide bio-diversity on the site. The Member stated that it was a requirement of
the Local Plan to improve bio-diversity. The Senior Planner acknowledged the
importance of bio-diversity and referred the Member to condition (39) in relation to
achieving ecological enhancements on the site.

-bh2 -

101
Page 108



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 3

Flanning Commiltee 28 February 2019

Page 33

The Principal Transport and Development Flanner confirmed that the amount
towards busftrain/cycle vouchers was £350 per dwelling.

A Member asked that it be ensured that the Council got a significantly large sum to
monitor the Section 106 Agreement and conditions for the full period that they
lasted. The Senior Planner explained that a sum would be sought to reflect the
application size.

The Senior Planner explained that the larger figure of £945 for bin contnbution to
flats was because these were the large communal bins.

The Vice-Chairman in-the-Chair moved the officer recommendation to approve the
application and this was seconded by Councillor Cameron Beart.

A Ward Member spoke against the application. He raised the following points:
there was an over-riding fact that this development was being rushed so that
funding for the road improvements could be achieved; there would be a cumulative
effect on the Isle of Sheppey as a result of the development; concemed with the HE
terms that no more than 250 dwellings be occupied prior to the M2 Junction 5 works
being completed; there was other housing on the Isle of Sheppey due to come
forward as well; the roundabout at Cowstead Comer had helped and there were
less queues; the increased width of Lower Road was not a significant change; the
application was premature; and cannot support it. These views were endorsed by
the other two Ward Members, and they added that this was not worth it, it was just
for the road funding, and that the views on the Isle of Sheppey needed to be
preserved.

An adjoining Ward Member spoke against the application and raised the following
points:  the new roundabout had helped, but the test would be when the holiday
sites re-opened on 1 March 2019; loss of views; there were some inaccuracies in
the report; and the orchard was dead. Ancther adjoining Ward Member spoke on
the application and raised the following points: there were planning permissions
outstanding for 1,000 houses in the area; the infrastructure had not developed in-
line with housing development; there were good scheols and a cottage hospital; the
bus service was terrible; improvements were needed on the road to Cowstead
Comer; did not like developing land like this; did not like the development being
here but we needed a planning consideration to refuse it; this was allocated in the
Local Flan; the development could help with the addition of shops, and the hospital
could develop further; and did not like to approve it, but should look at all the things
that it would bring fo the area.

The Committee debated the proposal to approve the application, and raised the
following points:

+ The majority of the site was allocated for housing within the Local Plan;
the main parts not within the allocated site were green spaces anyway;
the additional 2.1 acres for the additional 80 houses with the benefits the
development would bring outweighed the reasons for not approving;

o ifrefused, the road widening would not take place;

-Bh3 -

102
Page 109



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019

Flanning Commiltee 28 February 2019

620 dwellings were in the Local Plan, if it did not go ahead, 620 houses
could be bullt on a future application, but without the extra infrastructure
which would have a massive impact on residents;

have not been convinced with the answers | have received;

allocation in Local Plan that was not viable was an unsettling situation;

there was a potential for even more housing if other sites in the allocation
came forward;

not happy with how this had been handled, it should have been plan-led;
hard to believe the predicted mormning fraffic movements;

impact on Cowstead Corner would be severe;

the improved roads would once again get full with traffic:

funds should not go to a Sittingbourne school, the school on the Isle of
Sheppey should be improved instead;

not happy with the community building situation, the developer should build
the shell;

needed a traffic assessment of our own;

needed to consider that this land would be developed at some point, but do
not think this was the right time;

not happy with the SulS area south of the Lower Road being an amenity
space as well, the true amenity space on the site was significantly less than
promised and less than in the Local Plan;

Junction 5 of the M2 was functioning over capacity already, so this
application was premature, if the junction improvements did not go ahead or
were delayed, there would only be the 250 houses, which would not be
viable for the developer;

housing was needed, but there were 1,000 dwellings already approved to be
built on the Isle of Sheppey already;

did not need this before the next three to five years, and the improvement at
Junction 5 should have been completed by then;

could not turn down flat, as 620 were allocated in the Local Plan, but should
refuse as this was premature;

damage to the Countryside Gap;

the Section 106 Agreement mitigated a lot of issues, it should be adjusted
and maximised and come back to the Planning Committee for a decision to
be made on the final agreement;

a masterplan and development brief were important so that Members could
visualise what was being agreed;

the road improvements should have already been camied out, and the Isle of
Sheppey should have had the same chances as other parts of Kent;

there was a pressure to approve because of the improvements to the
infrastructure, felt ‘bribed'bullied’ to approve;

the developers could afford the Section 106 monies, more should be
negotiated;

Swale was viewed as a ‘soft touch’ by developers;

homes for social rent were needed;

negative cumulative effect;

regarding the school contribution to Sitingbourne, there was no KCC school
on the Isle of Sheppey in any case;

-5R4 -

103
Page 110

Def Item 1

APPENDIX 3



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 3

Flanning Commiltee 28 February 2019

o there was no delivery date for the completion of the improvements to
Junction 5, so the HE could say at an appeal that they would still deliver the
improvements;

¢« needed to consider the Local Plan, there was no material consideration to
refuse;

o significant benefits outweighed some of the negatives of the application;

o there were 1,000 dwellings approved in the parish of Minster alone, without
those in Queenborough;

o this would increase car movements, and the road network was already
struggling; and

« harm to the unique landscape.

Councillor Mike Baldock moved the following amendment. That the Section 106
Agreement came back to the Planning Committee for the final decision. This was
seconded by Councillor Nigel Kay. The Head of Planning reminded Members that
there were timing issues with regards to the funding of the road improvements, and
so the application was time-dependent, with the potential of the funding not going
ahead. He added that if the application was deferred the funding would be lost. He
suggested therefore that officers met with the Chairman and Ward Members to
determine the final Section 106 Agreement, rather tham bring back to the
Committee.

The Vice-Chairman in-the-Chair moved the following amendment: That officers met
with the Chairman and Ward Members to determine the final Section 106
Agreement, rather than bring back to the Committee. This was seconded by
Councillor Nigel Kay.

A Member suggested that if the application was approved that condition (15) be
amended to state the convenience store be a minimum of 500 square metres, and
up to 650 square metres; that condition (23) be amended to markedly reduce the
number of dwellings built before a puffin crossing was provided; and that conditions
(42) and (43) be amended to read ‘types’, rather than type’.

In accordance with Council Procedure Rule19(2) a recorded vote was taken
on the motion to approve the application, plus amendment, and voting was as
follows:

For: Councillors: James Hunt, Nigel Kay, Germy Lewin and Ghlin Whelan. Total
equals 4.

Against: Councillors Mike Baldock, Cameron Beart, George Bobbin, Andy Booth,
Richard Darby, Mike Dendor, James Hall, Tina Booth, Hamison, Mike Henderson
and Peter Marchington. Total equals 11.

Abstain: Councillor Ken Ingleton. Total equals 1.

At this point the Head of Planning used his delegated powers to ‘call-in’ the
application.

- Bbh -

104
Page 111



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019

Flanning Commiltee 28 February 2019

528

Resolved: That as the Planning Committee was minded to make a decision
that would be contrary to officer recommendation and contrary to planning
policy and/or guidance, determination of the application be deferred to a
future meeting of the Committee,

SUSPENSION OF STANDING ORDERS

At 10pm and 10.30pm Members agreed to the suspension of Standing Orders in
order that the Committee could complete its business.

Chairman
Copies of this document are available on the Council website hitp:/fiwww swale gov_ ukidsoy.
If you would like hard copies or altemative versions (i.e. large print, audio, different
language) we will do our best to accommodate your request please contact Swale Borough
Council at Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME1D 3HT or telephone the
Customer Senvice Centre 01795 417850,

All Minutes are draft until agreed at the next meeting of the Committee/Panel

- BbE -

105
Page 112

Def Item 1

APPENDIX 3



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019

NHS|

Swale Clinical Commissioning Group

Director of Transformational Change

Bramblefield Clinic
Grovehurst Road
Kemsley
Sittingboume
Kent, ME10 25T

Direct Line: 03000 424356
Fax: 03000 424965

E-mail: debbie stocki@nhs. net
21% June 2019

Dear Andrew
RE: Barton Hill Drive, Minster, Isle of Sheppey. Application 18/503135/0UT

This letter provides an update to the response submitted on 11 July 2018 regarding the
above application. This follows contact from the promoter of the above development in
relation to delivery of a medical centre on the site.

Owr previous response highlighted that the proposal will generate in excess of 1680 new
patient registrations based on an average occupancy of 2.4 people per dwelling.

Investment in new general practice premises would be generally bhe considered where
population growth would support a registered patient list of over 8000; this is however a
guide and in some cases may still not be considered a viable list size. It is therefore
important to note that the growth generated from this proposed development would not
trigger consideration of the commissioning of a new general praciice as it is not a resilient,
safe, sustainable or attractive senvice model to commission new praciices serving a small
population; this is specifically in relation to workforce as locally and nationally there are
significant pressures and challenges. This principle also applies to relocation of existing
SUNJeries.

The CCG takes a strategic approach to planning for growth to ensure plans will deliver
resilient and sustainable general practice services for the area; we are currently working with
practices in the area to review expected growth and refresh planning assumptions and
pricrities over the next few months. This will enable the CCG to strategically define a set of
premises prionties that respond to an identified need and will provide a framewaork for future
commissioning decisions.

Based on the CCG's previous assessments of growth in this area the need for a new medical
centre has not been identified. As previously stated the CCG is of the opinion that the
proposal will have a direct impact on the delivery of general practice services which will
require mitigation through the payment of an appropriate financial contribution calculated to
he £604,800 to support expansion' reconfiguration of existing facilities in the area; Minster
Medical Centre was previously identified.

106
Page 113

Def Item 1

APPENDIX 4



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 4

At this time, the CCG is unable to comment on the outcome of the strategic planning work
currently underway for this area prior to its completion. The CCG is also unable to provide
any specific commitment in relation to a specific surgery where plans have not been

considered and approved through CCG governance as responding to an identified need and
delivering value for money.

For the reasons stated above we propose the following amendment fo our previous
response:

« |n addition to the financial contribution already identified, that there is an option for
land fo be safeguarded on the development for a medical centre; this will only be
considered by the CCG where the outcome of the strategic planning assessment
identifies a specific need.

« We request that any agreement regarding a financial contribution also allows the
contribution be used towards general practice premises as identified by CCG
strategic priorties and towards professional fees associated with feasibility or
development work.

« To support the expansion of general practice capacity we would seek the trigger of
any healthcare contribution to be available prior to commencement of development.

Flease note that general practice premises plans will be kept under review and may he
subject to change as the CCG must ensure appropriate general medical service capacity s
available as part of our commissioning responsibilities. Planning for growth in general
practice is complex; physical infrastructure is one element but alongside this workforce is a
critical consideration both in terms of new workforce reguirements and retirements.

Regards

Mxﬁg\m
Debbie Stock
Director of Transformational Change

107
Page 114



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 5

jb planning associates

Our Ref: JBM456/JD/
Your Ref: 18/5031350UT

10 May 2019

Mr Andrew Byme
Swale Borough Council
Swale House

East Street
Sittinghourne

Kent

ME10 3HT

Dear Mr Byme

Cutline application for the development of up to 700 dwellings and all necessary
supporting infrastructure including land for provision of a convenience
store/community facility, internal access roads, footpaths, cycleways and parking, open
space, play areas and landscaping, drainage, utilities and service infrastructure works.
All detailed matters are reserved for subsequent approval except for access to Lower
Road and to Barton Hill Drive.

Land west of Barton Hill Drive, Minster

| write further to Planning Committee’s consideration of the above application at its Exira-
Ordinary Meeting on 28 February 2019. The determination of the application was deferred to a
future meeting of the Committee after Members voted to refuse the application contrary to
Officers’ recommendation and contrary to planning policy and guidance.

We understand that the application is now due to be considered at the 307 May 2019 Meeting,
and in advance of this meeting we have been giving consideration to further information or
clarification that can be provided to address a number of the concemns that Members raised
during the debate. The issues raised can be summarised as follows:

The delivery of the local centre.

Highways impact and the effectiveness of the Lower Road improvements.

The provision of open space to the south of Lower Road.

The loss of part of the Important Local Countryside Gap and agrcultural land as a result

of the inclusion of the Harris Trust land.

+ The viahility of the development as a result of Highways England’s requirement for a
Grampian condition to restrict the development to no more than 250 dwellings until the
M2 Junction 5 improvement works are complete.

+* The impacts on infrastructure / services.

+ The omission of the orchard from the application.

The achigvement of net gains in biodiversity.

We set out below our proposed response to these issues.

e-mal Info@jbplanning com U www Jbplanning com = 01438 312130 tax 01438 312130
JB Plarn Mg ARSOCAeE Lid, Chells Manar, Chells Lane, 3Ie-.-er.a;e, Heris, SE2 TAA

Jobn Boyd BA (Hons) MRTF  Registensd In Engiand & Waies, Mo- 4531412
Director Registerd ofce. Harty House, Norhibndge Road, Berkhamstead, Hers, HP4 1EF

108
Page 115



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019

rew Byme 2 10 May 2019

Local Centre, incorporating GP Surgery and retail/community uses

Although not specifically required by Local Plan Policy A12, the application proposes to make
provision for a local convenience store / community facility within the development. Prior to the
28 February committee, we were made aware of concems raised by Members on other
development sites where local facilities secured under a planning permission have not
emerged. To address this concem, we worked with you to develop a package that would assist
in facilitating the delivery of the local centre, which includes agreeing a marketing strategy for
the site, a contribution of £200,000 fowards the build costs, and the provision of land at nil or
nominal value. This was the first time that an applicant had agreed to such a package.

Whilst a unique offer, Members were concemed that this may still not be sufficient to secure
the delivery of local facilities.

In response, the Applicant has been investigating opportunities to provide greater certainty for
Members. Even before 289 February, the Applicant had received an approach via the Councils
Economic Development Officer from a local GP who wishes to establish a new GP surgery
(with additional GF's) on the site. Since then, discussion with the GP and with the Swale
Clinical Commissioning Group have progressed and both the GP and the Applicant are keen fo
establish a surgery together with GP training facilities (linked to Sheppey Hospital) on the
Application site.

Discussions are at an early stage and the Clinical Commissioning Group procedures are likely
to take a considerable time and so the Section 106 Agreement is being drafted to allow the
prospect of both the GP surgery and some retail / community uses on the site.

The suggestion now is that the £200,000 incentive should instead be used to help fund the GP
surgery; that the NHS Healthcare contribution to be paid by the site and currently directed
towards the Minster Medical Centre be redirected to GP provision on-site; that a househbuilder
should provide the local centre “at cost™; that flats could be provided within the local centre to
enhance viahility and that other Section 106 contributions, e.g. commuted sums towards the
future maintenance of the landscaped parts of the site and contributions to public transport
subsidy could be adjusted (say by a total of £150,000) towards provision of the GP facilities.

There are of course issues over the forward funding of these medical and retail faciliies but the
Applicant is prepared to assist through the Section 106 Agreement. Clearly the sort of medical
facilities envisaged would be of significant benefit, not only to future residents of the proposed
development but also the existing residents of Minster and the Island generally.

In addition to the GP surgery, a building with a floorspace allowance of up to 650m? is
proposed within the local centre for a flexible retail / community use. It is anticipated that the
building could be configured into 2 or 3 retail units to suit actual demand, and noting that it is
unlikely that a single retailer would require this much floorspace. Convenience stores, for
example, rely an their ability to trade in unrestricted fashion on Sundays and 5o these stores
have a maximum floorspace of 280 m? (not subject to Sunday Trading Hours Restrictions. )
Alternatively, 1 or more of the units could be used as a community centre.

Flats above the units are required to help with delivering a viable, but also active and safe local
community hub. Whilst the detail will be agreed at the reserved matiers stage, it is expected
that the building will have a residential appearance so that, in the lang term, if neither retail nor
community facilities transpire then, rather than becoming an eyesore, the building can be
converted to residential use.

109
Page 116

Def Item 1

APPENDIX 5



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 5

rew Byme 3 10 May 2019

Highway Impact and Road Improvements

As you are aware, the application proposes a range of improvements to the local highway
network, and these have been agreed with the highway authonties. During the debate at the
committee, Members gquesticned the effectiveness of the Lower Road widening scheme in
mitigating the highway impact of the development.

The existing stretch of Lower Road between the A24%9 and Barton Hill Drive is narmmow, with a
lack of verge and abutiing hedgerows creating a constrained cormidor with no facilities for
pedestrians or cyclists. This therefore offers no option for sustainable travel along this route,
forcing people to resort to use of the private car. In addition, the namow width of the road
means that larger vehicles struggle to pass each other when traveling in opposite directions,
slowing the flow of traffic and leading to the deterioration of the camageway edge.

Works to address these issues are underway and Phase 1, which involves the construction of
a new roundabout at the junction of Barton Hill Drive / Lower Road on land gifted by the
Applicant, is now substantially complete. As noted by Members during the debate at
committee, this has already improved traffic flows replacing a dangerous junction with a free
flowing, high quality roundabout.

The Phase 2 improvements are to a 1.1km section of Lower Road between the A24% and
Barton Hill Drive. The improvement scheme will include the widening of the road and the
construction of a new shared footway [ cycleway, supporting future growth and transforming
the joumney experience for all users. The scheme will help to reduce congestion, improve safety
and mitigate associated air quality concems. The benefits of the scheme set out by KCC
include:

- The provision of a full, coherent east-west cycle link betwesn Minster and
Queenbarough (containing key employment areas), removing confiict with motorised
traific;

- Increased opportunifies to use active and sustainable modes of travel and hence
reduce car dependency and its associated impacts;

- Improved guality of the road for motorised users, easing the pressure of congestion;
and

- To support economic growth in the area with improved access to key employment
areas which is required afongside the proposed housing growth.

In summary, the existing carriageway will be slightly realigned and widenad to 7.2m to comply
with the cument design standards. This will make it easier for larger vehicles to pass each
other, enabling a constant speed to be maintained which has benefits to both congestion and
air quality. By providing the shared footway [ cycleway, cyclists will no longer be on-
camriageway and therefore any delays and safety concems associated with this will be
removed. Furthermore, by providing people with the option to access local facilities and
employment opportunities on foot or by cycle, there is a reduced reliance on the private car
and therefore the scheme ulimately has the opportunity to reduce the number of vehicles
routeing along Lower Road.

Additional land has been provided by the Applicant to provide further benefit to the
improvement scheme. This additional land enables a right tum lane at the enfrance to Wall End
Farm. This will reduce any cument delays caused by vehicles waiting to tum right into the site,
particularly when the car boot sale is operating.

110
Page 117



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019

wdrew Bym

y 2 10 May 2019
o

LREET S

g m
(=1

o @
m

[ =

W

More significantly, additional land has been provided close to the Cowstead Comer
roundahout. This will enable the length of carriageway where two lanes are provided in each
direction to be extended to approximately 110m, providing additional capacity at the
roundabout. In its current form the roundabout would operate beyond its theoretical capacity by
2031 when background growth and committed development traffic are considered. Queues on
the Lower Road north am could reach 42 vehicles in the moming peak hour with an average
delay of 79 seconds. The improvements to the roundabout through the provision of land by the
Applicant would reduce this impact, with a maximum queue of five vehicles and a maximum
delay of ten seconds anticipated. This therefore outlines the significant benefits that the
provision of this additional land would bring. KCC support this further improvement as do
Highways England.

The application is facilitating the delivery of the full improvement scheme by providing land and
a contribution of £1.223 million. Members were made aware at the last committee that a
Mational Productivity Investment Funding (NPIF) of £3.2 million had also been secured towards
the improvements, although this grant is time limited and must be spent by 2020. Had planning
permission heen granted at the February 2019 committee, the Phase 2 works were expected
to commence in April 2019 and both the road widening and the footpath/cycleway construction
would have been completed at the same time.

As a result of the defemral of the application and to avoid the risk of losing this contribution,
K.CC has developed a staged construction programme which would see the construction of the
footpath/cycleway completed first (using the NPIF funding), and the widening completed as a
separate phase should the £1.223 million be secured in the future. However, KCC has advised
that this phased approach results in the overall costs of the improvements increasing by
£500,000 and additional sources of funding will be required to meet this cost. However, should
planning permission be granted at the 30 May 2019 meeting, then KCC will revert to the
original and cheaper delivery programme, although they will require all of the £1_.223 million
contribution upfront.

Beyond the Lower Road improvements, a number of significant improvements to the local
highway network will come forward alongside the proposals. These include:
« A puffin crossing on Barton Hill Drive, which the Applicant is now prepared to deliver on
occupation of the 251 unit (previousty 75 dwellings).
« A E£20 000 contribution to KCC to provide cycle links between Cowstead Comer and the
Meats Court retail park.
+ A new footpath and cycle link from the site to the Oasis Academy via Parsonage Chase
and a separate link to Lovell Road.
+ An incentive of up to £350 per household towards busicyclel rail travel to encourage the
use of sustainable modes of transport.
«  AE20,000 contribution to KCC fo provide improvements to the Halfway signal junction.

It is also worth noting with respect to the [ast point that as a result of the improvements to
Lower Road vehicles are likely to route away from local roads including the Halfway junction,
therehy enhancing local capacity.

Open Space Provision

Policy DM1T of the adopted Local Plan requires that open space is provided across a range of

typologies, and in total a development of 700 homes would be required to deliver 12.08ha of
open space.

111
Page 118

Def Item 1

APPENDIX 5



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019

v Bym 3 10 May 2019

: ¥
o

o @
o m

m =
(=1

[ =

wa 1 Counc

Concern was raised by Members over the accessibility of the open space proposed o the
south of Lower Road, and they guestioned whether this area, of approximately 2 62ha, was
required in order to meet the open space provision for the development.

In response, we have reviewed the quantum of open space provision across the site, and
enclosed Drawing 145629, which demonstrates that the proposals deliver in total 14.83ha of
open space, which significantly exceeds the Policy requirement of 12.08ha. Should the land to
the south of Lower Road be excluded, then 12_21ha of open space would still be delivered,
which again exceeds the Policy requirement.

The enclosed drawing also identifies that the area to the south of Lower Road is intended as
natural and semi-natural greenspace and whilst the public accessihility of such a space should
not necessarily be seen as a pre-requisite, the Applicant is prepared to provide a circular
footpath around the SUDs basin.

Tuming to provision for children and young people, since the 28 February 2019 committes the
propasals for the large central area of open space have been refined through discussions with
the Council's Greenspace Manager. In addition to the Neighbourhood BEquipped Area of Play
{(NEAP), a Multi-Use Games Area (MUGA) meeting the specification identified in the Fields in
Trust Guidance will be delivered and a commitment made through the 5106 Agreement.

Important Local Countryside Gap and Agricultural Land Quality

The application area includes a parcel of land identified for housing (referred to as the Harris
Trust land) which falls outside of the site allocation boundary and beyond the adopied
seftlement boundary of Minster. The Harris Trust land parcel is a small recessed area of land
on the western boundary, and is included within the application in order to secure a key strip of
land required to deliver the road improvements.

Members concem with including this land in the application area was that it is in a designated
‘Important Local Countryside Gap® (ILCG) and its development would be harmful in closing the
gap to Queenborough. They were also concemed that it may result in the loss of best and most
versatile (BMV) agricultural land.

With respect fo the landscape concermn, Members were advised in your update note that a
revised Landscape and Visual Appraisal had been submitted to the Council in response to
comments made by Huskisson Brown Associates (on behalf of the Council). Your note
identifies that HBA's were in the process of reviewing this and would provide detailed
feedback, athough their initial advice was that the inclusion of land beyond the allocation
boundary would have no greater than a *minorfmoderate adverse™ effect on the ILCG and the
wider countryside.

Members were keen to have the detailed feedback, and we note that this has now been
received. It confirms that HBA are of the view that the effects of including the additional land
are probably insufficient to alter the overall range of landscape and visual effects such as to
make the proposed development significantly more harmiul that a Paolicy A12 compliant
scheme.

We trust this assists in demonsirating to Members that the application is acceptable in
landscape terms. All applications must be considered on their individual merits and in
assessing the impact on the ILCG's, much depends on the actual or perceived coalescence;
whether the land is a critical part of the Gap; whether there would be pressure for more
development or whether the remaining Gap would be so small as o fail to function as a Gap.

112
Page 119

Def Item 1

APPENDIX 5



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019

rew Bym 6 10 May 2019

In this case, the land in question is small (2.1 ha); it is bounded on three sides by the allocation
and its inclusion within the development will square-off the boundary on its west side and
development will not project further west than does the Local Plan allocation. Consequently,
there will be no actual or perceived coalescence as a result of its inclusion. The land in
question is not a critical part of the Gap; of itself its development would not lead to pressure for
more development and the remaining Gap (between Minster and Queenborough) would still be
substantial and would continue to function as an ILCG.

In response to the concemn raised over the agricultural land quality of the Harris Trust land, we
note that your committes report identified to Members that the land is limited in size and
Matural England / Defra maps indicate that it has a lower likelihood of containing BMY land.
This reflects work undertaken in the past on the soil charactenstics of the land between Barton
Hill Drive and Cowstead Comer, which identifies issues associatad with the high clay content
and poor pemeakbility.

This work is broad in coverage and therefore, to assist you in addressing the quality of the
Harris Trust land, an independent assessment has been commissioned and a technical report
will follow early next week.

Impact of Highways England’s Grampian Condition

As you are aware, Highways England has not raised an ohjection to the application in terms of
its effect on the Strategic Road Metwork, but do require that a Grampian condition is imposed
on any permission restricting the number of dwelling occupations to no more than 250
dwellings until the M2 Junction 5 road improvements are completad.

Whilst this condition has heen accepted by the Applicant, Members were concemed that,
should the J5 improvements be significantly delayed or not materialise, then the restriction of
250 dwellings would jeopardise the delivery of the full development and its ahility to make
contributions. It was suggested that it was premature to consider the application in advance of
completion of the J5 improvements.

The latest information published by Highways England on the improvement scheme confirms
that a preferred route has been identified and a planning application is to be submitted to the
Planning Inspectorate in late Spring 2019. Moving forward, HE's programme is for the works to
commence in March 2020 and the improved junction open to the public in later Autumn/Earty
Winter 2021. We are aware from recent discussions with HE that they are commitied to the
scheme, and remain on track to meet the project programme.

Should outling planning permission be granted for land west of Barton Hill Drive, then reserve
matters applications will need to be prepared and determined before any dwellings are
delivered on site. Assuming the first reserve matters consents are obtained in 2020, then
delivery of the first units would be expected in 2021, and based on recent delivery rates on the
Isle of Sheppey, the 250 dwelling limit is unlikely to be reached before 2025/26. There is
therefore scope for significant slippage in HE's programme, should this occur, without
impacting upon the viahility'deliverability of the development.

We therefore are firmby of the view that the required Grampian condition will not affect the
viahility of the proposed development.

113
Page 120

Def Item 1

APPENDIX 5



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019

drew Bym 7 10 May 2019

LREET S

oM

m
(=1

Ly
G

[ =

W

Impacts on Infrastructure ! Services

A significant package of contributions has been discussed and agreed with Officers to address
the additional demand on infrastructure generated by the proposed development. In particular
Members highlighted issues with primary school places, and questionad the deliverability of the
new primary school at Rushenden. It was also suggested that the NHS was stretched on the
Island and should be given the full contribution right away as revenue.

In response we wish to highlight that a substantial contribution of over £3 million will be made
towards the construction of the new 2 FE primary school at Rushenden, and we understand
that this will make a valuable contribution to meeting the shorifall requirad to guarantes is
delivery.

With respect to the health contribution, we note the advice provided to Members at the last
meeting by the Head of Planning that the contribution can only be spent by the NHS when
required for a specific capital project. We trust that the abovementioned proposals to identify a
resenve site for a GP surgery and the active discussions with an end user are helpful in
demaonstrating to Members the Applicant's commitment to facilitate the delivery of a new GP
surgery and see the contribution used as early as possible. In this respect it should also be
noted that the Applicant has amended the boundary of the first phase of the development so o
include the proposed local centre.

Exclusion of the Orchard

The application excludes two parcels of land that form part of the site allocation under Policy
A12. The land parcel to the north {0.8ha) contains an overgrown orchard, and the policy
requirement is for this land to be retained as an orchard and positively managed.

Members were advisad in the committee repaort that the land falls outside of the Applicant's
control, and as such it cannot be positively managed. The report did, however, note that the
existing function of the land, as at least a green setting to the development would be beneficial.
It adds that whilst there is potential that an application will be made for the future development
of the orchard, this would need to be considered against the Policy A12 criteria that the orchard
should be retained.

Members expressed concem over the future of the orchard, and the Applicant has therefore
sought to reopen negofiations with the owners of the orchard with a view to including it within
the application proposals and secure its positive management. The owners have however,
declined to participate being unwilling to share in the 510 costs.

Met gains in Biodiversity

At the meeting on 287 February, Members suggested that the proposals lacked an emphasis
on net gains in biodiversity.

With many intemal hedgerows removed, the application site has been the subject of intensive
arable use for many years. There are now limited remnant hedgerows and the ecological
sunveys submitted with the application demonsirate that, apart from Great Crested Newt
habitat on adjacent land to the north, the site itself is of low ecological value and has no
relationship with the Swale SSSI/SPA.

114
Page 121

Def Item 1

APPENDIX 5



Extra-Ordinary Planning Committee Report — 23 July 2019 Def Item 1

APPENDIX 5

wdrew Bym 8 10 May 2019
rc C

LREET S

g m
(=1

o @
m

[ =

W

That so, the proposals put substantial weight on achieving net gains in biodiversity. The
extended orchard would seek to recreate traditional orchard habitat, with 3 mosaic of scrub and
species rich grassland that provides suitable habitat for both reptiles and Great Crested Newts
during their terresirial phase. It would also contain features such as log piles and hibermnacula
and would be managed passively and on a rotational basis to create structural diversity of
benefit to a variety of species, such as invertebrates, hedgehogs and birds.

The two surface water attznuation hasins have been designed to maximise value for wildlife
and biodiversity by creating a series of shallow terraces to harbour vanous water depths and
seasonally wet areas for wetland grass and wildflora and native species aguatic / marginal
planting.

Wildlife hahitat links are also proposed as integral features o the green routes and semi-
natural green spaces presented in the landscape strategy drawings submitted with the
application.

Calculations undertaken by The Ecology Partnership using the Environment Bank's
Biodiversity Impact Calculator are provided in Appendix 2 of the Supporting Planning
Statement. These demonstrate that the outline proposals for habitat enhancements would
achieve a net gain in biodiversity and a net increase in the diversity of habitats present.

Furthermore, in the S106 Agreement, the detailed landscaping schemes to be submitted for
each phase are charged with delivering biodiversity and the Management Plan prescriptions for
all Maintainable Landscaped Areas are similarly charged with biodiversity objectives. In
addition, many of the conditions proposed seek measures to encourage wildlife and
biodiversity. It is therefore expected that the net gains in biodiversity will be even greater than
those identified in the Supporiing Planning Statement.

Application Drawings

Whilst not an issue ansing from the 28 February 2019 committee meeting, we note your email
of 11 April 2019 which identifies the need to amend the application red line boundary to
exclude a slither of land that falls in separate ownership towards the western boundary of the
site. Accordingly, we enclose amended drawings which address this matter. The site phasing
plan has also been amended o include the local centre within the first phase, as discussed
above.

We trust that you find this letter helpful in completing your report for 300 May 2019 Planning
Committee. Should you reguire any further information or clarification, please let me know.

Yours sincerely

C IRy

John Boyd

Managing Director
john_boyd@jbplanning.com
Encs

115
Page 122



	Agenda
	4 Deferred Item
	Def Item 1 Barton Hill Drive
	Def Item 1 APPENDIX 1
	Def Item 1 Appendix 2  Tabled update
	Def Item 1 Appendix 3
	Def Item 1 Appendix 4
	Def Item 1 Appendix 5


